

Department of Dermatology University of Helsinki Finland

Matrix metalloproteinases in human wounds and epithelial cancer in the skin and oral mucosa

ULLA IMPOLA

Academic dissertation

To be publicly discussed with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Helsinki, in the Auditorium XIV, on April 16th 2004 at 12 noon

Supervised by:

Professor Ulpu Saarialho-Kere, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Dermatology Helsinki University Central Hospital Helsinki, Finland and Department of Dermatology, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm Söder Hospital Stockholm, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Docent Klaus Elenius, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Medical Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of Turku Turku, Finland and Professor Ilkka Harvima M.D., Ph.D. Department of Dermatology University of Kuopio, Kuopio University Hospital Kuopio, Finland

Opponent:

Professor Tuula Salo DDS, PhD Institute of Dentistry, Faculty of Medicine University of Oulu Oulu, Finland

ISBN 952-91-7086-6 ISBN 952-10-1799-6 (PDF)

Yliopistopaino Helsinki 2004

To my family

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS					
ABBREVIATIONS					
ABSTRACT					
1. INTRODUCTION	10				
2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE 1					
2.1. STRUCTURE OF THE SKIN AND ORAL MUCOSA	11				
2.1.1. Extracellular matrix of connective tissue in skin and oral mucosa	12				
2.1.2. Basement membrane	13				
2.1.3. Cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions and principles of cell migration	15				
2.2.PROTEOLYTIC REMODELLING OF THE EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX					
2.2.1. Matrix Metalloproteinases	17				
2.2.1.1. Collagenases	18				
2.2.1.2. Stromelysins and stromelysin-like MMPs	20				
2.2.1.3. Matrilysins	21				
2.2.1.4. Type IV collagenases	21				
2.2.1.5. Membrane-type MMPs	22				
2.2.1.6. Other MMPs	22				
2.2.2. Regulation of MMPs	25				
2.2.2.1. Transcriptional regulation	25				
2 2 2 2 Activation of pro-MMPs	26				
2 2 2 3 Inhibition of MMPs	27				
2 3 CUTANEOUS WOUND HEALING	29				
2 3 1 General	29				
2 3 2 Wound healing in oral mucosa	30				
2 3 3 Chronic ulcers	31				
2 3 4 Role of proteinases in epithelial wound repair	32				
2.3.5 MMP inhibition in wound healing	34				
2.3.6 Growth factors and cytokines in wound healing	34				
2.4 CANCER	36				
2.1. Office 1 (Office 1)	36				
2.4.2 Pre-malignant and malignant lesions of the skin and oral mucosa	37				
2.4.3 Malignant transformation of chronic wounds	39				
2.4.9 MMPs in tumors	39				
2.4.5 MMP gene manipulated mice showing effects on wound healing and skin cancer	41				
3 AIMS OF THE STUDY	43				
4 MATERIALS AND METHODS	<u></u>				
4.1 Tissue samples					
4.1. Insue samples	46				
4.2. minutionistoenemistry	<u></u> 40 47				
4.4 In situ hybridisation	<u> </u>				
4.5. Cell cultures	/				
4.6. Cytokines and growth factors					
4.0. Cytokines and growth factors	0				
4.7. Quantitative Reverse transcription (RT)-rotymerase chain Reaction (TCR)	<u></u> 49 50				
4.9 Western analysis					
4.10 Samples of wound fluids	50 51				
4 11 Extraction of MMPs	51 51				
4.12 MMD activity analyses					
7.12. WINT activity analyses					

	4.13. Zymographic analyses of wound fluids, conditioned media and tissue extracts	52
	4.14. Cytokine and growth factor analyses of conditioned media	52
5.	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	54
	5.1. MMP-9 is differentially expressed in human acute and chronic wounds in vivo	54
	5.2. MMP-2 and MMP-14 are expressed by stromal cells in acute and chronic wounds	56
	5.3. Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor BB-3103 blocks epidermal healing of human skin	
	ex vivo wound model indicating the need for MMP activity in wound healing	57
	5.4. MMP-19 is expressed by hyperproliferating epithelium but disappears with neoplastic	;
	dedifferentiation	59
	5.5. Expression profile of MMPs associates with malignant transformation of chronic	
	wounds and keratoacanthomas as well as invasiveness of oral cancers	62
	5.6. Loss of p16 from keratoacanthomas or chronic wounds could be a marker for	
	carcinogenesis	66
	5.7. Laminin-5 is expressed by migrating keratinocytes both in wounds and cancer but can	i
	not be considered as a good marker for invasiveness	_67
	5.8. αvβ6 integrin is present in vertucous hyperplasia and in SCC	68
6.	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	69
7.	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	72
8.	REFERENCES	74
0	RIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals (I-V). Some unpublished data is also included.

I Mirastschijski U, Impola U, Jahkola T, Karlsmark T, Ågren MS, Saarialho-Kere U. Ectopic localization of matrix metalloproteinase-9 in chronic cutaneous wounds. Human Pathology 2002; 33:355-64.

II Mirastschijski U, Impola U, Karsdal MA, Saarialho-Kere U, Ågren M. Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor BB-3103 unlike the serine proteinase inhibitor aprotinin abrogates epidermal healing of human skin wounds ex vivo. Journal of Investigative Dermatology 2002; 118:55-64.

III Impola U, Jeskanen L, Ravanti L, Syrjänen S, Baldursson B, Kähäri VM, Saarialho-Kere U. Expression of MMP-7 and MMP–13 and loss of MMP-19 and p16 are associated with malignant progression in chronic wounds. Submitted

IV Impola U, Toriseva M, Suomela S, Jeskanen L, Hieta N, Jahkola T, Grenman R, Kähäri VM, Saarialho-Kere U. Matrix metalloproteinase-19 is expressed by proliferating epithelium but dissappears with neoplastic dedifferentiation. International Journal of Cancer 2003; 103:709-16.

V Impola U, Uitto VJ, Hietanen J, Häkkinen L, Zhang L, Larjava H, Isaka K, Saarialho-Kere U. Differential expression of matrilysin-1 (MMP-7), 92 kDa gelatinase (MMP-9) and metalloelastase (MMP-12) in oral vertucous and squamous cell cancer. Journal of Pathology 2004; 202: 14-22.

ABBREVIATIONS

BCC	basal cell carcinoma	
BM	basement membrane	
bFGF	basic fibroblast growth factor	
cDNA	complementary DNA	
COMP	cartilage oligomeric matrix protein	
ECM	extracellular matrix	
EGF	epidermal growth factor	
GAPDH	glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase	
GM-CSF	granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor	
HNSCC	head and neck squamous cell carcinoma	
HA	hyaluronic acid (hyaluronan)	
HD	hemidesmosome	
HGF	hepatocyte growth factor	
HME	human macrophage metalloelastase	
IGF	insulin-like growth factor	
IL-1β	interleukin-1β	
KA	keratoacanthoma	
KGF	keratinocyte growth factor	
Ln-5	laminin-5	
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase	
NF	neutrophil, (polymorphonuclear cell)	
RT-PCR	reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction	
PMN	polymorphonuclear cell	
TIMP	tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases	
TGF-α	transforming growth factor $-\alpha$	
TGF - β	transforming growth factor -β	
PMA	phorbol myristate acetate	
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor -α	
SCC	squamous cell carcinoma	
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecylsulfate-polyacrylamide gel	
VC	verrucous carcinoma	
VH	verrucous hyperplasia	

Ulla Impola, Matrix metalloproteinases in human wounds and cancer in the skin and oral mucosa. Department of Dermatology, Helsinki University Hospital and University of Helsinki

ABSTRACT

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are a family of zinc-dependent proteolytic enzymes that are collectively able to degrade all components of the extracellular matrix (ECM). MMPs influence cell dissociation, death and division, angiogenesis, and the bioavailability of growth factors and cytokines, events needed in wound healing and tumor invasion. Normal cutaneous re-epithelialization involves many MMPs, including MMP-1, -9, and -10 in migratory keratinocytes and MMP-3, -19 and -28 in the proliferating zone. However, many of these same MMPs as well as various others, such as MMPs-1, -2, -7, -9, -13, -14 and -26, have been implicated for various cancers.

I investigated the role of MMPs, especially MMP-9 and MMP-19, in wound healing and in epithelial cancers. I studied the possible mechanisms for delayed epithelialization as well as malignant transformation in chronic wounds. I investigated the expression profile of MMPs in the biology and tumorigenesis of pre-malignant lesions in the skin and oral mucosa, and whether the expression patterns of certain MMPs could serve as molecular markers to predict carcinogenesis. Principal methods used were in situ hybridisation, immunohistochemistry, Taqman RT-PCR, Northern, Western and enzyme activity analysis and zymography.

My results show that in acute wounds epithelial cells expressed MMP-9, whereas in chronic wounds, it is expressed by inflammatory stromal cells. The absence of intact ECM molecules due to degradation by inflammatory cell-derived MMP-9 in chronic non-healing wounds may deprive wound edge keratinocytes of proper cell-matrix interactions needed for induction of migration. MMP-2 and MMP-14 are expressed only by stromal cells in all wound types in vivo. Inhibition of MMPs with BB-3103 blocked epithelialization completely in an ex vivo model, whereas aprotinin did not affect it significantly, indicating the requirement for one or more MMPs in epidermal wound healing. This is the first study to show keratinocyte expression of MMP-19. In wounds it is expressed by non-migrating keratinocytes at the hyperproliferating areas but the expression totally dissappeared with malignant transformation. MMP-19 mRNA expression was induced by TNF- α and phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) in primary keratinocytes. MMP-7 is expressed by malignantly transformed epithelium of the skin while it is absent from chronic wounds and keratoacanthomas (KA). Epithelial MMP-13 expression is strong in squamous cell carcinoma (SCC), absent in chronic wounds, but present in KAs. Oral verrucous carcinomas (VC) were devoid of epithelial MMP-3, -7, -9, -12 and -13 expression compared to oral SCCs.

Based on my results I suggest that the epithelial expression of MMPs-7, -12, and -13 and the loss of MMP-19 could aid in making the differential diagnosis between well-differentiated SCC and non-malignant chronic wound or KAs. The invasiveness of oral cancers may be dependent on their MMP expression profile. This phenomenon may thus serve as a prognostic marker in oral SCC. MMP-7, -9, -12, and -13 may be good targets for intervention therapy at the early stages of oral cancer.

I conclude, that several MMPs are needed in wound re-epithelialization, and their expression pattern may promote chronic phenotype as well as malignant transformation. In skin and oral cancers, MMPs might be used as prognostic markers in diagnosing pre-malignant changes from aggressive tumors.

1. INTRODUCTION

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) constitute a family of 23 human zinc-dependent proteolytic enzymes. They take part in the degradation of extracellular matrix (ECM) and basement membranes (BM) during cell migration, angiogenesis and proteolytic activation of growth factors. All these events are needed in fetal development and in normal tissue remodelling as well as in epidermal wound healing, inflammation and tumor invasion. According to their substrate specifity and structure, MMPs can be divided into six subgroups: interstitial collagenases, stromelysins, matrilysins, type IV collagenases, membrane-type MMPs and other MMPs. In normal cell environment, specific tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases, TIMPs, strictly regulate MMP activity. Under some circumstances MMP activation is also regulated by integrins, cell adhesion receptors mediating migration and invasion.

In human skin, MMPs are mainly produced by keratinocytes, fibroblasts, macrophages and endothelial cells. Normal cutaneous re-epithelialization involves many MMPs, including MMP-1, -9, and -10 in migratory keratinocytes and MMP-3, -19 and -28 in the proliferating zone of the wound area. In chronic wounds, the MMP expression pattern deviates from acute wound repair. How exactly the MMP expression profile changes during tumorigenesis of chronic wounds is poorly understood.

Tumor growth depends critically on the ability of the tumor cells and the surrounding stromal cells to produce these same proteolytic enzymes, receptors mediating cell adhesion, cytokines and certain ECM proteins. Many MMPs such as MMP-1, -2, -7, -9, -13, and -14 have been implicated in cancer invasion. The role of the novel MMPs (from –19 upwards) in skin biology has not been well elucidated.

The aim of the present work was to examine the role of matrix metalloproteinases, especially MMP-9 and MMP-19, in wound healing and in epithelial cancers. We wanted to study the mechanisms associated with delayed epithelialization as well as the malignant transformation of chronic wounds. We also wanted to investigate the possible role of MMPs in the biology and tumorigenesis of pre-malignant lesions, and if the expression patterns of certain MMPs could serve as molecular markers to predict carcinogenesis.

2.REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1. Structure of the skin and oral mucosa

Skin is the largest human organ. Its primary function is to produce a semi-permeable outer layer of the body that protects from microbes, dehydration, and radiation and also from mechanical, chemical and thermal forces. Skin can be divided into the upper epithelial layer, *epidermis*, the underlying connective tissue, *dermis*, and a subcutaneous layer (see Alberts, 1994). Like skin, the oral mucosa acts as an important mechanical barrier that prevents local or systemic invasion by microorganisms.

Epidermis and dermis

The upper layer of the skin, the epidermis, consists of *stratified squamous epithelium*. In addition to keratinocyte layers, the epidermis contains pigment-producing melanocytes, antigen producing Langerhans cells and Merkel cells which function as mechanoreceptors. During normal epidermal differentiation, four different types of keratinocytes can be distinguished in the epithelium: the basal, squamous, granular, and cornified (see Tomic-Canic, 1998). Basal cells are characterized by their contact with the intact basement membrane, mitotic activity and their undifferentiated phenotype. Basal cells are responsible for epidermal regeneration. During differentiation basal cells move from the basal zone upwards through the spinous and granular layers to the cornified layer of the skin. During their differentiation, keratinocytes change their shape, loose their nuclei, and get filled with keratin filaments and keratohyalin. Terminally differentiated keratinocytes, corneocytes, contain mostly keratin, but remnants of organelles, melanin and membrane profiles are found (Eckert et al., 1989). Keratin proteins comprise the predominant cytoskeletal component of the epidermis. If the cells of stratum corneum contain remnants of nuclei, the epithelium is said to be parakeratinized.

The *dermis* is the connective tissue of the skin and protects the body from mechanical injury. The dermis is divided into subepithelial papillary dermis of loose connective tissue and reticular layer, which lie on an adipose tissue. In the dermis, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, macrophages and mast cells are all embedded in the ECM. Also cells derived from blood vessels: neutrophils, eosinophils, monocytes and lymphocytes are present as well as in other types of ECM (see Alberts et al., 1994). In the skin the dermis also contains hair follicles, sebaceous and sweat glands as well as sensory nerves and blood vessels. The dermis consists

mostly of collagens type I and III, but also thin elastic fibers are found throughout the dermis between collagen bundles.

Oral mucosa

The morphology of oral mucosa is not appreciably different from that of skin. Oral mucosa differs from skin in that it has superficial mucus, which acts as a lubricant as well as a protective coating. Oral mucosa is mostly composed of stratified squamous epithelium. Keratinized epithelium is found in the hard palate, dorsum of the tongue, and gingiva. Non-keratinized epithelium is found on the lining mucosa (floor of the mouth, ventrolateral surface of the tongue, soft palate complex, labial vestibule, and buccal mucosa). In oral mucosa, the surface layer is keratinized *stratum corneum* with no remnants of the nuclei (orthokeratinization). If the cells in this surface layer contain remnants of nuclei, the epithelium is called parakeratinized.

2.1.1. Extracellular matrix of the connective tissue

Extracellular matrix determines the tissue's physical properties and has an essential role in cellular communication. ECM provides support for the surrounding cells but it also has a role in regulating cell shape, proliferation, adhesion, migration and differentiation (Engvall 1995, Timpl, 1996). ECM of the dermal connective tissue is composed of fibrous proteins, embedded in a gel-like matrix composed of glycosaminoglycans (hyaluronan, chondroitin and dermatan sulfate, heparan sulfate, and keratan sulfate) and of two types of fibrous proteins: structural (collagens and elastin) and adhesive (laminins, fibronectin, nidogens etc.). Proteoglycans (syndecan, versican, aggrecan, decorin) and glycosaminoglycans, which are secreted locally mainly by fibroblasts, form a well-designed protein network and a hydrated environment where rapid diffusion of nutrients, metabolites and hormones is possible. Connective tissue component of oral mucosa consists of two layers: papillary layer and dense fibrous layer. Between the oral mucosa and the underlying tissues there may be an intermediate layer of connective tissue, a so-called submucosa (Moss-Sajentijn and Klyvert, 1980). In the connective tissue of oral mucosa fibroblasts provide the collagen network for lamina propria and submucosa. ECM of oral mucosa is composed of same proteins as that of dermal connective tissue.

Fibronectin

Fibronectin, which is one of the ECM glycoproteins synthesized by many types of cells, like keratinocytes, fibroblasts and macrophages, participates in cell-matrix adhesion by its affinity to collagens and glycosaminoglycans. It also interacts with cell surface integrins. The attachment of cells to fibronectin plays an important role during developmental processes as embryonic cells migrate on or through this protein. During wound healing keratinocytes use the same kind of migration pattern for re-epithelialization. Migrating keratinocytes in human wounds express two major receptors that are able to bind fibronectin, namely α 5 β 1 and $\alpha\nu\beta$ 6. Wounding induces expression of these receptors. Malignantly transformed cells tend to lack fibronectin production (Yamada, 1991; Ruoslahti, 1999; Amstrong et al., 2000).

Collagens

Collagens are the main ECM components and also the most abundant proteins in the human body. Collagens are synthesized and secreted as procollagens, with large N- and C-terminal propeptides, which are later proteolytically processed to their mature forms. Collagens are triple-helical molecules composed of three α -chains with series of Gly-X-Y triplet sequences. The family of collagens is divided into subclasses on the basis of their structure. The main collagens found in connective tissue are fibrillar collagens (types I, II, III, V and XI), of which the types I and III are the main collagens in skin. Type I collagen gives strength and type III flexibility to the tissues (Mauch and Krieg, 1993). Non-fibrillar collagens form sheet-like structures and connect ECM components to collagen fibrils (Prockop and Kivirikko, 1995; Aumailley and Gayraud, 1998). These non-fibrillar collagens include groups of *networkforming collagens* (type IV, VIII and X), *fibril associated collagens* (types IX, XII, XIV, XVI and XIX), collagens that have a transmembrane domain (types XIII and XVII), *multiplexins* (types XV and XVIII), which have multiple triple- helical domains and interruptions and orphans (types VI and VII), (Prockop and Kivirikko, 1995; Pihlajaniemi and Rehn, 1995).

2.1.2. Basement membrane

Epidermis, as well as all other epithelial sheets and tubes, is separated from the underlying or surrounding tissue by a basal lamina, which is composed of three different layers: *lamina lucida, lamina densa* and *lamina fibroreticularis* (Yurchenco and Schittny, 1990). This composition of three layers, also called basement membrane (BM), is a special structure of ECM. BM provides tissue compartmentalization by acting as a barrier to cell penetration and filtration (Timpl, 1996). BM supports the epidermis and by its ligands, it interacts with cellular

receptors and modulates cell shape, gene expression, cell migration and proliferation as well as the programmed cell death, apoptosis. Typical constituents of BM are highly cross-linked type IV collagen and laminins, perlecan, entactin, calcium-binding and adhesive proteins (fibulins, agrin, cadherins, etc.). Type IV collagen and laminin-1 form a network connected by nidogen (Dziadek et al., 1995), which also binds several other components, like proteoglycans and glycoproteins (see Figure 1.).

Epithelial cells in stratified epithelia attach to the BM via hemidesmosomes, which are a multiprotein junctional complexes in the BM. Hemidesmosomes consist of three classes of proteins: cytoplasmic plaque proteins, transmembrane proteins and BM associated proteins. Plaque proteins, *plectin* (McLean et al., 1996), *bullous pemphigoid antigen 1* (BPAG) (Stanley et al., 1988) and *intermediate filament associated protein* act as linkers of the cytoskeleton. The transmembrane proteins, $\alpha \delta \beta 4$ *integrin* and *type XVII collagen* (BPAG 2) (Stepp et al., 1990; Sonnenberg et al., 1991; Giudice et al., 1992) connect the cell interior to the ECM. Finally, BM associated protein laminin-5 is linked to the type VII collagen (Rousselle et al., 1991 and 1997) as well as to the $\alpha \delta \beta 4$ integrin forming the HD and maintaining the stable adhesion (Borradori and Sonnenberg 1999).



Figure 1. Some of the BM network proteins and the structure of hemidesmosome (modified from Burgeson and Christiano, 1997).

Laminins

Laminins *(Ln)* are cross- or T-shaped heterotrimeric proteins consisting of α , β and γ chains. Laminin-5 (also called kalinin, epiligrin and nicein), a member of this family, is composed of genetically distinct polypeptides, the α 3, β 3 and γ 2 chains, which are assembled in a coiled coil structure. Ln-5 is mainly deposited in BM promoting static adhesion and hemidesmosome formation in the BM structure (Giannelli and Antonaci, 2001). It mediates cell proliferation, wound healing and homeostasis of skin. It also stimulates cell migration and invasion after having been specifically cleaved by MMPs such as MMP-2 or MT1-MMP (Koshikawa et al., 2000; Giannelli et al., 1997). The γ 2 chain of laminin-5 is expressed in the cytoplasm of epithelial human cancer cells at the advancing edge of tumors (Giannelli and Antonaci, 2001) and has been shown to be a good marker for cancer invasion in various tumor types (Lohi, 2001). Laminin-5 binds to integrins α 6 β 4, α 3 β 1 and α 6 β 1 (Carter et al., 1991). Together with α 6 β 4, Ln-5 interacts with intermediate filaments and forms a hemidesmosome adhesion complex, which plays a crucial role in the keratinocyte-BM structure.

2.1.3. Cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions and principles of cell migration

The cell, as a living organism, needs signals from the environment as well as attachment to a certain matrix to survive. Cell adhesion molecules glue cells together forming multicellular organisms and tissues and giving cell the ability to communicate with the surroundings. Cell adhesion molecules are situated on the surfaces of cells and bind to ECM molecules, receptors or on to the other cells. Integrins and E-cadherin are the most important cell adhesion molecules expressed by stratified squamous epithelium. Altered expression of these molecules is characteristic for tumor cells as has been found in skin and oral carcinomas (Thomas and Speight, 2001a).

Cadherins

Cell-cell contacts are made with specific adherens junctions and desmosomes, mediated by transmembrane glycoproteins, cadherins. These are a large family of calcium-dependent, "cell adhesion molecules". In addition to their structural role, cadherins have a number of important functions in the control of cell growth and differentiation. Desmosomes are composed of two types of cadherins, desmocollins and desmogleins (Huber, 2003), whereas epithelial adherens junctions contain usually only E-cadherin, which is linked to actin filaments by catenins. The

desmosomal cadherins are linked to the keratin cytoskeleton via several cytoplasmic plaque proteins, including desmoplakin and plakoglobin (gamma-catenin).

Integrins

Integrins form a large family of heterodimeric cell surface receptors involved in cell-cell and cell-matrix adhesion and communication. Their participation in normal tissue remodelling, development, immune response and maintenance of tissue integrity, is well elucidated. They also play a significant role in pathological conditions, especially in chronic inflammation, cancer invasion and metastasis (see Ivaska and Heino, 2000). Integrins are known to have a essential role in cell migration, during wound healing and cancer invasion (Heino, 1996), not only by mediating the cell movement but also by regulating the expression of MMPs (see Ivaska and Heino, 2000). It has been shown that α 1 integrin knock out mice have defects in collagen synthesis as well as in matrix metalloproteinase expression. α 1 β 1 and α 2 β 1 are the most important collagen receptors. α 2 β 1 is an important collagen receptor of platelets and epithelial cells (Zutter and Santoro, 1990). Keratinocyte migration requires α 2 β 1 integrinmediated interaction with Ln-5 chain (Decline and Rousselle, 2001). Up-regulation of another epithelial integrin, α v β 6, which binds fibronectin and tenascin (Sheppard et al., 1990), has been found in oral cancer, suggesting that it may play an active role in disease progression (Thomas and Speight, 2001b and 2002).

Cell migration

Cell migration is an essential phenomenon during embryonic development (Zagris, 2001). The capacity of cell movement may be activated by wounding, inflammation or by malignant transformation. Cell migration requires cell adhesion and rearrangement of the adhesion molecule complexes. When a cell starts to migrate, it forms a filopod/ lamellipod like structure at the leading edge of the cell and uses these spikes to attach to the underlying substrate. At the same time, integrins cluster to the cell membrane at the ligand binding sites inducing intracellular cell signalling and assembly of focal adhesion complexes (Friedl and Brocker, 2000). Cell movement results from the adhesive traction by focal contacts and actin filament contraction. The direction of cell migration may be affected by chemo (soluble) or hapto (solid) attractants, like cytokines and growth factors, matrix fragments or cryptic sites. Proteolytic enzymes and their inhibitors modulate cell migration by degrading the restricting ECM and thus clearing the way for cell movement. They also remodel ECM components better suitable for

migration. MMPs regulate the bioavailability of growth factors, cytokines and chemokines that participate in the guidance of cell motility. During tumor cell invasion, the cell migration proceeds via penetration of the BM to the underlying stromal tissue.

2.2. PROTEOLYTIC REMODELLING OF THE EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX

Precise degradation of the connective tissue is essential in many developmental and reparative processes, such as reproduction, fetal development, wound healing and angiogenesis. The proteinases comprise both exopeptidases and endopeptidases (proteinases). These are divided into groups based on their catalytic group at their active site: serine/threonine, cysteine, aspartic or metallo (Woessner,1998). Metalloproteinases are further divided into several superfamilies, one of which is *metzincins*. They bind zinc at the catalytic site and have a conserved "Met-turn" motif and conserved structural topology. Metzincins consists of four groups: serralysins, matrixins, astacins and adamalysins (see Stöcker et al., 1995; Bergers and Coussens, 2000). *Serine proteinases* contain a serine residue in their catalytic site. The group of serine proteinases include chymotrypsin, chymase, trypsin, plasminogen activators (PAs), plasmin, enteropeptidase, neutrophil elastase, cathepsin G and furin proteinases. Tissue-type PA as well as the urokinase type PA both convert the plasma protein, plasminogen to active plasmin, which has wide substrate specificity and is able to activate several latent metalloproteinases. Serine proteinases are inhibited by serpins (Silverman et al., 2001).

2.2.1. Matrix Metalloproteinases

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) are zinc-dependent proteolytic enzymes, which take part in proteolytic degradation of the ECM and BM during morphogenesis, cell migration and angiogenesis. Together they are able to degrade practically all ECM proteins (see Table 1., page 23). The basic structure of MMPs consists of a catalytic domain and additional amount of variable inserts depending on the specific MMP (see Figure 2.). These variable inserts include the signal peptide, propeptide, furin-cleavage site insert, fibronectin like repeats, hinge region, hemopexin domain, and membrane insertion extension. MMPs are generally divided into six subgroups: interstitial collagenases (MMP-1, -8 and MMP-13), stromelysins (MMP-3, -10, -11 and MMP-12), matrilysins (MMP-7 and MMP-26), type IV collagenases (MMP-2 and MMP-9), membrane-type MMPs (MMP-14, -15, -16, -17, -24 and MMP-25) and others (MMP-19, -23 and MMP-28) (Nagase and Woessner, 1999; Uria et al., 2000; Lohi et al., 2001). At least eight of the known human MMP genes (MMP-1, MMP-3, MMP-7, MMP-8, MMP-10, MMP-12,

MMP-13, and MMP-20) are clustered in chromosome 11 at 11q21–23 (Shapiro, 1998). Other known MMP genes are scattered along chromosomes 1, 8, 12, 14, 16, 20, and 22.



Figure 2. Structure and subclasses of vertebrate MMPs. (Modified from Overall and Lopéz-Otín, 2002). Abbreviations TM, transmembrane domain; CA, cysteine array; GPI, glycosyl phosphatidylinositol-anchor; Ig, immunoglobulin like

2.2.1.1. Collagenases

Collagenases are able to degrade native fibrillar interstitial collagen, which otherwise is very resistant to proteolytic degradation. Collagen is cleaved at a specific site producing ³/₄ N-terminal and ¹/₄ C-terminal fragments, which denature spontaneously to gelatin at 37° C. These fragments are further degraded by other MMPs, e.g. gelatinases. Three collagenases are known:

collagenase-1 (interstitial collagenase-1, MMP-1) (Goldberg et al., 1986), collagenase –2 (neutrophil collagenase, MMP-8) (Hasty et al., 1990), and collagenase-3 (MMP-13) (Freije et al., 1994).

Collagenase-1 (MMP-1) was the first MMP found from the metamorphosing tadpole (Gross and Lapière, 1962). It was also the first vertebrate collagenase purified and determined by cDNA cloning (Stricklin et al., 1977; Goldberg, 1986). MMP-1 is expressed in vivo in various physiological and pathological situations, such as in embryonic development, in wound repair and in malignant tumors (McGowan et al., 1994; Saarialho-Kere, 1998; Stetler-Stevenson et al., 1993). In cultured cells, expression of MMP-1 is detected in keratinocytes, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, macrophages, monocytes, hepatocytes, chondrocytes and osteoblasts (Birkedal-Hansen et al., 1993; Stetler-Stevenson et al., 1993). Proteolytic activation of human skin MMP-1 procollagenase results in removal of 81 amino acid residues from the aminoterminal portion of the proenzyme (Goldberg at al., 1986). Active MMP-1 is able to cleave collagen types I-III, VII, VIII and X, agrecan, serpins and α 2macroglobulin.

Collagenase-2 (MMP-8) was first described in 1960s and later purified and cloned (Hasty et al., 1987 and 1990). MMP-8 is synthesized in polymorphonuclear leukocytes during their maturation in bone marrow and stored in specific intracellular granules, out of which it is secreted to the cell environment in response to an external stimuli (Hasty et al., 1986, 1987 and 1990). MMP-8 is also detected in chondrocytes as well as in mononuclear fibroblast-like cells in rheumatoid synovial membrane, in gingival fibroblasts, and bronchial epithelial cells (Cole et al., 1996; Hanemaaijer et al., 1997; Abe et al., 2001; Prikk et al., 2001). As active collagenase - 1 is specialized to degrade type III collagen, MMP-8 prefers types I and II (Welgus et al., 1981), and in fact, MMP-8 is believed to be the initiator for type I collagen degradation. It is also able to degrade aggrecan (Fosang et al., 1996).

Collagenase –3 (MMP-13) was originally cloned from human breast tumor cDNA library. It has a 86% homology with a rodent collagenase and only 50% with human MMP-1 (Freije et al., 1994). MMP-13 has a key role in the MMP activation cascade and appears to be critical in bone metabolism and homeostasis. MMP-13 is predicted to have an important role in tumor invasion and metastasis due to its wide substrate specificity and its upregulated expression in cancer cells (Leeman et al., 2002). MMP-13 expression is seen in skin cancers (Airola et al., 1997; Airola et al., 1999) and adenovirus-mediated gene delivery of its inhibitor, TIMP-3, inhibits invasion and

induces apoptosis in melanoma cells (Ahonen et al., 1998). The latent form of MMP-13 is activated by stromelysin-1 and -2, MMP-2, MT1-MMP and MT2-MMP, trypsin and plasmin. MMP-13 has a large variety of substrates (types I-IV, IX, X, XIV collagens, fibronectin, aggrecan, gelatin, large tenascin C, fibrillin, osteonectin, and serine proteinase inhibitor) (Knäuper et al., 1996 and 1997; Mitchell et al., 1996; Ashworth et al., 1999) (see also Table 1 on page 23).

2.2.1.2. Stromelysins and stromelysin-like MMPs

The stromelysin subfamily consists of stromelysin-1 (MMP-3) and -2 (MMP-10), which are structurally related. Stromelysin-3 (MMP-11) and human macrophage metalloelastase (MMP-12) are often included in a group of stromelysin-like MMPs.

Stromelysins-1 and -2 are expressed by keratinocytes in culture and in vivo and in fibroblasts in culture (Birkedal-Hansen et al., 1993, Windsor et al., 1993; Saarialho-Kere, 1998). MMP-10 is upregulated by cytokines during normal wound repair (Rechardt et al., 2000). It is also able to activate other MMPs, such as MMP-1, MMP-8 and MMP-9 (Nagase, 1998; Nakamura et al., 1998). Stromelysins -1 and -2 digest type IV, IX and XI collagens, tenascin, vitronectin, perlecan, versican, laminin, elastin and IL-1 β (Nagase, 1998).

Stromelysin -3 (MMP-11) was cloned from invasive breast cancer tissue (Basset et al., 1990). In the skin, MMP-11 is expressed by fibroblasts in BCCs and SCCs (Thewes et al., 1999) and its high expression level correlates with increased tumor aggressiveness in breast cancer (Basset et al., 1993). MMP-11 diverges from MMP-3 and -10 in amino acid sequence and in enzymatic activity. MMP-11 can degrade serine proteinase inhibitors and α 1-proteinase inhibitor, but not any ECM components (Pei et al., 1994).

Human macrophage metalloelastase (HME, MMP-12) is often included in a group of stromelysin-like MMPs. It was initially found in alveolar macrophages of cigarette smokers (Shapiro et al., 1993). The expression of MMP-12 is also found in vivo in macrophages in granulomatous skin diseases, solar elastosis, in intestinal ulcerations and inflammation (Vaalamo et al., 1998; Salmela et al., 2001; Chung et al., 2002) as well as in tumor cells in SCC of vulva (Kerkelä et al., 2000) and in skin cancers (Kerkelä et al., 2000). MMP-12 is the most efficient degrader of elastin, but it is also able to cleave type IV collagen, fibronectin, laminin-1, gelatin, vitronectin, entactin and a variety of ECM proteoglycans and glycosaminoglycans

(Chandler et al., 1996; Gronski et al., 1997; Hiller et al., 2000). MMP-12 is able to cleave plasminogen into angiostatin thus preventing tumor growth by inhibiting angiogenesis (Dong et al., 1997; Cornelius et al., 1998).

2.2.1.3. Matrilysins

Matrilysin-1 (MMP-7) and *endometase* (MMP-26) are the smallest MMPs. They lack the hinge region and hemopexin domains, which restricts their substrate specificity (Park et al., 2000). MMP-7 was originally identified as the small putative uterine metalloproteinase (PUMP) (Mueller et al., 1988). It is produced by sweat and salivary glands, airway ciliated cells, and by the ductal or glandular epithelium of breast, liver, pancreas and urogenital tissues (Rodgers et al., 1994; Saarialho-Kere et al., 1995; Wilson et al., 1995). MMP-7 is upregulated in injured epithelium in the intestine (Saarialho-Kere et al., 1996) and airways (Dunsmore et al., 1998), and has thus been implicated in epithelial repair. Also in tumors of epithelial origin, like breast, skin, stomach and colon carcinomas, MMP-7 is overexpressed (Basset et al., 1990, Karelina et al., 1994; Newell et al., 1994; McDonnell et al., 1991). MMP-7 is able to inhibit tumor angiogenesis by generating angiostatin (Patterson and Sang, 1997); this was is proven in vivo (Pozzi et al., 2000). Furthermore, MMP-7 functions in mucosal immunity by regulating the level of antimicrobial peptides (Parks et al., 2001).

Matrilysin-2 (Endometase, MMP-26) is a fairly recently discovered MMP. It was cloned from fetal (de Coignac et al., 2000), placenta (Uria and Lopez-Otin, 2000), and human endometrium cDNA libraries (Isaka et al., 2003). It is expressed in uterus and in placenta and also various tumor cell lines as well as in carcinomas of the lung, prostate and breast by RT-PCR (Marchenko et al., 2001). MMP-26 is able to degrade fibrinogen, fibronectin, type IV collagen, gelatin, vitronectin and α 1-proteinase inhibitor (Park et al., 2000; Uria and Lopez-Otin, 2000; Marchenko et al., 2001).

2.2.1.4. Type IV collagenases

Type IV collagenases, also called *gelatinases*, consist of two enzymes, MMP-2 (72-kDa gelatinase or gelatinase A) and MMP-9 (92-kDa gelatinase or gelatinase B). MMP-2 is expressed by various cell types e.g. dermal fibroblasts, keratinocytes, and endothelial cells (Birkedal-Hansen, 1993). MMP-9 is produced by polymorphonuclear leukocytes, macrophages and cultured keratinocytes, osteoclasts, invading trophoblasts and by many types of transformed cells (Hibbs et al, 1987; Birkedal-Hansen, 1993; Zeigler et al., 1996). MMP-9 expression is

enhanced by TGF- β , TNF- α or IL-1 β in cultured mucosal keratinocytes (Salo et al., 1994). TNF- α mediated activation of pro-MMP-9 is associated with down-regulation of TIMP-1 in human skin (Han et al., 2002). In addition to gelatin, MMP-2 and MMP-9 degrade type IV, V, VII and X collagens, laminins, elastin, fibronectin and vitronectin (for review see Ravanti and Kähäri, 2000). MMP-2 and MT1-MMP (MMP-14) are capable of cleavaging Ln-5, resulting in a fragment that promotes cell migration of normal breast epithelial cells and tumor cells (Giannelli et al., 1997; Koshikawa et al., 2000).

2.2.1.5. Membrane-type MMPs

Membrane-type MMPs (MT-MMPs) constitute a subclass of recently identified matrix metalloproteinases. In addition to the highly conserved MMP functional domains, the MT-MMPs have additional insertion sequences. MT-MMPs are membrane associated and a number of these have cytoplasmic domains which may be important in cellular signaling. The first MT1-MMP (MMP-14) was found on the surface of invasive tumor cells in 1994 (Sato et al., 1994) and nowdays six members are reported (MMP-14, MMP-15, MMP-16, MMP-17, MMP-24 and MMP-25) (Takino et al., 1995; Will and Hintzman, 1995; Puente et al., 1996; Llano et al., 1999; Pei, 1999). MT-MMPs are localized at the cell surface. Their localization facilitates their role in cell-matrix interactions and activation of other MMPs. For instance active MMP-14 is auxiliary to TIMP-2 for the full activation of MMP-2 (Kinoshita et al., 1998). The expression of MT1-MMP is not detected in normal epithelial cells, but can be seen in transformed epithelial carcinoma cells. In addition it is shown that MT1-, MT2- and MT3-MMPs are able to degrade cell surface tissue transglutaminase at the leading edge of invasive cancer cells (Belkin et al., 2001). Based on these findings, it is believed that MT-MMPs are central mediators of surface proteolytic events that regulate cancer cell adhesion, motility, metastasis and angiogenesis.

2.2.1.6. Other MMPs

MMP-19 is one of the recently cloned members of the MMP family. It differs from the others by its unique chromosomal location (12q14) (Pendas et al., 1997). MMP-19 lacks several structural features known to be present in other MMP subclasses, including Asp, Tyr, and Gly residues close to the zinc-binding site, the fibronectin-like and the transmembrane domains as well as the furin-activation sequence, based on which it cannot be included into any of the known subclasses (Pendas et al., 1997). In vitro MMP-19 is able to degrade many important

BM components such as type IV collagen, laminin-1, nidogen and fibronectin as well as tenascin-C isoform, aggrecan, type I gelatin and cartilage oligomeric matrix protein COMP (Stracke et al., 2000a) but does not activate any other latent MMPs (Stracke et al., 2000b). MMP-19 was originally detected in placenta, lung, pancreas, liver, ovary, spleen and intestine by Northern Analysis (Pendas et al., 1997). Independently, it was isolated as an autoantigen from the inflamed synovium of a patient suffering from rheumatoid arthritis (Sedlacek et al., 1998). MMP-19 has been described in smooth muscle cells of the tunica media of large blood vessels and those of normal skin and uterine ligaments as well as in endothelial cells of activated peripheral blood mononuclear cells, TH1 lymphocytes and Jurkat T lymphoma cells (Sedlacek et al., 1998). MMP-19 has been suggested to play a role in matrix remodeling processes and in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis (Sedlacek et al., 1998; Konttinen et al., 1999). Because of its expression in normal tissues it is possible that MMP-19 is important in normal tissue remodelling or activation of secreted and membrane bound proteins, like growth factors.

Enamelysin (MMP-20) expression is restricted to ameloblasts and odontoblasts of developing teeth (Llano et al., 1997). Its' substrates include the major component of the enamel matrix, amelogenin, and aggrecan and COMP (Stracke et al., 2000a). MMP-20 is apparently important in tooth enamel formation and is expressed by human tongue carcinoma cells (Väänänen et al., 2001).

MMP-21 was found from human placenta cDNA (Ahokas et al., 2002). A 2.5 kb messenger RNA was observed in fetal liver by Northern analysis and by RT-PCR, MMP-21 is expressed in various human fetal and adult tissues as well as in cancer cell lines. MMP-21 protein can also be detected in several cancer types, such as ovarian and colon carcinomas by immunohistochemical staining. It has been suggested that MMP-21 functions in embryogenesis and tumor progression (Marchenko et al., 2003; Ahokas et al., 2003).

MMP-23 was cloned from an ovary cDNA library (Velasco et al., 1999) and it is mainly expressed in ovary, testis and prostate, indicating its possible role in reproductive processes. MMP-23 has a unique structure and its biological function is not known (Pei et al., 2000).

MMP-27 has been identified on the basis of EST sequences. The function of this enzyme is not known (Yang and Kurkinen, 1998).

MMP-28 (epilysin), is another novel MMP, recently cloned from the testis and keratinocyte cDNA libraries (Lohi et al., 2001). It is a 59 kDa protein and is structurally mostly related to MMP-19. It is found in lung and in a variety of carcinomas (Marchenko and Strongin, 2001). Epilysin expression is also associated with cell proliferation during epithelial repair, while migrating keratinocytes do not express MMP-28 (Saarialho-Kere et al., 2002).

Enzyme	Substrates			
Collagenase-1 (MMP-1)	Col I, II, III, VII, VIII, X, aggrecan, entactin/nidogen, MBP, serpins, α2M,			
	perlecan, vitronectin, tenascin, fibrinogen, TNF precursor, IGFBP			
Collagenase-2 (MMP-8)	Col I. II. III. aggrecan. serpins. $\alpha 2M$. fibrinogen			
Collagenase-3 (MMP-13)	Col I, II, III, IV, IX, X, XIV, aggrecan, fibrillin, fibronectin, gelatin, Ln-1, large			
	tenascin C, osteonectin, serpins, PAI, fibrinogen			
Gelatinase-A	Col, I, IV, V, VII, X, gelatin, fibronectin, tenascin, fibrillin, osteonectin, entactin,			
(MMP-2)	aggrecan, vitronectin, decorin, MBP, decorin, plasminogen, α 2M, Ln-5, IGFBP,			
	TNF precursor, pro-TGF-β, α1PI			
Gelatinase-B	Col I, IV, V, VII, XI, XIV, gelatin, elastin, fibrillin, osteonectin, aggrecan,			
(MMP-9)	fibronectin vitronectin decorin MBP α 2M TNF precursor IGFRP			
	nlasminogen pro-TGF-B a1PI			
Stromelysin-1 (MMP-3)	Col III IV V VII IX X elastin fibronectin fibrillin fibrinogen gelatin			
	aggreean I n-1 nidogen vitronectin osteonectin decorin tenascin α 1PI TNF			
	nrecursor MBP E-cadherin IGERP plasminogen osteonortin			
Stromelysin-2 (MMP-10)	Col III: IV V IX X elastin fibronectin gelatin aggrecan I n-1 nidogen			
Stromelysin-3 (MMP-11)	a1PL IGFRP			
Metalloelastase (MMP-12)	Elastin col IV fibronectin I.n-1 gelatin vitronectin entactin proteoglycan			
Wieunoelustuse (Wilvin 12)	heparan and chondroitin sulfates TNF precursor plasminogen fibrillin			
	fibringen alPI			
Matrilysin (MMP-7)	Col IV elastin fibronectin I n-1 entactin tenascin osteonectin agorecan			
what myshin (which is it)	vitronectin MBP decorin versican a PI esteenantin E-cadherin plasminogen			
	R4 integrin a predefensin Fas ligand pro TNE a			
Matrilysin_2 (MMP_26)	Col IV galatin fibranaatin fibrin gilDL & assain TACE substrate			
	Coll W, gelatin, notonectin, notin, 0.1F1, p-casein, TACE-substrate			
MII-MMP (MMP-14)	Col I, II, III, gelatin, fibronectin, Ln-1, vitronectin, aggrecan, tenascin, nidogen,			
	perlecan, fibrinogen/fibrin, fibrillin, α1PI, α2M, LN-5, CD44, fIG			
M12-MMP (MMP-15)	Fibronectin, LN-1, gelatin, aggrecan, tenascin, nidogen, perlecan, vitronectin,			
MI3-MMP (MMP-16)	Col III, fibronectin, gelatin, laminin, aggrecan, casein, vitronectin, α 2M, α 1PI,			
M14-MMP (MMP-1/)	Gelatin, TNF- α precursor, fibrillin, fibronectin			
M15-MMP (MMP-24)	ND			
MMP-19	Col IV, gelatin, LN-1, nidogen, tenascin, fibronectin, aggrecan, fibrinogen,			
$\mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{n}} = \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{n}} \left(\mathbf{A} \mathbf{A} \mathbf{B} \mathbf{A} \right)$	COMP Ameliana COMP			
Enamelysin (MMP-20)	Ameiogenin, aggrecan, COMP			
MMD 22	ND colotin			
MMD 27	gerarin			
WIWIF-2/				
IVIIVIP-28	casein			

ND = not determined (Modified from Kerkelä and Saarialho-Kere, 2003; Lohi et al., 2001)

2.2.2. Regulation of MMPs

In normal tissue the secretion and activity of MMPs is very low, but their production and release are rapidly induced when tissue remodelling is needed (Nagase and Woessner, 1999). Generally MMPs are not expressed in normal skin but are upregulated in inflamed or diseased skin. Regulation of MMPs occurs at many levels, including transcription, modulation of mRNA half-life, secretion, localization, zymogen activation and inhibition of the proteolytic activity.

2.2.2.1. Transcriptional regulation of MMP genes

Control at the level of transcription is the major level of MMP regulation (Fini et al., 1998). Various effectors including growth factors and cytokines (EGF, TNF-α, IL-1β, bFGF, PDGF, IL-6 and TGF-β), chemical agents, physical stress, oncogenic cellular transformation as well as cell-cell and cell matrix interactions regulate MMP gene expression (see Nagase and Woessner, 1999). Extracellular stimuli affect MMP expression via signal transduction pathways that lead to AP-1 (activator protein-1) binding site activation. AP-1 site is in the genes of MMPs-1, -3, -7, -8, -9, -10, -12 and MMP-13. MMP-1, -3 and MMP-9 have also another AP-1 site, but the role of this site is not clear. The expression of AP-1 transcription factors are induced by mitogen activated proteine kinase (MAPK) pathways, i.e. extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK1, 2), stress activated proteinase kinase/Jun N-terminal kinase (SAPK/ JNK) and p38. ERK 1, 2 pathway plays a crucial role in growth factor induced mitogenesis, differentiation and cellular transformation, but it can also be induced by stress stimuli. SAPK/JNK and p38 are merely activated by cytokines and stress such as UV-light (Karin et al., 1997). MMP-2, MMP-11, MMP-28 and MT1-MMP genes do not have AP-1 site.

TGF- β inhibitory elements (TIE) are described in some MMP gene promoters (MMPs-1, -7 and -13), but their role is not clear. TGF- β and TNF- α might stimulate MMP-1 expression as shown in cultured keratinocytes (Clark et al., 1995; Mauviel et al., 1996; Johansson et al., 1997). MMP-7 can be both up- and downregulated by TGF- β (Wilson and Matrisian, 1998). In rats, TGF- β downregulates gene expression of MMP-3 (Kerr et al., 1990). MMP-10 is responsive for EGF, KGF, TNF- α , TGF- β 1 and TGF- α , as well as for phorbol ester in keratinocytes (Windsor et al., 1993; Madlener et al., 1996). MMP-12 is upregulated by IL-1, TNF- α , M-CSF, VEGF and PDGF-BB and inhibited by TGF- β (Feinberg et al., 2000). MMP-13 is induced by TPA, IL-1 β and TGF- β in human fibroblasts (Uria et al., 1997, 1998).

2.2.2.2. Activation of proMMPs

Most proMMPs are secreted from cells and activated extracellularly, but some of them are stored in and released from intracellular granules (MMP-8, MMP-9). ProMMPs secreted as inactive zymogens can be activated by proteinases or by nonproteolytic agents (Nagase, 1997). In vitro the activation can occur by plasmin, trypsin, furin, kallikrein, chymase, mast cell tryptase as well as by other, such as bacterial proteinases. Activation of proMMPs by plasmin is a relevant pathway in vivo. Plasmin is generated from plasminogen by tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) and urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA). Plasmin has been reported to activate proMMP-1, proMMP-3, proMMP-7, proMMP-9, proMMP-10, and proMMP-13 (Lijnen, 2001). ProMMP-1 can also be activated by MMP-3, MMP-7 or by MMP-10 (Imai et al., 1995; Suzuki et al., 1990).

Many MMPS are activated by other MMPs (see Figure 3.). ProMMP-2 is activated by MT-MMPs (Strongin et al, 1995), including MT1-MMP, MT2-MMP, MT3-MMP, MT5-MMP and MT6-MMP (see Visse and Nagase, 2003). MT4-MMP does not activate proMMP-2 (English et al., 2000). MMP-2 activation with active MT1-MMP needs TIMP-2, but MT2-MMP is independent of it (Morrison et al., 2001). During MMP-2 activation, MT1-MMP forms dimers or multimers on the cell surface through interaction of the hemopexin domains and then binds TIMP-2. ProMMP-2 binds to the C-terminal domain of TIMP-2 through its hemopexin domain. The second, active, MT1-MMP then cleaves proMMP-2, thereby partly activating it. The MMP-2 dissociates from the membrane and is fully activated by intermolecular processing. Thus TIMP-2 enhances the activation of MMP-2 at low levels, but inhibits it at high levels. ProMMP-11 possesses a furin recognition sequence and it is activated intracellularly by furin (Pei and Weiss, 1995). MT-MMPs (Sternlicht and Werb, 2001; Woessner and Nagase, 2000), MMP-21, MMP-23, and MMP-28 (Marchenko and Strongin, 2001; Lohi et al., 2001; Ahokas et al., 2002) have a similar basic motif in the propeptide. ProMMP-13 can be activated by MMP-3, MMP-10, MT2-MMP as well as by MT1-MMP (Knäuper et al., 1996; d'Ortho et al., 1997; Murphy et al., 1999) and MMP-13 itself is able to activate gelatinases (Knäuper et al., 1997). MMP-26 is an exception, because it is auto- activated (Marchenko et al., 2003).



Figure 3. Summary of the activation cascades of MMPs. Arrows indicate the activation (see text for details) (see Ravanti and Kähäri, 2000).

2.2.2.3. Inhibition of MMPs

Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs)

TIMPs are a family of secretory proteins that are able to inhibit MMP activity through noncovalent binding of active forms of MMPs in the extracellular space in 1:1 molar stoichiometry. Four TIMPs have been identified in vertebrates, namely TIMP-1, -2, -3 and -4 (Edwards et al., 1996; Gomez et al., 1997). Their expression is regulated during development and tissue remodelling (Brew et al., 2000). TIMPs are expressed in various tissues and by many cell types (Gomez et al., 1997). TIMP-1, TIMP-2 and TIMP-4 stay in secreted form in ECM whereas TIMP-3 is associated with it (Leco et al., 1994). All TIMPs are capable of inhibiting all MMPs, with the following exceptions: TIMP-1, which is not able to inhibit MT1-MMP and TIMP-3, which is a better inhibitor for ADAM-17 (TACE) and aggrecaases (ADAMTS-4 and -5) than for MMPs (see Visse and Nagase, 2003). TIMPs have N- and C-terminal domains and the MMP inhibition occurs through folding the N-domain and binding it to the active site of MMP. TIMPs play an important role in many biological processes, including fetal development, angiogenesis and cancer. An imbalance between TIMP and MMP activities is believed to result in excessive degradation of matrix components in tumor invasion, but the balance between various TIMPs may also be a critical factor in determining the degradative potential of cells in normal and pathological conditions.

Overexpression of different TIMPs can inhibit invasion of malignant cells in vivo and in vitro. Therefore, adenovirus-mediated gene delivery of TIMP-1, -2 and -3 into malignant cells may be a potent way of inhibiting tumor invasion (Ahonen et al., 1998). However, the lack of effective methods for gene delivery has limited the clinical utility of this approach.

Other MMP inhibitors

Non-specific plasma α -macroglobulins are expressed in many human tissues and are an example of endopeptidase inhibitors that are able to inhibit MMPs as well as most other proteinases (serine, cysteine-, and aspartate proteinases). In addition, serine proteinase *inhibitors* (plasminogen activator inhibitor and α 1-antitrypsin) are able to regulate proteinase activity in tissue. Chelating compounds, like biphosphonates and tetracyclins are able to inhibit MMP activity (Woessner, 1999; Hidalgo and Eckhardt 2001a) by binding to the zinc ion at the catalytic site. Tetracyclin derivatives are able to block both synthesis and activation of MMPs, whereas biphosphonates inhibit only the enzymatic activity of MMPs. TGF-B, glucocorticoid hormones and retinoids are common downregulators of the transcription of MMPs (Egeblad and Werb, 2002). Also the inhibition of the activity of different protein kinases (MAPKs) may serve as a potent way of inhibiting MMP expression (see Overall and Lopez-Otin, 2002). Reversion-indicing cysteine -rich protein with kazal motifs (RECK), is a membrane-anchored inhibitor of MMPs. It was recently characterized for its role in development, tissue homeostasis, and tumor angiogenesis. The RECK gene is widely expressed in normal human tissues but it is downregulated in tumor cell lines and oncogenically transformed fibroblasts. RECK suppresses tumor invasion and angiogenesis by regulating matrix-metalloproteinases (MMP-2, MMP-9 and MT1-MMP). Restored RECK expression in cancer cell lines results in a strong suppression of invasion, metastasis, and tumor angiogenesis (Weaver, 2002; Noda et al., 2003).

Synthetic MMP inhibitors

In recent years, many chemical inhibitors for MMPs, like broad-spectrum MMP inhibitors GM 6001 and its hydrophilic form BB-3103, have been synthesized in order to use them as therapeutic agents in the treatment for various cancers or in evaluating the biological significance of MMPs in normal processes such as wound repair. MMP inhibition may occur in several ways; 1) directly by transfecting cells with antisense oligonucleotides or by targeting cells with mRNA ribozymes, 2) by inhibiting interaction between MMPs and other proteins, 3)

by developing cytotoxic agents that are activated by MMPs, or by 4) blocking MMP activity with peptidomimetic or non-peptidomimetic inhibitors, tetracyclins or biphosphonates or with some other chemical compounds such as shark cartilage extract or acetylsalicylic acid (Egeblad and Werb, 2002). Results are not very promising, as many of the trials have been ended because of serious side effects or the lack of efficacy. Some inhibitors have even shown to stimulate disease progression (see Coussens and Werb, 2002). Based on all results, it is learned that MMPs are part of so complex biological cascades with cytokines and growth factors, that the role of individual MMPs should be very carefully studied in vivo before trials with wide spectrum MMP inhibitors are started (Overall and Lopez-Otin, 2003; Matrisian et al., 2003). This is specially warranted so that we do not disturb wound epithelialization mediated by MMPs.

The *hydroxyamate inhibitor* Batimastat and its analogue Marimastat were the first inhibitors studied in detail. *Batimastat* is able to inhibit MMPs-1, -2, -3, -7, -8, -9, -13 and -14. It has been studied in animal models and its possible role in inhibition of tumor growth, metastasis as well as in tumor associated angiogenesis has been reported (Rasmussen and McCann, 1997; Coussens et al., 2002). *Marimastat* inhibits MMPs-1, -2, -3, -7, -8, -9, -13 and -14 (Rasmussen and McCann, 1997; Whittaker et al., 1999; Coussens and Werb, 2002). Phase III clinical trials using Marimastat, Batimastat alone or in combination with chemotherapy in patients with advanced cancers have been disappointing and have been terminated. The *non-peptidomimetic MMP inhibitors*, such as BAY 12-9566 and AG3340, were synthesized on the basis of the conformation of the MMP active site in an attempt to improve the oral bioavailability, pharmaceutical properties and specificity. Clinical trials are still ongoing with several other MMPIs, including Prinomastat (halted), shark cartilage extract Neovastat (Phase III), Metastat (Phase II), BMS-275291 (Phase II/III) and MMI270 (Phase II) (Hidalgo and Echardt, 2001b; Vihinen and Kähäri, 2002; Coussens and Werb, 2002; Egeblad and Werb, 2002).

2.3. CUTANEOUS WOUND HEALING

2.3.1. General

Wound healing is a complex process where several controlled events, like inflammation, formulation of granulation tissue, angiogenesis, matrix formation and remodelling, partly overlap in time. During wound healing, several molecules that are not normally present in adult tissue are found in the wound site. *Clot formation* takes place right after the injury. Fibrin clot is composed of thrombocytes, neutrophils and monocytes, which are embedded in a provisional

matrix. Clot functions as a reservoir of cytokines and growth factors (Martin 1997). Many growth factors and cytokines, which are mainly produced by platelets and injured cells, attract inflammatory cells to the wound area. Compared to adult wounds, fetal wounds are characterized by the absence of clot formation and inflammatory response (Larjava et al., 1993). During *re-epithelialization* keratinocytes start migrating into the defect within 3-6 h. Migration is presumably initiated by exposure to various growth factors and cytokines, which are released by the damage. Epithelial cells from the edges of the defected epithelium change their hemidesmosomal connections, detach from the BM, contact type I collagen in the wound bed, change their expression of BM components and start migration. Attachment to type I collagen is mediated by integrin $\alpha 2\beta 1$. Migrating keratinocytes deposit Ln-5 and synthesize Ln-1, type IV and VII collagens, fibronectin as well as several integrins, e.g. α 5 β 1 and α 6 β 4, into the provisional matrix, which is mainly composed of fibronectin, fibrin and vitronectin (Larjava et al., 1993). Cutaneous keratinocytes move quickly underneath this provisional matrix across the injured epidermis. Few hours later, the keratinocyte proliferation is increased distal from the migrating edge. At the same time, neutrophils invade to the wound site being responsible for the inflammatory response (Martin 1997; Yamaguchi and Yoshikawa, 2001). Mature BM is reestablished by keratinocytes after the completion of re-epithelialization (Martin 1997; Jacinto, 2001). Cross-talk between keratinocytes and fibroblasts is crucial during the re-organization of BM as wound fibroblasts synthesize a significant portion of BM components. Granulation tissue formation is characterized by neovascularization and fibroplasia. Fibroblasts are also responsible for the wound contraction, which is carried out by specialized myofibroblasts that contain α -smooth muscle actin. Granulation tissue, which is composed of HA, fibrin, fibronectin, type I and III collagens, is remodelled into a new connective tissue. In mature connective tissue, majority of type III collagen is replaced with type I collagen, and HA. Fibrin and plasma fibronectin are degraded and proteoglycans deposited (Clark 1995; Gailit and Clark, 1994).

2.3.2. Wound healing in oral mucosa

In general, wound healing in oral mucosa is similar to cutaneous wound repair (Larjava et al., 1993). The difference is, that in dermal wounds keratinocytes are believed to migrate under the clot in contact with the dermal matrix and type I collagen, whereas in small gingival wounds, keratinocytes migrate through the fibrin-fibronectin matrix, without collagen contact (Larjava et al., 1993; Häkkinen et al. 2000). Based on animal studies it seems that wounds in oral mucosa

heal faster and with less scarring than in skin (see Häkkinen et al., 2000). In fact, oral wound healing resembles fetal wound healing. Adult gingival fibroblasts, located in the papillary connective tissue, share many properties with fetal fibroblasts and therefore differ from those of dermal origin. There are several factors in saliva, like growth factors, ions such as magnesium and calcium as well as redox activity reducing agents, that favor gingival wound healing (Häkkinen et al., 2000), but also considerable amounts of bacteria reducing the healing capacity (see Häkkinen et al., 2000). Lubrication of oral mucosa by saliva is by itself beneficial for wound closure.

2.3.3. Chronic wounds

In chronic wounds highly controlled co-operation of various growth factors, cytokines and proteolytic enzymes and their inhibitors is disturbed and healing does not proceed and the re-epithelialization does not occur within the normal biological time range of 2-3 weeks. Decubitus ulcers, venous leg ulcers, rheumatic, and diabetic ulcers are common examples of these poorly healing wounds. The prevalence of chronic leg ulcer patients in Sweden is 2% (Nelzen et al., 1996) and in Finland there are ca 45000-10000 venous leg ulcer patients (Malanin et al., 1990). The usual cause of these types of ulcers is chronic venous insuffiency (80-90%) followed by arterial disease and diabetic neuropathy (Baker et al., 1992).

Chronic ulcers are characterized by chronic inflammation with elevated numbers of macrophages, plasma cells, PMNs and B-lymphocytes (Loots et al., 1998). Chronic wounds have high number of tryptase-positive mast cells and they are associated with delayed wound healing and epithelialization (Huttunen et al. 2000). Although the underlying pathogenesis is well-defined, the molecular mechanisms for impaired epithelialization are still unknown. Several factors causing poor healing have been proposed: 1) Failure of wound margin keratinocytes to move over the chronic wound bed although they proliferate normally (Adair, 1977; Falanga et al., 1994; Andriessen et al., 1995) indicating the possible lack of proper matrix components for adhesion or improper signals to the cell. 2) Excessive proteolysis may interfere with proper wound healing by degrading provisional matrix components that are needed for the cell migration or by inactivating growth factors (Grinnell et al., 1992). 3) Hypoxia in the wound area may interfere with normal healing by causing fibrosis (Ferguson and Leigh, 1998). 4) Fibrin deposition surrounding the numerous dermal blood vessels may inhibit normal transportation of growth factors, oxygen and proteins to the wound area (Herrick et al., 1992; Hickley et al., 1995). It has been shown that wound fibroblasts proliferate at a slower rate and

are morphologically distinct from normal fibroblasts. This can be stimulated by growth factors bFGF, EGF, and IL-1 β . Trengove et al. (2000) showed significantly higher concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1, IL-6 and TNF- α in wound fluid from nonhealing compared to healing leg ulcers. It has been shown that the balance between MMPs and their inhibitors TIMPs is disturbed in chronic wounds versus acute wounds (Falanga et al., 1994; Vaalamo et al., 1996; Ferguson and Leigh, 1998).

2.3.4. The role of proteinases in epithelial wound repair

Proteinases are involved in several processes during wound healing. Serine proteinases, such as urokinase-plasminogen activator (uPA) and plasmin, and matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are the main proteinases implicated in epidermal repair (Rømer et al., 1996; Ravanti and Kähäri, 2000). Proteinases primarily 1) facilitate keratinocyte and fibroblast migration by remodeling ECM proteins, especially by fibrin and fibronectin degradation. In addition, proteinases 2) modulate intracellular signaling, secretion and bioactivation of cytokines and growth factors important for epidermal healing (Gak et al, 1992; Ito et al., 1996; Gallea-Robache et al., 1997; Imai et al., 1997; Wakita et al, 1997). Proteinases are also needed in 3) the removal of devitalized tissue, 4) in angiogenesis, 5) in remodelling of the BM zone as well as 6) in control of the cell proliferation and inflammation in the wound area.

Plasmin degrades fibrin matrices in the provisional normal matrix and also activates latent MMPs. Plasminogen activation has been shown to be essential in wound healing (Lund et al., 1999). Migrating keratinocytes express uPA in an *in vitro* wound model (Morioka et al., 1987). Analogously, uPa mRNA expression is found both in chronic and in acute wounds at the wound edge (Vaalamo et al., 1996).

In wounds, various MMPs are expressed by keratinocytes, fibroblasts, endothelial cells and by inflammatory cells; neutrophils and macrophages, in particular. Migrating keratinocytes, in early wounds, express MMP-1, MMP-9, MMP-10 (Saarialho-Kere, 1993; Salo et al., 1994; Vaalamo et al., 1996), as well as TIMP-1. However, the non-migratory proliferating cells at the wound margin express MMP-3 and TIMP-1 and -3. Difference in the MMP expression is probably due to different roles of these keratinocytes; migrating keratinocytes degrade provisional matrix forming a pathway for migration, whereas keratinocytes distal to the wound edge detach from the BM in order to permit motility. In the wound area MMPs-1, -2, -3, -13 and MMP-14 are produced by dermal cells (Ravanti and Kähäri 2000).

MMP-1 is induced in basal epidermal cells (keratinocytes), in response to injury, as the cells remove the BM and contact type I collagen in the underlying dermis (Saarialho-Kere, 1993). Only basal keratinocytes in contact with dermal type I collagen express MMP-1, and this inductive response is specifically controlled by the collagen-binding integrin $\alpha 2\beta$ 1, which also directs secretion of the enzyme to the points of cell–matrix contact (Pilcher et al., 1997). MMP-1 is also abundantly expressed by various types of stromal cells (macrophages, fibroblasts and endothelial cells) in the granulation tissue (Stricklin et al., 1993). MMP-1 mRNA and protein is also detected at the epithelial edge of chronic venous and decubitus ulcers (Saarialho-Kere et al., 1992, 1993). MMP-13 is expressed only in chronic wounds by stromal fibroblasts at the bottom of dermal granulation tissue (Vaalamo et al., 1997), whereas acute dermal wounds lack this enzyme. MMP-13 is expressed by fibroblasts in acute gingival wounds, suggesting a role as an effective remodulator of collagenous granulation tissue resulting in scarless wound healing (Ravanti et al., 1999).

Gelatinases have previously been shown to be differentially expressed and regulated during wound healing. MMP-2 is expressed by fibroblasts in both resting and healing human oral mucosa and skin (Oikarinen et al., 1993; Salo et al., 1994), but it is absent from the wounded epithelium, nor it is expressed by the dermal cells of the wound margin (Saarialho-Kere et al., 1993; Salo et al., 1994). MMP-2 is believed to participate in the long-term remodelling of the dermis. MMP-9 is detected in basal and suprabasal keratinocytes in nonwounded oral mucosa (Salo et al., 1994), however, it is not found in normal skin (Pyke et al., 1992). MMP-9 expression by basal keratinocytes is induced in human suction blisters (Oikarinen et al., 1993) as well as in granulation tissue of oral wounds (Salo et al., 1994). Induction of MMP-9 after injury is rapid, reaching the highest activity at 4-5 d after injury, but is later declined (Tarlton et al., 1997). Based on this finding, MMP-9 is thought to play a role in re-epithelialization. Eleveted amounts of gelatinases are found in chronic wound fluids, indicating that excess of these enzymes may disturb wound healing (Wysocki et al., 1993; Bullen et al., 1995). Especially, elevated MMP-1 and MMP-8 activity, possibly derived from inflammatory cells, is often associated with the non-healing state of chronic wounds (Nwomeh et al., 1999; Trengove et al., 1999; Ågren et al., 2000).

MMP-3 mRNA is expressed in chronic and in 2 d samples of normally re-epithelializing wounds by basal keratinocytes adjacent to, but distal from the migrating front as well as by the stromal cells (Saarialho-Kere et al., 1994; Vaalamo et al., 1996). MMP-10 is produced only by

keratinocytes at the migrating front and seems to co-localize with MMP-1 and uPA expressing cells (Vaalamo et al., 1996). Thus, MMP-10 appears to be critical for the migration, whereas MMP-3 could play a role in the remodelling of newly formed BM and wound matrix. MMP-11 expression has been shown in late stages of cutaneous wound healing in areas of inflammatory fibrosis (Wolf et al., 1992).

MMP-12 is expressed by stromal macrophages in acute dermal wounds and in chronic ulcers (Vaalamo et al., 1999). MT1-MMP expression is induced in dermal wounds and its role as an activator of cell surface proMMP-2 is assumed (Okada et al., 1997; Madlener et al., 1998). Of the MMPs expressed in human dermal wounds *in vivo*, MMP-3, -9 and MMP-12 may play a role in controlling the new blood vessel formation as they all are able to convert plasminogen to angiostatin, which is a potent anti-angiogenic factor (Patterson and Sang, 1997; Dong et al., 1997; Lijnen et al., 1998).

2.3.5. MMP inhibition in wound healing

Inhibition of MMPs has generally been shown to delay acute wound re-epithelialization in most experimental studies. However, Batimastat and Marimastat seemed to have no effect on acute wound healing, but only in sutured surgigal wounds (Pilcher et al., 1999). GM6001 (Ilomastat) treatment, was shown to increase wound strenght without affecting collagen content in rats (Witte et al., 1998). GM6001 has been shown to reduce inflammatory response, decrease type I collagen gene expression and upregulate MMP activity. It also reduced TNF- α , but induced TGF- β wound fluid levels in a sponge granulomas model (Witte et al., 1998). In human suction blisters and in acute cutaneous wounds, re-epithelialization was delayed with GM 6001 treatment (Ågren et al., 2001; Lund et al., 1999). In human suction blisters, GM6001 upregulated stromal MMP-1 and MMP-2 expression and epithelial MMP-9 expression. In plasminogen deficient mice, GM6001 treatment re-localized the MMP-2 expression from wound stroma into the leading edge of migrating keratinocytes (Lund et al., 1999) and overall MMP expression was upregulated.

2.3.6. Growth factors and cytokines and their regulation by MMPs in wound healing

Platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) is released from the degranulating platelets, and was the first growth factor shown to be chemotactic for cells migrating into wound, such as neutrophils, monocytes and fibroblasts. PDGF enhances fibroblast proliferation as well as their ECM production. PDGF stimulates fibroblasts to contract collagen matrices, affecting wound

contraction, and induces myofibroblast transformation (see Werner and Grose, 2003). Also several other growth factors and cytokines participate in wound healing (Table 2). They do that by inducing macrophage (e.g. TGF- β , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10) and neutrophil infiltration (e.g.TGF- β , IL-10), re-epithelialization (e.g. FGFs, TGF- α , EGF, IGFs, IL-6, GM-CSF), angiogenesis (e.g. VEGFs, FGF, HGF, GM-CSF), matrix deposition (e.g. FGF, IGF, TGF- β), fibroblasia (PDGF, TGF- β , IGFs) and scarring (e.g. TGF- β , IGF-1, IL-6 and IL-10) (see Werner and Grose 2003). Various growth factors and cytokines (EGF, TNF- α , IL-1 β , bFGF, PDGF, IL-6 and TGF- β), which participate in wound healing, affect also MMP expression and activation or are substrates for them (see also chapter Transcriptional regulation of MMPs).

Table 2. Cytokines and growth factors which are substrates for MMPs and their role in wound repair.

Cytokine/Growth factor	MMP	Source of the	Major effects in wound			
targeted		growth factor				
Epidermal growth fac	tors MMP-3 and	Platelets	Epidermal and mesenchymal regeneration			
EGFs	MMP -7	Macrophages	Pleiotrophic cell motility and proliferation			
Epidermal growth factor l	Epidermal growth factor EGF					
and Heparin binding EGF	like					
growth factor						
Fibroblast growth fac	tors MMP-1 and	Macrophages,	Wound vascularization and fibroblast			
(FGFS)	MMP-3	endothelial cells	proliferation			
Basic FGF (b-FGF)						
Transforming gro	wth MMPs-2, -3,	Platelets and	Fibrosis and increased tensile strength			
factors TGF-β	-7 and	macrophages	Epidermal cell motility, chemotaxis of			
	MMP-9		macrophages and fibroblasts, ECM synthesis			
			and remodelling			
Other cytokines	MMP-9	Epidermal cells,	Angiogenesis and increased vascular			
Vascular endothelial grow	th	macrophages	permeability			
factor (VEGF)						
Tumor necrosis factor alph	na MMPs -1, -	Neutrophils,	Pleiotropic expression of growth factors,			
$(TNF-\alpha)$	2, -3, -7, -9,	keratinocytes,	inflammatory phase in wound healing			
	-12, -14 and	Langerhans cells,				
	-17	mast cells				
Interleukin-1 (IL-1)	MMP-2, -3,	Neutrophils,	As TNF-α			
	and - 9	Fibroblasts	Re-epithelialization and granulation tissue			
Insulin like growth factor-	1 MMP-1, -2,-	epidermal cells	formation			
(IGF-1)	3, -9 and -11					

(Modified from Ravanti and Kähäri, 2000; Boss and Kapsenberg, 1993; Feiken et al., 1995; Hojilla et al., 2003) 2003).

2.4. CANCER

2.4.1. Tumorigenesis and invasion

Cancer may be thought as a disease where abnormalities in genes result in gain-of- function oncogenes or loss-of-function tumor-suppressor genes. Together with other inducers these mutations cause failure to regulate proliferation, differentiation, cell death, and expression of many cell-type-specific functions properly, and result in an altered phenotype of cell and eventually cancer. Cell adhesion provides a physical restriction that inhibits cell division when cell is in contact to the neighbouring cell, a process known as cell contact inhibition. The loss of cell adhesion is a key feature of transformation. Even if abnormal cell proliferation is necessary for tumorigenesis, proliferation of cells is not a cause of tumor development in itself. In fact, tumor-stroma interactions, namely communication between matrix components, fibroblasts, endothelial and inflammatory cells (Iozzo, 1995) are in central role for tumorigenesis. In a way, tumors may be viewed as wounds that do not heal (Wernert, 1997), because as in wound healing, inflammation may arise in malignancies as part of the normal host response. Inflammatory cells, like macrophages, neutrophils and mast cells, of a developing neoplasm facilitate genomic instability, promote angiogenesis and produce chemokines and cytokines that induce or inhibit MMP transcription or activation and can influence tumor development and its microenvironment (Coussens and Werb, 2001, 2002).

In order to metastasize, cancer cell must be able to detach from the primary tumor, penetrate BM and degrade its way through ECM. Invasion of malignant epithelial cells requires altered interaction between cells and the surrounding matrix. Integrins are known to be essential in cell migration during wound healing and cancer invasion (Heino, 1996), not only by mediating the cell movement but also by regulating the expression of MMPs (see Ivaska and Heino, 2000). MMPs are typically present at the invasive front promoting metastases, but MMP levels can be elevated already in the early stages, mediating the ECM and BM degradation and establishing the microenvironment that promotes tumor growth (Overal and Lopez-Otin, 2002). Metastasis may occur via lymphatic vessels and then malignant cell must survive the circulation and be able to extravasate, and proliferate as a secondary colony in a new environment, respond to growth factors, induce angiogenesis and evade host defences (Ellis and Fidler, 1996; McCawley and Matrisian, 2000).
2.4.2. Pre-malignant and malignant lesions of the skin and oral mucosa

Keratoacanthoma (KA) is a common benign squamous neoplasm most likely derived from hair follicle cells on sun exposed skin (Schwartz, 1994). They have a rapid growth phase for the first 4-8 weeks and a possible spontaneous self-induced regression after 3-6 months (Strieth et al., 2002). Although KAs are benign, fully developed tumors have a capacity to proliferate that overlaps considerably with that of conventional, well-differentiated squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) (LeBoit, 2002). Differential diagnosis between KAs and welldifferentiated SCCs, based on clinical and histomorphological data, is problematic and there are many reports on lesions classified as KAs that have metastasized (Clausen et al., 2002). One malignancy-associated criterion is enhanced angiogenesis with increased microvessel density (Strieth et al., 2002). Furthermore, differential expression of adhesion molecules, such as E-cadherin, VCAM, ICAM and syndecan-1, has recently been reported to distinguish KA from SCC (Papadavid et al., 2001; Mukunyadzi et al., 2002; Melendez et al., 2003). Staining pattern for p53 resembles that of grade I SCCs, but they frequently show chromosomal aberrations that differ from those found in SCC (Clausen et al., 2002). Due to the lack of clear diagnostic and prognostic criteria to distinguish between KA and SCC, all KAs are currently surgically excised (see Strieth et al., 2002).

Basal cell carcinoma (BCC) is the most common malignancy in Caucasian people. The BCC incidence of Europe, USA and Australia increases by 3-6 % each year (Armstrong and Kricker, 1995). Exposure to ultraviolet radiation is the main causative factor in the pathogenesis of BCC (Kricker et al., 1994). Also ionizing radiation, chemical carcinogens (e.g. arsenic), and possibly infection with human papillomaviruses, have been associated with BCC development. BCCs are typically locally destructive but have a very limited potential to metastasize. However, people who have this condition are at high risk of developing further BCC and other malignancies (Ramsey, 2001). BCC is considered to arise from multipotential cells within the basal layer of the epidermis or follicular structures and can develop in both a hereditary and sporadic fashion. The histological features of BCC include normal basal keratinocyte resembling cells forming tumor islands, which are surrounded by fibrous stroma and peritumoral cystic space. Different kinds of growth patterns divide BCCs into subtypes such as superficial, nodular, and sclerosing types (Ramsey, 2001).

Squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) is a malignant tumor of keratinocytes of the spinous layer of the epidermis. SCC of the skin is the second most common type of skin cancer (Bernstain et al.,

1996), accounting for twenty percent of all cutaneous malignancies and frequently arising on the sun-exposed skin of the middle-aged and elderly (Johnson et al., 1992). The primary cause of cutaneous SCC is cumulative lifetime sun exposure (especially UVB). Five to ten percent of SCCs arise from sun induced precancerous lesions, actinic keratoses. Immune suppression, chronic inflammation, ionizing radiation and human papillomavirus (HPV) infection may lead to the development of SCC. SCC is highly invasive and invasion occurs through degradation of BM and ECM. There are currently no reliable prognostic tissue or serum markers in routine use to predict whether SCC has metastasized at the time of diagnosis (Helliwell et al., 2001) The tendency to metastasize lymphatically seems to be independent of the primary tumor size, pathological grading or other parameters (Werner et al., 2002). The prognostic risk factors include, diameter, depth of invasion, histologic differentiation, rapid growth, anatomic site, immune suppression, and etiology, so that tumors arising from scars and chronic ulcers tend to be aggressive (Johnson et al., 1992).

Squamous cell carcinoma of the oral cavity (SCC), a tumor of oral stratified squamous epithelium, is the sixth most common cancer worldwide (Silverman et al., 1998) and is similar to SCC of other organs. It occurs most commonly in middle aged and older individuals. Oral cancer can be divided into three categories: carcinomas of oral cavity, carcinomas of lip vermillion and carcinomas arising in oropharynx (Neville and Day, 2002). The common carcinogens causing oral SCC are tobacco and alcohol, but lip tumors are also associated with chronic sun exposure. Patient who are both heavy drinkers and heavy smokers have hundred times greater risk for developing an oral malignancy (see Neville and Day, 2002). The five-year survival rate is still about 50 %, although advances in surgery, chemotherapy and radiation as well as in diagnostics have taken place (Silverman 2001).

Verrucous carcinoma (VC) of the oral cavity (also called oral florid papillomatosis), is a rare low grade variant of oral SCC. This type of tumor invades the underlying connective tissue, and is associated with destruction of collagenous matrix. VC is slow-growing, well-differentiated and causes metastases very late (Neville and Day, 2002). However, some lesions that arise from proliferative verrucous leukoplakia may undergo dedifferentiation into an aggressive oral SCC (Hansen et al. 1985). *Verrucous hyperplasia* (VH) often preceeds VC in smokers. Clinical appearances of VC and VH are the same and thus the diagnosis practically requires recurrent biopsies. VH, however, does not histologically extend below the BM level of the surrounding normal epithelium (Neville and Day, 2002).

2.4.3. Malignant transformation of chronic wounds

In chronic leg ulcers, the risk of squamous cell cancer (SCC) is increased (Baldursson et al., 1993, 1995, 1999). Wound carcinogenesis is unpredictable and often undiagnosed for long periods of time, so that the duration of ulcer before the diagnosis of cancer can be 25 years (Baldursson et al., 1995). The molecular inducers of this type of tumorigenesis are not known, but the long duration of increased cell division in and around the ulcer is thought to be one possibility (Mekkes et al., 2003). Proliferation in chronically inflamed tissue, predisposes humans to carcinoma of the skin and other organs (Coussens and Werb, 2002). The common cause of cutaneous SCC, ultraviolet radiation seems to be an unlikely explanation, because of the assumed limited exposure of ulcer sites to UV (see Baldursson et al., 2000a). Furthermore, human papilloma virus seems not to be the cause of SCC in venous leg ulcers (Baldursson et al., 2000a).

2.4.4. MMPs in tumors

MMPs can regulate the tumor microenvironment and their expression and activation is increased in almost all human cancers compared with normal tissue. MMPs are expressed in tumors by tumor cells but even more often by surrounding stromal cells and inflammatory cells. There is no single MMP consistently overexpressed in every tumor type, or a consistent pattern of MMP expression across a variety of human cancers. At least MMP-1, -2, -3, -7, -9, -10, -11, -13 and -14 are frequently overexpressed in many human tumors (see Kerkelä and Saarialho-Kere, 2003).

The increased MMP expression in tumors is most likely due to transcriptional changes which result from activation of oncogenes or loss of tumor-suppressors (see Egeblad and Werb, 2002). The initial observation of the importance of MMPs in cancer biology was that the ability of tumor cells to invade the surrounding tissue correlated with increased MMP levels and many MMP family members have been isolated from tumor cell lines (Liotta et al., 1980). In addition to MMPs' ability to degrade ECM, initiating the development of metastasis, their role in tumorigenesis is much more complex. MMPs promote both primary tumor growth and metastatis by activating growth factors, by inactivating growth-factor binding proteins, by cleaving receptors involved in cell adhesion, unmasking cryptic sites of interaction, and by acting on ECM components or other proteins to uncover hidden biologic activities, which can affect cell proliferation, migration and angiogenesis. MMPs are thereby involved in creating an environment suitable for tumor progression or by releasing mitogenic

molecules from matrix that are important in peritumoral ECM (Stetler-Stevenson and Yu, 2001; Overall and Lopez-Otin, 2002).

MMPs regulate proliferation and apoptosis

MMPs generate growth-promoting signals by different ways. First, MMPs promote cancer cell proliferation by releasing cell-membrane bound precursors of some growth-factors, like TGF- α . Then, peptide growth-factors that are sequestered by ECM proteins, like IGF, become bioavailable after MMP degradation. In addition, MMPs regulate proliferative signals indirectly through integrins but may also reduce cancer cell growth by activating TGF- β (see Egeblad and Werb, 2002). MMPs regulate apoptosis e.g. by generating pro-apoptotic molecules like FAS ligand, a trans-membrane stimulator of the death receptor FAS or TNF- α . MMP-3 regulates apoptosis possibly by degrading laminin. MMP-7 releases membrane bound FAS ligand (see Egeblad and Werb, 2002). MMP-7 can also inhibit apoptosis by cleaving pro-heparin-binding epidermal growth factor –like growth factor (HB-EGF) to generate its mature form. This mature HB-EGF promotes cell survival by stimulating ERBB4 receptor tyrosine kinase. MMP-11 inhibits cancer-cell apoptosis by releasing IGF (see Egeblad and Werb, 2002).

MMPs regulate angiogenesis

Angiogenesis is important for tumorigenesis, because for continuous growth, tumors require nutrient and oxygen supply. Blood vessel growth is stimulated by e.g. VEGF or bFGF and inhibited by e.g. thrombospondin-1, angiostatin and endostatin. Tumor's ability to promote angiogenesis is one of the early events in the transition of a tumor from the pre-neoplastic stage to neoplastic phenotype (Hanahan et al., 1996). Studies of various human cancers have also shown a correlation between an increased number of tumor blood vessels and poor prognosis (Weidner, 1995). MMPs participate in tumor angiogenesis by allowing endothelial cell invasion through BMs to form new blood vessels by cleaving type I collagen (Seandel et al., 2001). They also regulate endothelial cell attachment, proliferation, migration and growth, either directly or by the release of growth factors (Foda and Zucker, 2001). The direct role of some MMPs in angiogenesis is known. MMP-2 participates in angiogenesis by cleaving type IV collagen. MMP-9 acts by increasing the bioavailability of VEGF and MMP-14 might have a role in fibrin degradation around the new vessels. Synthetic and endogenous MMP inhibitors reduce angiogenic responses in animal models, indicating the essential role of MMPs (Stetler-Stevenson, 1999). Paradoxically, MMPs are also responsible for generating the potent

angiogenesis inhibitors like angiostatin and endostatin. Angiostatin is an NH₂-terminal fragment of plasminogen and it effectively inhibits endothelial cell proliferation. MMPs-2, -3, -7, -9 and -12 are all capable of cleaving plasminogen to angiostatin, but MMP-12 is the most potent one (Patterson et al., 1997; Cornelius et al., 1998; Egeblad and Werb, 2002). Endostatin, which is a C-terminal fragment of the basement membrane collagen XVIII, is probably produced by MMP-3, -9, -12, -13 and -20 (Hanahan et al., 1996; see Hojilla et al., 2003). Endothelial cells can produce at least MMP-1, -2, -9, -19 and MT1-MMP, but then again, inflammatory cells and fibroblasts express many MMPs and also contribute to angiogenic phenotype.

MMPs regulate invasion and metastasizing

Invasion of malignant epithelial cells requires altered interaction between cells and the surrounding matrix. During metastasis cells have to pass through the BM and other ECM components in order to invade the surrounding stroma and then enter the blood vessels or lymphatics, extravasate and eventually establish new colonies. A direct correlation between MMP expression and the invasive phenotype of human tumors has been detected in many tissues including oral squamous cell cancers (see Stetler-Stevenson, 2001; Nelson et al., 2000). Generally, the expression of high levels of multiple MMP family members correlates positively with tumor aggressiveness, including increased invasive capacity, metastasis and poor patient survival. Invasion is facilitated by inducing cell migration. Ln-5 cleavage by MMP-2 and MMP-14 reveals a cryptic site of this molecule and induces cell motility (Giannelli et al., 1997, Koshikawa et al., 2000). The ability of MMPs to process cell adhesion molecules, e.g., cadherins contributes to the initiation of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT), which is a key differentiation event during cancer progression (Birchmeier et al., 1996). MMP-3 and MMP-7 trigger EMT by cleaving E-cadherin (Noe et al., 2001). The released fragment of Ecadherin promotes tumor cell invasion. During invasion MMP-2, -9 and -14 are localized to specialized cell membrane invadopodia on migrating cells. From there, they communicate with the surrounding tissue, MMP-2 by binding to integrins or other MMPs and MMP-9 by binding to CD44 (see Egeblad and Werb, 2002).

2.4.5. MMP gene targeting in mice showing effects on wound healing and skin cancer

Evidence for the critical role of MMPs are provided with transgenic and knock-out mice. Knock-out mice for MMPs-2, -3, -7, -8, -9, -11, -12 and -14 as well as for TIMPs-1, -2 and -3 have been introduced (Egeblad and Werb, 2002). In plasminogen-deficient mice, Rømer et al.

(1996) demonstrated impaired healing of wounds although epithelialization was not totally blocked. Using the same animal wound model, Lund et al. (1999) were able to completely block healing by systemic administration of the synthetic MMP inhibitor GM 6001. MMP-9 - deficient mice have defects in remodeling of ECM at the epithelial BM zone, in particular, due to failure to effectively remove the fibrin(ogen) provisional matrix (Mohan et al., 2002). Evidence for the critical role of MMPs also in tumorigenesis has been provided with transgenic and knock-out mice. Mice overexpressing MMP-1 or MMP-7 are characterized by hyperproliferative skin disease and increased cancer susceptibility (see Egeblad and Werb, 2002). Overexpression of MMP-3 and MMP-7 in transgenic mice results in enhanced tumorigenesis in a breast cancer model (Sternlicht, 1999; Rudolph-Owen et al., 1998) Furthermore, MMP-deficient mice (MMP-2, -9 and -14) demonstrate defective angiogenesis (Itoh et al., 1998; Vu et al., 1998). However, there are very few studies on transgenic mice models indicating effects on skin carcinogenesis (see Table 3).

Table 3. MMP gene targeting in mice showing effects on skin carcinogenesis or wound healing.

MMP gene	Phenotype	Reference
Overexpression of MMP-1	Enhanced tumor formation in skin with chemical inducers	D'Armiento et al., 1995
Lack of MMP-8	Increased incidence of skin tumors in male mice	Balbin et al., 2003
Lack of MMP-2	Reduced tumor progression	Wilson et al., 1997
Lack of MMP-7	Reduced tumor progression Inability to repair mucosal epithelial wounds	Itoh et al., 1998 Dunsmore et al., 1998
Lack of MMP-9	Reduced keratinocyte proliferation, decreased incidence of invasive tumors	Coussens et al., 2000
Lack of MMP-3	Impaired wound contraction	Bullard et al., 1999
(stromelysin-1)	Less chemically induced tumors and reduced tumor cell implantation	Masson et al., 1998
Overexpression of TIMP-1	Delayed wound healing, retarded migration of epithelial cells	Salonurmi et al., 2003

3. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The principal aim of this study was to examine the role of matrix metalloproteinases in wound healing and in epithelial cancers as well as in malignant transformation of chronic wounds. We aimed to study the underlying mechanisms for delayed epithelialization in chronic wounds. We wanted to investigate if the expression patterns of certain MMPs could serve as molecular markers to predict tumorigenesis of pre-malignant lesions, and on the other hand, the invasiveness of tumors.

In order to develop targeted MMP inhibitors for therapy, the MMPs been expressed in various types and stages of cancer or in chronic wound must be carefully identified. The specific aims of the study were as follows:

I) To investigate the role of MMPs on acute and chronic wound healing by combining enzyme activity assays, immunohistochemistry and in situ hybridization techniques.

II) To study the influence of MMPs and serine proteinases in epidermal wound healing ex vivo using a synthetic broad-spectrum MMP inhibitor (BB3103) or a serine proteinase antagonist (aprotinin).

III) To investigate whether the pattern of epithelial MMP expression is associated with development of SCC from pseudoepitheliomatous hyperplasia of chronic wounds. Keratoacanthomas were studied in parallel as a model of rapidly growing, but still benign hyperproliferative tumors, resembling SCCs.

IV) To study whether the recently discovered MMP-19 is induced in the epithelium during remodeling associated with either wound repair or cancer invasion.

V) To investigate whether the pattern of MMP, $\alpha\nu\beta6$ integrin or laminin-5 expression contributes to the differences in the biological behavior of oral SCC and VC. Particular emphasis was on the newly discovered MMP-19 and -26 that have not previously been studied in oral cancer.

4. MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1. Tissue samples

All studies were approved by the Ethics Committees (KF 01-072/94; TIA 4014; LU 508-99). Informed consent was obtained from participating individuals for all procedures.

Chronic wounds (I-IV)

Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded archival specimens were obtained from the Departments of Dermatopathology and Plastic Surgery, Helsinki University Central Hospital and University of Turku. For publications I and III all together 64 different *chronic ulcers* (venous, decubitus, rheumathoid arthritis or diabetic origin) were included. Biopsies from chronic ulcers included ulcer edge and base and surrounding intact skin.

Acute wounds (I-IV)

For adequate comparison of acute and chronic wound healing, 3 *standardized wound types* in humans were studied: ¹⁾ *partial-thickness* wounds (n=6), 0.4 mm in depth, ²⁾ *full-thickness* wounds (n=12), 8-mm in depth and ³⁾ *suction blisters* with intact roofs (n=4) (Vaalamo et al., 1999). In addition, clinically *well-granulating ulcers* (n=6) obtained from the Department of Plastic Surgery, Helsinki University Central Hospital, were used in the study.

Full thicknes wounds were made on the anterior thigh of venous leg ulcer patients undergoing a pinch graftting procedure (Vaalamo et al., 1996). The pinch graft donor area were excised with a knife daily on ds 1 to 6 and on d 9 and fixed in 10% formalin (Vaalamo et al., 1999). Suction blisters were induced on the abdominal skin using Dermovac[®] blistering device (Kiistala, 1968). Biopsies from excised skin on the d-0 dermatome wounds and 6- mm punch biopsies of wound margin on post-wounding day 1 to 7 included surrounding intact skin. Each biopsy was cut into half, one half was fixed in 10% formalin for 24 h and the other half was frozen at -80°C. Variations over the time were also investigated by taking wound margin biopsy specimens after the first and the last sampling of wound fluid.

Ex vivo human skin wound models (I-II)

In publication I, 5- mm biopsies (n=23) of normal skin from different parts of the body, were cultured in 35-mm dishes in DMEM (Gibco BRL, Life Technologies, Paisley, Scotland) supplemented with 5 % fetal bovine serum and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Rechardt et al, 2000). At 24, 48 and 72 h the tissue samples were fixed in 10% formalin and prosessed for

paraffin embedding.

The *ex vivo* human skin wound model used in publication II, was originally developed by Kratz et al. (1994). Skin was donated by healthy female patients under 30 y old, undergoing elective mammary reduction plasty. Circular wounds were made using a sterile 3-mm trephine within 4 h after removal. The individual wounds (0,5 mm in depth) were excised using a sterile 6-mm trephine with the wound in the center. Each specimen was incubated submerged in 1 ml of complete culture medium (DMEM, 4.5 mg glucose/ml, 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 μ g penicillin/ml, 100 U streptomycin/ml and 10% heat-inactivated mycoplasma-screened fetal calf serum (FCS, Gibco)) in a 24-well plate at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂/air. The calcium concentration was determined to 1.8 mM and the medium was exchanged every other day. To study cell proliferation, 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine (BrdU; Sigma) was added at 10 μ M 24 h prior to termination d 7, at which time medium was replaced with 1 ml 10% buffered formalin per well.

Conditioning of skin specimens with the wound site (II)

Separate skin explants, excised from the same donor, were conditioned in parallel to the ones described above. At days 0 and 7, the explants were conditioned for 10 h in serum-free DMEM alone, or serum-free DMEM supplemented with 10 μ M BB-3103, 10 or 100 μ g/ml aprotinin. The water-soluble, broad spectrum and hydroxamic acid-based synthetic peptide MMP inhibitor BB-3103 (Mr 475.6 Da; British Biotech Pharmaceuticals Ltd., Oxford, UK) was used at 10 μ M. IC₅₀-values indicating the MMP inhibitory profile of BB-3103 were 2 nM for MMP-1, 10 nM for MMP-2, 30 nM for MMP-3, 20 nM for MMP-7, 7 nM for MMP-9, 4 nM for MMP-13 and the IC₅₀ for TACE (TNF- α converting enzyme) was 800 nM as provided by the manufacturer. The complete culture medium served as controls in the BB-3103 series. Cytotoxicity of BB-3103 on human epidermal keratinocytes was assessed using the MTT assay essentially as described by Newby et al. (2000) using a kit from Roche (Cat. no. 1465007).One part of 1.4 mg aprotinin per ml saline or 0.14 mg aprotinin per ml saline was mixed with 13 parts of complete culture medium and complete culture medium diluted with corresponding volume of saline served as control to the aprotinin-treated groups.

After conditioning, the media were collected and skin samples were incubated for a further 30 min at ambient temperature with CompleteTM (1697498; Boehringer Mannheim GmbH, Mannheim, Germany) proteinase inhibitor cocktail containing 1 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid and supplemented with 1 μ M pepstatin (253286; Boehringer Mannheim) to inhibit serine,

cysteine, aspartic and metalloproteinases present in the tissue. The conditioned media and explants were stored at -70°C until analyzed.

Pre-malignant lesions and skin cancers (III-IV)

Skin samples included benign lesions of KAs (n=12) and premalignant tumors of solar keratosis (n=3). Biopsies from the following malignant epidermal were collected: BCC (n = 16), Bowen's disease (n=4), SCCs (n=24, grades I-IV) and SCCs arisen in chronic wounds (n=9) (Baldursson et al., 1999). All samples were obtained from the Universities of Helsinki and Turku. Diagnoses were made by two experienced pathologists (LJ and SS).

Oral tissues (V)

Formalin-fixed, paraffin embedded samples of oral SCC (n=15), VC (n=15), gingival hyperplasia (n=13), and VH (n= 16) were obtained from the University of Helsinki, Faculty of Dentistry and from the University of British Columbia, Department of Oral Biological and Medical Sciences, Vancouver, Canada. The diagnoses were made by two experienced oral pathologists (JH and LZ).

4.2. Immunohistochemistry (I-V)

Immunostaining of the sections was performed by the avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex technique using Vectastain ABC Kit (Vector Laboratories, Inc., Burlingame, CA), Zymed Kit (Zymed Laboratories Inc., San Francisco, CA) or DAKO Kit (DAKO, A/S, Glostrup, Denmark). Samples were deparaffinized, dehydrated and endogenous peroxidase was blocked with 0,3-0,6% hydrogen peroxidase. Normal serum was used to block non-specific staining. Sections were pre-treated with trypsin (10 mg/ml) or micro-waving in citrate buffer (pH 6.0). Primary antibodies (see Table 4.) were incubated in humidified atmosphere for 1-3 h at 37°C or overnight at 4°C. Diaminobenzidine was used as chromogen and Harris hematoxylin as the counterstain, as described in detail (Saarialho-Kere et al, 1993). Controls were performed with mouse immunoglobulins or with rabbit preimmune serum. The Apoptaq in situ apoptosis detection kit (Oncor Inc., Gaithersburg, MD), a TUNEL technique, was used to detect fragmented DNA of apoptotic cells as described elsewhere (Airola et al., 1997).

Antibody	Source	Dilution /pre-treatment
MMP-2	IM33L,Calbiochem, Cambridge,MA	1:200 /trypsin
MMP-7	IM40L, Calbiochem	1:50
MMP-8	IM38L, Oncogene, Cambridge, MA	1:10 / trypsin
MMP-9	GE-213, Diabor, Oulu, Finland	1:300 /trypsin
MMP-13	IM64L, Oncogene	1:40
MMP-14	IM42L,Oncogene	1:40
MMP-19 (IV)	RDI-MMP-19abR, Flanders, NJ and	1:70
MMP-19 (III-V)	PC374, Oncogene	1:40
MMP-26 (V)	A gift from Prof. Keichi Isaka (Isaka et al., 2003)	1:200
γ2 chain of LN-5	A gift from Prof. Karl Tryggvason (Pyke et al,	1:600
	1994).	
p16 ^{INK4}	G175-405; BD Biosciences	1:350
E-cadherin	HECD-1, Zymed, San Francisco, CA	1:60-1:100
Selectin-1	CD138, Clone B-B4, Oxford Biotechnology, JE	1:400
Col IV	M785, Dako, Glostrup, Denmark	1:75 /trypsin
TNF-α	Rockland, Gilbertsville, PA	1:100
Ki67	A047, Dako	1:200
p63	Clone 4A4, Neomarkers, Fermont, CA	1:200
CD31	PECAM-1, Clone JC/70A; Dako	1:10
BrdU	M 744; Dako	1:100

Table 4. Antibodies used in immunohistochemistry.

4.3. RNA probes (I, III-V)

The production and specificity of the antisense and sense human MMP-1, -3, -10, -12, -13, and 14 probes have been described previously (Rechardt et al, 2000; Kerkelä et al., 2001; Saarialho-Kere et al., 1993; Vaalamo et al., 1998; Pender et al, 2000). As a control for nonspecific hybridization, sections were hybridized with ³⁵S-labeled sense RNA from a bovine tropoelastin cDNA. The validity of this probe as a negative control has been confirmed by Northern (Prosser et al, 1989) and by in situ hybridization (Saarialho-Kere et al, 1992). A 2.6 kb cDNA containing the entire coding region for human β 6 integrin was subcloned into pCDNAIneo plasmid (Weinacker et al., 1994). The construct was linearized with PvuII and a 450 bp antisense probe was obtained using sp6 polymerase. Linearization was done with SspI and transcription with T7 gave a sense probe of equal length. The probe was sequenced.

4.4. In situ hybridisation (I, III-V)

In situ hybridization was performed on 5- μ m sections as described in detail (Prosser et al., 1989). Sections were pre-treated with 1 μ g/ml of proteinase K and washed in 0,1 M triethanolamine containing 0,24 % acetic acid. Sections were hybridized with ³⁵S-labeled probes (3 x 10⁴ cpm/ μ l of hybridization buffer) at 50-55°C for at least 18 h in a humidified chamber. Slides were then washed under stringent conditions. RNAse A treatment was used to wash out the unhybridised probe. After 20-50 d of autoradiography, the photographic emulsion was

developed, and the slides were stained with hematoxylin and eosin. Samples previously positive for the studied mRNAs were used as positive controls. No signal was detected with the sense probes. The slides were analysed independently by two investigators.

4.5. Cell cultures (IV)

Primary human keratinocytes were isolated from normal adult skin obtained from reductive mammoplasties (Rechardt et al., 2000). Subcutaneous fat and deep dermis were removed, and the remaining tissuewas incubated overnight at 0.25% trypsin in solution A (Gibco BRL, Life Technologies). Following the incubation, keratinocytes were scraped off from the epidermis with a scalpel and suspended in Keratinocyte Growth Medium (KGM, Gibco), supplemented with 5 ng/ml epidermal growth factor (EGF) and 50 μ g/ml bovine pituitary extract (BPE) (supplied by the vendor), and containing 2% decalcified fetal calf serum (FCS). Keratinocytes were maintained in KGM supplemented with EGF and BPE, and passages 1 to 5 were used in the experiments. For immunostaining, primary keratinocytes (in both low and high Ca⁺² KGM) were also cultured on Laboratory-Tek chamber slides (plastic or type I collagen coated) and immunostained using MMP-19 and Ki-67 antibodies as described for tissue samples.

HaCaT cells, an immortalized non-tumorigenic human adult epidermal keratinocyte cell line (Boukamp et al., 1988) and *A5 cells*, a ras-transformed tumorigenic HaCaT- derived cell line (Boukamp et al., 1990) were kindly provided by Prof. Norbert Fusenig (Deutsche Krebsforschungszentrum, Heidelberg, Germany). HaCaT and A5 cells were cultured in DMEM containing 10% FCS. *UT-SCC-7 cell line*, which forms squamous cell carcinomas in SCID mice (Ahonen et al., 2002) was established from metastasis of a cutaneous SCC at the time of operation in the Turku University Central Hospital (Servomaa et al., 1996) Cell lines were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 6 mM glutamine, non-essential amino acids and 10% fetal calf serum (FCS). The SCC cells were examined in subcultures 5 to 10 and were homogenous by visual inspection

4.6. Cytokines and growth factors (IV)

To study the regulation of MMP-19 expression primary keratinocytes were plated on 24-well tissue culture plates. 70-80% confluent cells were repeatedly washed with PBS and incubated overnight in KGM without supplements or FCS. After this, keratinocytes were treated with different cytokines or growth factors for 24 h (see Table 5.). All treatments were done in KGM

and in KGM with 1.8mM Ca^{2+} , without supplements or FCS. After 24 h total RNA was extracted from the cells. Untreated cells were used as a control.

Cytokine/ Growth factor	Source	Concentration
TNF-α	Sigma, St Louis, MO	10 ng/ml
IL-1β	Roche Molecular Biochemicals, Mannheim,	5 ng/ml
	Germany	
TGF-β1	Sigma	1-5 ng/ml
EGF	Sigma	10 ng/ml
KGF	Sigma	10 ng/ml
HGF	Sigma	10 ng/ml
VEGF	R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN	10 ng/ml
IGF-1	R&D Systems	100 ng/ml
IL-10	R&D Systems	10 ng/ml
IFN-γ	Promega, WI, USA	1 ng/ml
bFGF	Sigma	10 ng/ml
РМА	Sigma	10 ng/ml

Table 5. Cytokines and growth factors used in the study

4.7. Quantitative reverse transcription (RT)-polymerase chain reaction (PCR) (IV)

Total cellular RNA from the keratinocytes was extracted by using RNeasy miniprep-kit (Qiagen, Chatsworth, CA) according to the manufacturers's instructions. RNA was then reverse transcribed to cDNA with TaqMan® Reverse Transcription Reagents (Applied Biosystems) and used as a template in PCR reaction. Real time quantitative PCR reactions were performed with the ABI PRISM® 7700 Sequence Detector System (Applied Biosystems) (Rechard et al., 2000). PCR primers and MGB probe for MMP-19 were designed using the computer program Primer Express (Applied Biosystems). Primers used for amplification were: forward 5'-GCTTCCTACTCCCATGACAGT-3', and reverse 5'-GGCTTCTGTAGGTACCCATATTGT -3'. The fluorogenic MGB probe (CCCGTGGACTACCTG) contained a reporter dye (FAM) covalently attached at the 5'end and a quencher dye (TAMRA) covalently attached at the 3'end. PCR amplifications were performed in a total volume of 20 µl, containing 5µl cDNA sample, 10 µl TaqMan® Universal PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems), 200 nM of each primer and 200 nM of fluorogenic probe. Pre-developed TaqMan® assay reagents for endogenous control human GAPDH labeled with VICTM reporter dye (Applied Biosystems) were used for amplification of control gene. PCR was started with 2 min at 50°C and the initial 10 min denaturing temperature was 94°C, followed by a total of 40 cycles of 15 s of denaturing and 1 min of annealing and elongation at 60°C. The same reactions were done by conventional PCR with primers without fluorogenic probes. PCR products were analysed in 1% low melting point agarose gel in the presence of 5 ng/ml ethidium bromide under UV light.

4.8. Northern analysis (IV)

Total cellular RNA was isolated from cell cultures using the single step method. Aliquots of total RNA (6-20 µg) were fractionated on a 0.8 % agarose gel containing 2.2 M formaldehyde, transferred to a nylon membrane (Zeta-Probe®, Bio-Rad Laboratories, Richmond CA) and analyzed by Northern blot hybridization using cDNA probes. The probes were labeled with [α -³²P] dCTP by random priming using the RediprimeTM II Random Prime Labelling System kit (Amersham, UK). For hybridizations, a 1.5 kb MMP-19 cDNA (Pendas et al., 1997), a 2.0 kb human MMP-1 cDNA (Goldberg et al., 1986) and a 1.3 kb rat GAPDH cDNA were used as probes. [³²P]-cDNA/mRNA hybrids were visualized by autoradiography and quantitated by scanning densitometry.

4.9. Western analysis (II, IV)

Western analysis was used to assay the presence of MMP- 1, -2 and -14 protein in tissue extracts and the production of MMP-19 protein by primary epidermal keratinocytes. Tissue extracts were mixed with equal volume of 2 × sample buffer containing 50 mM 2mercaptoethanol. The mixture was boiled for 5 min, fractioned by a 7.5% SDS-PAGE, and electroblotted onto nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad). The cell culture medium was collected after 24 h of incubation, concentrated 15-fold with Amicon Ultra Centricon (30,000 MWCO; Millipore Corporation, MA), separated on 8.5% SDS-PAGE and transferred to a Hybond ECL filter (Amersham). After blocking all membranes in PBS containing 5% milk and 0.1% Tween-20, membranes were incubated overnight with mouse monoclonal antibodies against MMP-1 (1:5000; MAB1346; Chemicon), MMP-2 (1:1000; MAB3308; Chemicon), or against MMP-14 (1:1000; AB815; Chemicon) or with a monoclonal antibody against human MMP-19 protein (a kind gift from Dr. Carlos López-Otín, University of Oviedo, Oviedo, Spain) in a final concentration of 2 µg/ml for 1h at room temperature. The specific binding of primary antibodies was detected with peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody diluted 1:1000 and visualized with ECLTM (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Buckinghamshire, UK). Antibody against MMP-1 (AB806, Chemicon) was used as a control for MMP-19.

4.10. Samples of wound fluids (I)

Wound fluids were collected from the dermatome wounds and from venous leg ulcers. Sterile hydrophobic polyurethane foam disks were applied to the wound and covered by a polyurethane film dressing (Tegaderm[®], 3M). 2h after application, the collecting system was removed, wound cleansed with sterile saline (0.9% NaCl) and a new collecting system was applied and left on the wound for another 24 h at 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 days postoperatively. In the case of the venous leg ulcer, compression bandages were applied during the whole collection period. Collection of wound fluid was performed at inclusion and then after 1, 2 and 3 weeks. The ulcer was treated locally with an inert, non-adhesive and absorbing dressing between the sampling periods. Wound fluids were filtered (0.45 μ m) and kept at -80°C until analyzed by zymography.

4.11. Extraction of MMPs (I, II)

Skin samples (n=34) were thawed, weighed and shaken in 20/40 volumes of buffer containing 10 mM cacodylate-HCl pH 6.0, 1 M NaCl, 0.01% (vol/vol) Triton X-100, 1 µM ZnCl₂, 0.2 mg NaN₃ per ml and 1 μ l of proteinase inhibitor cocktail (539134; Calbiochem[®]) per ml for 18 h at 4°C (Eeckhout et al., 1986). In a complementary experiment, extraction was carried out in the buffer devoid of the proteinase inhibitor cocktail. Wound tissue extracts were centrifuged, sterile filtered, and kept in supernatant at 4°C until analyzed by zymography within 24 h. Freezing of extracts was avoided due to activation of MMPs by freeze-thaw-cycles (unpublished data). Because the extraction method of Eeckhout et al. (1986) was originally optimized for bone tissues, the MMP levels of the extracts were compared with those extracted by a standard method on some wounded skin samples (Ågren et al., 1998). Tissues were homogenized in 20 volumes of 0.25% Triton X-100 and 10 mM CaCl₂ for 1 min on ice with Polytron[®] PT 1200 Cl (4962300; Buch & Holm, Herlev, Denmark) tissue grinder and centrifuged (Ågren et al., 1998). Protein contents were determined according to a modified Lowry assay (DC Protein Assay, 500 0112; Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA). Standard curves were run with bovine serum albumin (Bio-Rad) (0.008-1.0 mg/ml) and absorbances read at 650 nm.

4.12. MMP activity analyses (I)

For quantitative analyses of MMP activities in tissue extracts, ELISA-type assay kits from Amersham Pharmacia Biotech were used for MMP-2 (RPN2631) and for MMP-9 (RPN2630). Specific antibodies were pre-coated onto a microtitre plate capture MMPs. Active MMP present activates the pro-detection enzyme, enabling it to cleave a chromogenic peptide

substrateresulting in p-nitroanilide detection molecule. Endogenous tissue MMP activities were measured without prior activation, total MMP activities were measured for MMP-2 after activation with 0.5 mM aminophenylmercuric acetate (APMA) for 1.5 h and for MMP-9 with 1 mM APMA for 2.5 h according to manufacturer's instructions. Standard curves with human MMP-2 (0.19-12 ng/ml) and MMP-9 (0.125-16 ng/ml) were run simultaneously. Absorbances were read at 405 nm.

4.13. Zymographic analyses of wound fluids, conditioned media and tissue extracts (I, II)

Latent and active forms of MMP-2 and MMP-9 were determined using 0.5 mg/ml gelatin (G-8150; Sigma) of a 7.5% or 10% SDS-PAGE. Thirty μ l of tissue extracts, wound fluids or conditioned media were mixed with 10 μ l of 4 × sample buffer (0.0625 M Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 2% (w/v) SDS, 10% (v/v) glycerol and 0.04 % (w/v) bromophenol blue. Aliquots of 25 μ l were applied to each lane. A human MMP-2 (50 ng/ μ l)/MMP-9 (50 ng/ μ l) standard (19101670; Chemicon International Inc.,) was run in a parallel lane. After electrophoresis at 25 mA constant current, the gels were washed 3 times in 2.5% Triton X-100 and incubated in a buffer composed of 5 mM CaCl₂, 1 μ M ZnCl₂, 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 0.1% Triton X-100 and 0.003 M NaN₃ for 18 h at 37°C in a closed container with continuous shaking. Zymograms were stained in 0.25% Coomassie Brilliant Blue R-250, 10% acetic acid and 45% methanol for 30 min and destained for 30 min in 20% acetic acid, 20% methanol, 17% ethanol and 0.6% diethylether (Kleiner and Stetler-Stevenson, 1994). Gels were mounted, dried and scanned. The intensity of the gelatin degradation bands was determined with a densitometer (Eagle Eye 2, Strategene Eagle Sight, Strategene Ltd., Cambridge, UK) and expressed in kpixels/inch².

To study if residual BB-3103 in samples *per se* interfered with detection of MMP activity by zymography, BB-3103 at 10 μ M was added to d-7 conditioned media from control-treated wounds. Conditioned media with or without BB-3103 were then incubated for 30 min at room temperature followed by zymographic analysis. To visualize MMP activation by APMA treatment in activity assays, tissue extracts were incubated either with 1% DMSO alone or with 0.5 mM APMA in 1% DMSO for 1.5 h (MMP-2) and 1 mM APMA for 2.5 h (MMP-9) at 37°C and zymography was performed.

4.14. Cytokine and growth factor analyses of conditioned media (II)

Sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent (ELISA) assays were used to determine human tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), epidermal growth factor (EGF), hepatocyte

growth factor (HGF), keratinocyte growth factor (KGF) and tumor growth factor- β 1 (TGF- β 1) in incubation or conditioned media. The high sensitivity TNF- α kit (RPN 2788) from Amersham Pharmacia Biotech employed an amplification reagent for enhancement of binding of TNF- α in incubation media. Quantikine[®] ELISA kits from R&D Systems Inc. (Minneapolis) were used to determine human EGF (DEG00), human KGF (DKG00), human HGF (DHG00), human IL-1 β (DLB50) and human TGF- β 1 (DB100) in conditioned media according to the manufacturer's instructions. Prior to assaying TGF- β 1, the samples were treated with 0.17 N HCl for 10 min at room temperature and then neutralized with 0.17 NaOH/0.07 N Hepes. To check for interference with the different ELISA assay kits, representative conditioned media from all groups and the proteinase inhibitors BB-3103 at 10 μ M and aprotinin at 100 μ g/ml alone were added to standard antigens diluted appropriately in separate wells and run in parallel to the samples.

5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Controlled spatial and temporal expression of MMPs is crucial for normal wound healing. MMPs have also been implicated at all stages of tumorigenesis. In order to further understand their role in normal and aberrant wound healing as well as in human epithelial cancers, we concentrated on studying the MMP expression *in vivo*. In situ hybridisation and immunohistochemistry were used to investigate localizations of MMPs in tissues. In order to discover novel prognostic markers for carcinogenesis of chronic wounds, we compared the MMP profile of SCCs arisen in chronic wounds to that of non-malignant chronic venous ulcers. KAs were studied in parallel as a model of rapidly growing, but benign hyperproliferative tumors, resembling SCCs. We investigated the markers that could predict tumorigenesis in cutaneous and oral premalignant lesions, like actinic keratoses and verrucous hyperplasias. Therefore MMP expression pattern in BCCs and SCCs as well as in VCs and SCCs of oral tissues were studied. Transcriptional studies (Northern blot, Taqman PCR), and enzyme activity analysess (zymography, ELISA, Western blot analysis) were used to measure the expression levels and activities of MMPs in tissues and ulcer fluids and in cell extracts.

5.1. MMP-9 is differentially expressed in human acute and chronic wounds in vivo (I, II)

The localization of MMP-9 protein was quite different between acute and chronic wounds, although no differencies in the overall enzyme activity was observed in the two wound types. In acute wounds, MMP-9 was predominantly expressed by migrating keratinocytes in the advancing epithelium, whereas in chronic ulcers, MMP-9 expression was abundant in macrophages and neutrophils of the wound bed (I, Fig. 3. and 4.). The epithelial edge bordering chronic wounds was only rarely positive. Interestingly, this contrasts the findings with MMP-1, and stromelysins (MMP-3 and MMP-10), which are usually detected at the epithelial edges of chronic wounds (Saarialho-Kere, 1998) (see summary in Figure 4, p 54.). Expression of MMP-9 in keratinocytes bordering acute wound is in agreement with data obtained in oral mucosal wounds and rat and mouse wound models (Salo et al., 1994; Okada et al., 1997; Madlener et al., 1998; Lund et al., 1999). Lack of MMP-9 in keratinocytes bordering chronic wounds could indicate their non-migratory phenotype, although MMP-9 knock-out mice do not demonstrate any delay in wound healing, possibly due to compensation by other MMPs or serine proteinases (Lund et al., 1999). Results with mice are not necessarily directly adjustable to humans as there are differencies in MMP expression when comparing mice to men, different animal species to each other and also wounds of different tissues in the same species as well as gender

differencies in mice (Fini et al., 1996; Okada et al., 1997; Madlener et al., 1998; Balbin et al., 2003). In wounded HaCaT keratinocyte cultures MMP-9 expression does not correlate with migration (Mäkelä et al., 1999) and indeed it could play a role in cleaving type IV collagen during BM remodelling associated with wound healing. This is further substantiated by the fact that MMP-9 is upregulated during maturation of the epidermis in suction blister models (Oikarinen et al., 1993), in which BM remains essentially intact during epithelialization. Thomas et al., (2001b) found that MMP-9 is upregulated through cell contact with fibronectin via the $\alpha v\beta 6$ integrin, which is abundantly expressed in the chronic wound epithelium (Häkkinen et al., 2004). Fibronectin, however, seems to be deficient in chronic wounds (Herrick et al., 1992) so it can not be an MMP-9 inducing ligand in this context. We hypothesize that ECM degradation by inflammatory cell-derived MMP-9 in chronic ulcers deprives wound edge keratinocytes of stimulatory cell-matrix protein interactions that are a prerequisite for epithelial MMP expression and migration (Ågren et al., 2000). Alternatively, MMP-9 in wound edge keratinocytes could remodel the deposited BM components in healing wounds (Yi et al., 2001; Daniels et al., 2003). Fini et al. (1996) attributed the failure of epithelium to cover corneal defects due to excessive degradation of BM molecules by MMP-9. MMP-9 -deficient mice reveal defects in remodeling of ECM at the epithelial BM zone and in particular, a failure to effectively remove the fibrin(ogen) provisional matrix (Mohan et al., 2002). They also indicated that MMP-9 acts to inhibit the rate of wound closure due to control of cell proliferation and delay of the inflammatory response.

In this study, the overall MMP-9 enzyme activities did not differ between acute and chronic wounds, although latent MMP-9 increased in chronic wound tissues and fluids (I, Fig. 1. and 2.), confirming results of other previous studies on wound fluids of chronic ulcers (Wysocki et al, 1993; Yager et al, 1996; Bullen et al, 1995; Trengove et al, 1999). MMP-9 upregulated already 24 h post-wounding in epithelial cells in normally healing wounds and it was found up till 9 d in the epidermis of wounds that were epithelialized. This is in accordance with previous studies, which have shown that well healing wounds express maximal levels of MMP-9 at 24 h, followed by a significant decline by 48 h (Tarlton et al., 1997; Ågren et al., 1998). As a conclusion, chronic non-healing wounds are not caused by excessive MMP-9 activity in the ulcer.

5.2. MMP-2 and MMP-14 are expressed by stromal cells in acute and chronic wounds (I, II)

MMP-2 was expressed in stromal fibroblasts, endothelial cells and under the BM zone in stromal connective tissue. Protein was detected both in acute and chronic wounds. No MMP-2 protein was found in the epithelium of wounds (see summary in Figure 4, p 54.). Mäkelä et al. (1999) presented *in vitro* evidence that keratinocyte-derived MMP-2 has a crucial role in keratinocyte migration and mobility at least in gingival keratinocytes. Although no epithelial MMP-2 was found here, epithelial cells could express MMP-2 earlier than 24 h post-wounding as there was occasionally a band-like immunostaining at the BM zone under the epithelium of the wound edge (I, Fig.5.). Ln-5 was detected in the same area, so the active MMP-2 might function in the cleavage of Ln-5.

Endogenous activity of MMP-2 enzyme was determined in normal skin, and in wound margin biopsies of acute dermatome wounds on postwounding days 1 and 7 as well as in biobsies of chronic wounds. Activity increased from d 1 to d 7 in acute wounds and was higher than in normal skin, but MMP-2 levels in chronic wounds did not differ significantly from those of acute wounds (I, Fig. 1. and 2.). Our findings are in contrast with the report by Ashcroft et al. (1997) localizing MMP-2 in epithelium, particularly in older subjects. The qualities of antibodies used or the use of paraffin versus frozen tissue may explain this discrepancy.

In acute wounds and in *ex vivo* explants MMP-14 (MT1-MMP) expression was detected in fibroblasts, but epithelial cells were negative. The same pattern was observed in chronic wounds and well-granulating ulcers, where abundant expression of MMP-14 protein was detected in fibroblasts of the wound bed by immunohistochemistry and mRNA by in situ hybridization. Epithelial cells were always negative. *In vitro* studies have related migration of breast epithelial cells to MMP-14 expression (Gianelli et al., 1997; Koshikawa et al., 2000), whereas other groups have not detected MMP-14 in normal epithelial cells. However it has been shown in transformed epithelial carcinoma cells (Seiki, 1999). Migration of some epithelial cell lines was attributed to the expression of MMP-14 (Koshikawa et al., 2000). Here, I could not detect MMP-14 protein in epithelium of acute or chronic wounds, nor in our *ex vivo* model. Moreover, MMP-14 levels were similar in BB-3103-treated wounds and controls. These findings suggest that MMP-14 is not important for epithelialization, verifying earlier in vivo results (Okada et al., 1997). However, stromal MMP-14 co-localized with MMP-2 in fibroblasts, a phenomenon also found in rodent wounds (Okada et al., 1997).

5.3. Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor BB-3103 blocks epithelialization in human skin ex vivo wound model indicating the need for MMP activity in wound healing (II)

Several MMPs have been shown to be upregulated in migrating epithelial cells (Saarialho-Kere, 2002). Their importance in wound repair is further substantiated by the fact that MMP inhibitors, such as GM 6001 and chemically modified tetracyclines, retard epithelialization (Lund et al., 1999). We investigated the epithelial migration with or without treatment with proteinase inhibitor BB-3103 in an ex vivo skin wound model. Because of the previously reported importance of the plasminogen system on epithelialization (Rømer et al., 1996; Lund et al., 1999), skin explants containing a wounded site were also incubated with the serine proteinase inhibitor aprotinin.

Inhibition of MMPs with BB-3103 blocked epithelialization completely, whereas aprotinin did not have any significant effect, indicating the requirement for one or more MMPs in epidermal wound healing (II, Fig. 1.and 2.). As expected, the broad-spectrum MMP inhibitor prevented activation of both MMP-2 and MMP-9 as probably many other MMPs. Aprotinin blocked enzyme activation of MMP-9, but not MMP-2 (II, Fig.6.), a result which might be explained by the fact that the majority of MMPs, except for MMP-2, are directly activated by plasmin *in vitro* (Carmeliet et al., 1997; Creemers et al., 1998; Murphy et al., 1999).

Different experimental models could explain the discrepancy between our findings and the *in vivo* results in mice of Lund et al. (1999). Our interest was to elucidate the effect of serine proteinases specifically in the epithelialization of wounded sites in skin explants free from influences of fibrin and inflammatory cells. For example, the effect of aprotinin on clot formation would make interpretation difficult. In our *ex vivo* excisional wound model, keratinocytes move over a collagenous matrix to cover the epidermal defect, whereas *in vivo* migration occurs mainly over a fibrin-rich provisional matrix in full-thickness incisional wounds. Supporting our findings, Ando and Jensen (1996), demonstrated that movement of human keratinocytes was unrelated to the proteolytic activities of the uPA/plasminogen system. In addition, aprotinin at 100 μ g/ml did not influence the random motility or dispersion of single human keratinocytes (Ando and Jansen., 1996; McCawley et al., 1998). No difference between uPA expression at the leading edge of keratinocytes in well-healing wounds and chronic leg ulcers has been detected (Vaalamo et al., 1996). In earlier *in vitro* wound healing studies, aprotinin has been described to inhibit contraction of collagen type I lattices populated with human fibroblasts or endothelial cells (Pins et al., 2000; Davis et al., 2001).

Our immunohistochemical studies on these *ex vivo* samples showed that MMP-9, but not MMP-2, was found in migrating keratinocytes (II, Fig.4). In another human *ex vivo* study, migrating bronchial epithelial cells were shown to be MMP-9 immunopositive (Legrand et al., 1999). Keratinocyte-derived MMP-9 is preferentially bound to the cell surface, but not to the ECM molecules deposited by human mucosal keratinocytes *in vitro*, implying that there is no functional role for MMP-9 (Mäkelä et al., 1998). Migration of human bronchial epithelium was associated with degradation of type IV collagen by active MMP-9 (Legrand et al., 1999). In the skin explants studied here, keratinocytes at the wounded site synthesized new matrix molecules including laminins, but not type IV collagen (Jansson et al., 1996). Specific cleavage of Ln-5 by active MMP-2 has been found to induce migration of normal human breast epithelial cells, while active MMP-9 did not infer a migratory phenotype in a transmembrane assay.

In summary, the presence of active MMP-2 in *ex vivo* wound healing model and its absence in the "non-healing" ex vivo wounds as well as the wounds treated with the MMP inhibitor BB-3103 indicate that MMP-2 is important for epithelialization. Aprotinin, which inhibits plasmin and many other serine proteinases and MMP-9 activation, influenced neither keratinocyte migration nor MMP-2 activation in fibrin-deficient skin wound healing, suggesting that serine proteinases and MMP-9 *per se* may not be crucial for epithelialization of skin wounds. However, aprotinin does not inhibit mast cell serine proteinases, tryptase and chymase (Harvima et al., 1988; Lohi et al., 1992; Kivinen et al., 2001 and 2003), enzymes which are released during skin organ cultures and which can activate MMPs.

MMP inhibitors are cytostatic (cells are viable, but do not proliferate), not cytotoxic, and we confirmed that the abolished epithelialization was not due to cytotoxicity of BB-3101, nor was there differencies in apoptosis between BB-3103 and control treated groups. As growth factors regulate both MMPs and wound healing (Sato et al., 1995; Zeigler et al., 1996; McCawley et al., 1998), we examined possible secondary effects of the proteinase inhibitors on important cytokines and growth factors. An issue was that the effects of the MMP inhibitor on the epithelialization in the wound healing model were secondary to decreased release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, because hydroxamate inhibitors like BB-3103 decrease shedding of membrane-anchored cytokines like TNF- α but not of interleukins (Barker et al., 1991; Gallea-Robache et al., 1997). BB-3103 and aprotinin reduced TNF- α secretion, but did not appreciably influence the levels of the immunodetectivity of other regulators of MMPs and

epithelialization, such as IL-1 β , HGF, KGF or TGF- β 1. These results suggest that TNF- α was not a decisive factor for epidermal healing in our model. Later it has been shown that TNF- α mediated activation of pro-MMP-9 is associated with down-regulation of TIMP-1 in human skin (Han et al., 2002).

The levels of immunoreactive HGF, KGF and TGF- β 1 in conditioned media were similar in the different treatment groups. However, the ELISA analyses did not discriminate between inactive and bioactive growth factors. For example, aprotinin inhibits bioactivation of HGF and its mitogenic effect on epithelial cells (Gak et al., 1992). Aprotinin treatment at 100 µg/ml also attenuated epithelial proliferation. It is unclear whether the reduced proliferation was due to reduced level of bioactive HGF or to a direct inhibitory effect of aprotinin on keratinocyte proliferation. In contrast, proliferation tended to increase in BB-3103-treated explants. This could be explained by displacement of TIMPs by the synthetic inhibitor resulting in more unbound, mitogenic TIMPs (Buisson-Legendre et al., 2000). Our observations suggest that epithelial migration rather than proliferation is the major closure mechanism of the *ex vivo* wound models.

Use of MMP inhibitors in the treatment of chronic wounds is not well studied. GM6001 is able to increase wound strenght in rat incisions (Witte et al., 1998), and in porcrine acute wounds it impairs re-epithelialization, indicating the substantial role of MMPs in normal wound repair (Ågren, 1999). Therapeutic trials for non-healing ulcers, based on growth-factors, e.g., methods using injection of GM-CSF or adenoviral-mediated overexpression of PDGF in the wound area, have not been promising (see Ravanti and Kähäri, 2000).

5.4. MMP-19 is expressed by hyperproliferative epithelium but disappears with neoplastic dedifferentiation (III, IV, V)

Unlike several other MMPs, such as MMP-1, -9 and -10 (Parks et al., 1999; Rechardt et al., 2000), MMP-19 protein is not expressed by migrating keratinocytes in acute and chronic wounds. However, expression was detected in keratinocytes distal to the migrating edge in areas immunopositive for the proliferation marker Ki67 (IV, Fig.1.). In human chronic wounds, regions that seemed to be acanthotic or hyperproliferative, had abundant expression of MMP-19 protein (see summary in Figure 4.). Epithelial MMP-19 protein colocalized with abnormally faint or absent staining of type IV collagen (IV, Fig.1.). MMP-19 was also induced in the

hyperplastic epithelium bordering malignant wounds and it was widely expressed by keratinocytes at the basal epidermal layer of KAs (III, Fig. 3.). MMP-19 was induced in actinic keratoses and Bowen's disease as well as in hyperplastic epithelium bordering SCC and BCC, when the polarity and density of keratinocytes was disturbed, as assessed histologically and by abnormal E-cadherin staining (IV, Fig 2.). However, MMP-19 was downregulated *in vivo* when keratinocytes become malignant and it disappears during neoplastic transformation (III, IV,V). While this study was in progress MMP-19 was shown to be expressed in the epithelium of normal mammary glands and benign mammary tumours (Djonov et al., 2002). In agreement with our data, Djonov et al. concluded that MMP-19 expression may act in a "protective" manner. These findings suggest that MMP-19 does not take part in the degradation of BM and ECM to induce tumor spread, but rather in normal remodeling or restructuring of the BM induced after microchanges in the BM proteins, such as those detected in wounds and Bowen's disease. This is reasonable, as physiological substrates of MMP-19 are type IV collagen, laminin-1 and nidogen.

MMP-19 has been shown to be coexpressed with type IV collagen in tunica media and with integrin $\alpha v\beta 3$ and VEGF-R2 in endothelial cells (Kolb et al., 1999). In my study it located in the area, where BM was at least partly destructed when stained with type IV collagen antibodies (IV, Fig.1.,2.). The presence of MMP-19 in p63-positive epithelium suggests that it is restricted in vivo to areas of keratinocytes with high proliferative potential and is absent from cells undergoing terminal differentiation (Parsa et al., 1999). Quite recently, Sadowski et al., (2003a) also showed that MMP-19 expression correlates with cytokeratin-14, which represents a marker for undifferentiated basal keratinocytes.

The expression of different MMPs in keratinocytes is generally regulated by extracellular signals, such as growth factors or cytokines and by signal transduction pathways, including those activated by phorbol myristate acetate (PMA). We wanted to investigate MMP-19 mRNA expression in primary keratinocytes as MMP-19 mRNA expression is upregulated by phorbol ester (TPA=PMA), EGF and bFGF (Kolb et al., 1999) in endothelial and smooth muscle cells. When we investigated MMP-19 mRNA expression in epidermal keratinocyte-derived cell lines representing different phases of carcinogenesis and varying tumorigenic potentials, our in vivo results were further substantiated. MMP-19 mRNA was detected by Northern analysis only in primary keratinocytes after stimulation with PMA, but was not evident in non-tumorigenic HaCaT cells (Boukamp et al., 1988), in ras-transformed A5 cells,

or in cutaneous SCC metastasis-derived UT-SCC-7 cells (Ahonen et al., 2002) (see Materials and Methods, Cell cultures). Although immortalized HaCaT cells are non-tumorigenic, their MMP expression profile differs from primary keratinocytes,,e.g. MMP-12 and -13 that are upregulated in the course of epithelial transformation, are expressed by HaCaT cells but not by primary keratinocytes (Johansson et al., 1997; Kerkelä et al., 2000).

When detected with real time quantitative PCR, basal MMP-19 mRNA levels in unstimulated keratinocytes were quite low and only PMA and TNF- α were able to stimulate it in primary keratinocytes (IV, Fig.5,A). TNF- α was shown to induce MMP-19 expression also in fibroblsts (Hieta et al., 2003). Treatment with TNF- α , inhibits proliferation and promotes differentiation, cytostasis or cell cycle arrest in cultured keratinocytes (Vieira et al., 1996; Pillai et al., 1989; Symington et al.,1989). TNF- α also induces adhesion molecules and apoptosis of keratinocytes (Uchi et al., 2000). In our samples the localization of MMP-19 did not histologically correlate with apoptosis, but TNF- α protein was expressed in the keratinocytes adjacent to MMP-19 positive cells. The fact that TNF- α induces adhesion molecules and that it stimulates MMP-19 could suggest that MMP-19 is a reconstructive enzyme trying to repair destructed BM. Caution is needed when extrapolating results from cell culture to tissue in vivo, since based on transgenic mouse studies many cytokines have different effects on keratinocytes *in vivo* and in culture (Turksen et al., 1992).

MMP-19 expression shown in wound bed macrophages (Hieta et al., 2003) and blood mononuclear cells and myeloid cells (Mauch et al., 2002) suggests that MMP-19 might have an effect on cell adhesion or it might contribute to the distinct migration capabilities of blood-derived cells (Mauch, 2003). Recently, MMP-19 was also associated with the regulation of IGF-mediated proliferation, migration and adhesion. Sadowski et al., (2003b) showed that MMP-19 degrades insulin growth factor binding protein -3 (IGFBP-3) in HaCaT cell lines inducing the release of IGF, which then exerts mitogenic effects through IGF-IR, thereby maintaining the proliferation of basal keratinocytes. They concluded that MMP-19 expression is down-regulated by E-cadherin mediated cell-cell contacts. These findings are in accordance with ours as we detected low levels of E-cadherin staining in MMP-19 positive areas.

Wound repair



Figure 4. Summary of MMP expression in wound repair.

5.5. Expression profile of MMPs associates with malignant transformation of chronic wounds and KAs as well as invasiveness of oral cancers (III, V)

Tumor growth and cell invasion critically depend on the neoplastic proliferation together with the ability of the tumor cells to produce proteolytic enzymes, receptors mediating cell adhesion, and certain ECM proteins (Egeblad and Werb, 2002; Mueller and Fusenig, 2002). The presence of specific MMPs in cancer tissue can be used as a prognostic marker to predict tumor invasiveness (Vihinen and Kähäri, 2002). Therefore, we wanted to investigate the expression pattern of MMPs and their possible role as diagnostic indicators in development of SCC from pseudoepitheliomatous hyperplasia of chronic wounds. KAs were studied as a model of rapidly growing, benign hyperproliferative tumors, resembling SCCs. In order to discover novel prognostic markers for invasiveness of oral cancers, we analyzed oral SCC, VC and verrucous hyperplasias for several MMPs that have been rarely or never investigated in oral cancer, namely MMP-7, -10, -12, -13, -19, and -26 (Werner et al., 2002). MMP-3 and -9 expression was also studied as they both have been implicated in the invasiveness of oral SCCs (Kusukawa et al., 1995; O-Charoenrat et al., 2001).

MMP-7 is expressed only by invasive keratinocytes both in skin and oral mucosa, but is absent from chronic wound epithelium

MMP-7 is required for healing of airway wounds, but it is not expressed during skin wound repair (Parks et al., 2001). In all wound SCC samples, MMP-7 protein and mRNA were expressed by the invasive epithelial keratinocytes, whereas the epithelium was negative in all acute and chronic wounds (III; Fig.1.). All KA samples were negative for MMP-7 mRNA

supporting their non-malignant behavior. The same pattern of expression was seen in oral tissue, as MMP-7 expression was common in oral SCC, but absent in VC (V, Fig. 1.). All these findings are in agreement with previous reports, that MMP-7 expression correlates with aggressive phenotype of many cancers (Nelson et al., 2000). Furthermore, Van Kempen et al. (2002) also showed in a transgenic mouse model that MMP-7 is only derived from carcinoma. Because MMP-7 is able to degrade fibronectin, tenascin and β 4 integrin, proteins that have crucial roles in cell adhesion and migration during tumorigenesis, MMP-7 plays apparently an important part in tumor development (see Kerkelä and Saarialho-Kere, 2003). Mature MMP-7 is also believed to be involved in early tumor development, as it is able to positively or negatively regulate apoptosis via shedding of FasL (see Hojilla et al., 2003). Furthermore, both MMP-7 and -3 contribute to the initiation of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition by cleavage of E-cadherin (Noe et al., 2001).

Epithelial expression of MMP-12 may predict cancer in epithelial tissue

MMP-12 is expressed both by macrophages and transformed keratinocytes in cutaneous SCC (Kerkelä et al, 2000) and it has been implicated in matrix degradation and macrophage migration in many pathological conditions (Kerkelä et al., 2003). MMP-12 mRNA expression in tumor cells correlates with aggressive histology of skin cancer and poor prognosis in vulvar SCC, while MMP-12 positive macrophages may function in host-response and inhibit tumor growth (Kerkelä et al., 2002). MMP-12 also generates angiostatin, thus having a potential to inhibit tumor angiogenesis. In this study, MMP-12 mRNA was seen in macrophages but also in cancer cells in a subset of epithelial SCCs. In KA samples and in non-malignant chronic wounds, it was expressed only by macrophages (III, Fig.1). Similarly, in VH samples, MMP-12 mRNA was expressed by macrophages and this may indicate normal host-response effect. VC samples were negative for MMP-12 (V, Fig.3.). As MMP-12 mRNA expression in tumor cells correlates with aggressive histology, and while MMP-12 positive macrophages may function in host-response and inhibit tumor growth in some cancer types (Kerkelä et al., 2002), epithelial expression of MMP-12 in chronic wounds and in VHs should raise cancer suspicion. The level of MMP-12 is higher in histologically more aggressive and poorly differentiated tumor types (grades II and III), suggesting a possible role in invasion process (Kerkelä et al., 2000). In vulvar SCCs, cancer cell-derived MMP-12 correlates with aggressiveness and dedifferentiation of the tumors, while macrophage-derived MMP-12 is shown to be most abundant in grade I tumors, thus predicting less aggressive behaviour of the tumors (Kerkelä et al., 2002). Larger cohorts of patients with KAs and VHs are needed to predict whether macrophage-derived MMP-12 would serve as a marker of good prognosis.

MMP-13 expression is upregulated in cancer

MMP-13 expression correlates with tumor invasion and grade of carcinomas of the larynx (Cazorla *et al*, 1998), skin (Ala-Aho et al, 2002) and head and neck (Johansson, et al, 1997; Kusukawa et al, 1996). MMP-13 expression has been shown to be a good marker for malignant transformation in cutaneous keratinocytes (Airola et al., 1997; Ala-aho et al., 2002). In oral mucosal epithelium, MMP-13 can also be induced during chronic inflammation (Uitto et al., 1998). Epithelial cells of VH and VC were negative for MMP-13 by immunohistochemistry. MMP-13 was expressed by malignant keratinocytes in SCCs, and the amount of positive cells increased as the tumor became more invasive (V, Fig.1.). Our results also showed that epithelial MMP-13 expression was strong in malignant wounds, absent in chronic wounds, but seen in the epithelium of KAs (III, Fig.2.). This expression pattern indicates, that MMP-13 might be turned on by inflammation as seen in oral mucosal epithelium during chronic inflammation (Uitto *et al*, 1998). Thus, in SCCs arisen from chronic wounds, it aids in obtaining the correct diagnosis, but does not assist in distinguishing KAs from grade I SCCs.

MMP-8 is not detected in epithelial cells of chronic ulcers or cancers arisen in them

MMP-8, which was originally thought to be expressed only by PMNs has been detected in benign and malignant keratinocytes in vitro (Prikk, et al., 2001). By ELISA analysis, it is detected in wound tissue and its overexpression and activation might have a role in the development of nonhealing chronic ulcers (Nwomeh et al., 1999). However, my results show that its role is not associated with the keratinocyte migration, but that it localizes to stromal neutrophils. In contrast to the results of Pirilä et al. (2001) obtained in mice, we were not able to detect MMP-8 in migrating cells of seven acute human wounds (Impola and Saarialho-Kere, unpublished observations). This discrepancy may be explained by differencies in MMP expression in different species. While this study was in progress, Balbin et al (2003) showed in a transgenic mouse model that MMP-8 might have protective functions in cancer due to processing of inflammatory mediators which contribute to the host antitumor defense system. Our SCC samples arisen from chronic wounds, did not show epithelial MMP-8 expression, nor was it detected in KAs (III, Fig.2.). This slightly deviates from the findings of Moilanen et al. (2003), who found relatively low MMP-8 expression sporadically in cancer cell islands of

oral SCCs. We must, however, bear in mind that our collection of wound SCCs was limited and represented well-differentiated tumors. Thus, we can not exclude the presence of MMP-8 in more dedifferentiated (grade III-V SCCs), Generally, MMP-8 expression is not useful for distinguishing chronic wounds or KAs from SCCs at early stage.

MMP-9 has an important role in cancer, but is not a marker of malignancy in chronic ulcers MMP-9 protein was present in the epithelium of both malignant and non-malignant chronic wounds (III, Fig.2.). This indicates that MMP-9 operates normally in cell migration and BM remodeling, and its epithelial expression cannot be used as a marker of malignancy in chronic ulcers. MMP-9 positive epithelial cells were found also in KAs, although the number of positive cells was much smaller than in invading cancers (III, Fig. 2.). Gelatinases (MMP-2 and MMP-9) are expressed at elevated level in oral SCCs (Sutinen et al., 1998). In VCs, MMP-2 was expressed only by few stromal fibroblasts, but the tumor itself was negative (V, Fig.1.). In SCCs, invasive cancer cell nests were surrounded by a great number of MMP-2 positive stromal cells. MMP-9 was detected in stroma already in VC and, in addition to neutrophils and macrophages, it was expressed by invasive SCC cells. It has previously been shown that MMP-9 is overexpressed in human cancers (see Kerkelä and Saarialho-Kere, 2003) and its expression correlates with invasion and poor prognosis in SCC (Kupferman et al., 2000; Van Kempen et al., 2002). MMP-9 decreases cancer cell apoptosis, regulates angiogenesis, and influences immune response to cancer (Egeblad and Werb, 2002). For instance, infiltration by mast cells and activation of MMP-9 coincides with the 'angiogenic switch' in premalignant lesions during squamous epithelial carcinogenesis (Coussens et al., 1999). MMP-9 promotes tumor angiogenesis in other mouse tumor models as well (Bergers et al., 2000; Yu and Stamenkovic, 2000). MMP-9 -null mice develop fewer and less differentiated cancers than wild-type mice. The number of cancer colonies formed in the lungs is reduced by the downregulation of MMP-9 and in MMP-9 -null mice (see Egeblad and Werb, 2002).

MMP-3 epithelial expression is detected both in wounds and in cancer

MMP-3 (stromelysin-1) is not expressed by keratinocytes in normal skin, but MMP-3 expression is associated with oncogenesis of keratinocytes (De Angelis et al., 2002) and is detected in SCC and in keratinocytes after wounding (Saarialho-Kere et al., 1994). Expression of MMP-3 in tumors takes place at invasive tumor margins and correlates with tumor size, thickness and mode of invasion (Prosser et al., 1989) as well as with metastasis (Kusukawa et

al., 1996). In our study of chronic wounds, MMP-3 was expressed by proliferating keratinocytes distal to the wound edge. In oral and skin SCCs, MMP-3 was expressed mostly by stromal fibroblasts but occasionally also by invasive cells (V, Fig.2.). However, the enzyme was detected in some VCs and KAs, in which it was produced only by fibroblasts. It is typical for many MMPs, that their stromal signal is evident surrounding low-grade tumors, whereas aggressive tumors show epithelial MMP expression.

MMP-10 is probably induced by inflammation

The role of stromelysin-2 (MMP-10) in cancer progression is unclear. Recent data suggest that malignant transformation per se is not enough to induce MMP-10 (Kerkelä et al., 2001; De Angelis et al., 2002). At least in skin cancer, MMP-10 is probably not involved in the invasion of malignant cells, but may be induced by cytokines and growth factors functioning in ulcerative phenomena and inflammatory matrix remodeling associated with skin tumors (Saarialho-Kere, 1994; Kerkelä et al., 2001). In accordance with this hypothesis, MMP-10 mRNA was detected in the epithelial cells of 3/12 KAs, which were all characterized by prominent inflammation (III, Fig. 2.). In oral samples, MMP-10 was expressed by epithelial cancer cells both in VCs and SCCs (V, Fig. 2.). The number of positive cells was, however, much higher in SCCs, in which the subepithelial inflammation was usually more severe. One of the two VC samples that expressed MMP-10 was strongly infected by yeast. Thus, it is possible that microbes modify MMP-10 expression also in oral cancer.

Role of MMP-26 in SCCs is not yet known

MMP-26 is a fairly novel member of the MMP family, the role of which in SCCs is not known. Previously it was reported to be downregulated in endometrial carcinomas (Isaka et al., 2003). Our current results show that, since MMP-26 is expressed by basal keratinocytes of hyperproliferative epithelium in VC, but also at the invasive front of well-differentiated oral SCCs, it does not seem to be a specific marker of invasion for oral SCCs (V, Fig.3).

5.6. Loss of p16 from KAs or chronic wounds could be a marker for carcinogenesis (III)

p16INK4a is a tumor-suppressor gene, the loss of which may facilitate activation of cyclin D1/CDK4 or 6, which is likely to affect regulation of the G0/S checkpoint. Mutational loss of p16 and p53 has been found to be a frequent early event in the development of SCC, endowing keratinocytes with extended replicative potential and increasing the probability of neoplastic progression (Rheinwald et al., 2002). As it is previously shown that positivity of p53 and p21

might be useful for the early detection of wound malignancy (Baldursson et al., 2000b), we studied only p16. In our SCC and KA samples, p16 was strongly expressed by keratinocytes in the superficial areas (III, Fig.3.). It was, however, absent from invasive cancer tissue. In accordance with the recent *in vitro* findings of Natarajan et al., (2003), p16 was detected in this study in migrating keratinocytes in normally healing wounds as well as at the wound edge keratinocytes of a subset of chronic venous ulcers *in vivo*. Therefore, the loss of p16 from KAs or chronic wounds could be a marker for carcinogenesis. Based on our previous data on wound repair, p16 seems to be coordinately expressed with laminin-5 γ 2 on tissues, since the epithelial edge of both acute and chronic wounds demonstrates cytoplasmic staining for laminin-5 γ 2 (Rechardt *et al*, 2000; Saarialho-Kere *et al*, 2002).

5.7. Laminin-5 is expressed by migrating keratinocytes both in wounds and cancer but can't be considered as a good marker for invasiveness (I, V)

Ln-5 immunohistochemistry was performed to investigate the migratory phenotype of epithelial cells (Larjava et al, 1993). Intracellular staining for Ln-5 reflects active synthesis of this protein needed for deposition of normal BM and is usually encountered in migrating cells of suction blisters and acute wound edge (Rechardt et al, 2000; Kainulainen et al, 1998). In full-thickness wounds, its deposition occurs before that of type IV and VII collagens or laminin-1 (Kainulainen et al, 1998). In this study, Ln-5 expression was qualitatively similar in both acute and chronic wounds, suggesting that the migratory capability of wound edge keratinocytes is not different in normally healing and chronic wounds. Cleavage of the precursor molecule to mature Ln-5, needed for hemidesmosome assembly, may signal the epithelial cells to become quiescent and form integrated tissue (Häkkinen et al, 2000). Unfortunately, the antibody used in this study, did not distinguish between the mature and precursor protein. Ln-5 is an in vitro substrate for MMP-14 and MMP-2, but not for MMP-9 (Giannelli et al, 1997; Koshikawa et al, 2000). We did not detect correlation between MMP-14 and Ln-5 in tissues. In chronic ulcers intracellular Ln-5 staining confined to the BM zone was surrounded by positive staining for MMP-2, suggesting that MMP-2 participates in Ln-5 processing also in the wound environment. Laminin-5 γ 2 expression is a predictor of invasiveness in cancer of the larynx (Nordemar et al., 2001) and it is associated with budding cancer cells at the tip of invading malignant epithelium but not in the cancer cells inside the tumor. Laminin-5 $\gamma 2$ is thought to be useful as a prognostic marker for oral cancer and malignant cells (Kainulainen et al., 1997). In our samples Ln-5 was detected already in vertucous hyperplasia and carcinoma, even though they are not invasive.

This indicates that although in SCCs the number of positive cells was much higher and the staining was more intense, Ln-5 can not solely explain the different behavior of VC versus SCCs, nor can it be considered as a marker for invasiveness.

5.8. αvβ6 integrin was present in verrucous hyperplasia and in SCC (V)

 $\alpha\nu\beta6$ is an epithelial integrin that binds fibronectin and tenascin (Sheppard et al., 1990). Normal basal keratinocytes do not express $\alpha\nu\beta6$, but its expression is induced during wound healing and in SCCs (Breuss et al., 1995; Haapasalmi et al., 1995). Leukoplakia specimens positive for $\alpha\nu\beta6$ integrin show a tendency for malignant transformation (Hamidi et al., 2000) and $\alpha\nu\beta6$ enhances invasive behavior in oral SCC (Ramos et al., 2002). It is not known at which stage of transformation the expression of $\alpha\nu\beta6$ is switched on in oral epithelial cells (Breuss et al., 1995). Previously, epithelial cells of hyperplasia or chronic inflammation were not found to express $\alpha\nu\beta6$ (Hamidi et al., 2000). In this study, $\alpha\nu\beta6$ was detected already in verrucous hyperplasia. In VC, the expression was limited into a narrow area in the epithelium compared to SCC, where it was expressed widely in the marginal epithelium and also inside invasive cancer cell nests.

In vitro, $\alpha\nu\beta6$ modulates keratinocyte migration on fibronectin, vitronectin and towards the latency-associated peptide of TGF- $\beta1$ and is also associated with fibronectin-dependent upregulation of MMP-9 (Thomas et al., 2002). We did not detect co-localization of $\alpha\nu$ mRNA with MMP-9 protein *in vivo*, but caution should be exercised when interpreting these results, since a discrepancy between the protein and mRNA localization has been reported for several MMPs (see Kerkelä and Saarialho-Kere, 2003). However, in high grade SCCs there was partial colocalization of $\alpha\nu\beta6$ and MMP-3 mRNAs, although there was much more epithelial signal for $\alpha\nu\beta6$. Similar expression patterns of $\alpha\nu\beta6$, MMP-9 and MMP-3 are also detected in microinvasive cutaneous SCCs (Saarialho-Kere and Impola, unpublished observations).

6. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Cutaneous wound healing is a multistage process during which the disrupted epithelium is restored by cell migration and proliferation and the injured BM and ECM proteins are replaced by the newly deposited matrix. MMPs have various functions during wound healing and are mainly responsible for the degradation of the dermal matrix and migration of epithelial cells. MMP expression is controlled by different growth factors and cytokines, and by many receptors and matrix molecules: actually all changes in cell-cell or cell-matrix interactions may induce MMP expression. Several MMPs have been shown to participate in wound healing and their cellular expression is generally qualititatively similar in acute and chronic wounds. However, differencies in the balance between MMPs and their inhibitors have been demonstrated. The tissue changes in cancer and chronic wounds resemble each other; they are both characterized by cell migration, neoangiogenesis, remodelling of the ECM and inflammatory reaction. Patients suffering from chronic wounds are at increased risk of developing SCCs. Wound carcinogenesis is unpredictable and often undiagnosed for long periods of time. Several MMPs, such as MMPs-1, -2, -7, -9, -13, and -14, have been implicated to be present in various cancers. The presence of specific MMPs in cancer tissue may be used as a prognostic marker to predict tumor invasiveness.

This study shows that MMP-9 expression localized in migrating epithelial cells during normal human wound healing, but is detected in stromal inflammatory cells in chronic wounds. This suggests that the absence of intact ECM molecules due to degradation by inflammatory cell-derived MMP-9 in chronic non-healing wounds may deprive wound edge keratinocytes of proper cell-matrix interactions needed for induction of migration. Equal gelatinase activity levels found in acute and chronic wounds contradict former hypotheses that chronic ulcers are caused by excessive gelatinase expression.

Furthermore, in an ex vivo fibrin-deficient skin wound healing model a broad spectrum MMP-inhibitor abrogated epithelialization, whereas serine proteinase inhibitor, aporotinin, did not. Active MMP-9 may have an important role in BM remodeling rather than in keratinocyte migration in wound repair which is accompanied by active MMP-1 and MMP-2. Like in chronic wounds, MMP-2 and MMP-14 were detected in stromal cells only and their expression partially colocalized in fibroblasts, suggesting that MMP-2 can be activated by MMP-14 *in vivo*.

My study was the first to show MMP-19 expression in keratinocytes. In all wounds, MMP-19 expression was detected in hyperproliferating and acanthotic areas of the epithelium, but not by

the migrating cells. Unlike most other MMPs, this protein was absent from the invasive skin cancer cell nests *in vivo*. Furthermore, MMP-19 was expressed in oral verrucous hyperplasias and VCs, but was absent from the invasive cancer cell nests of oral SCC. Basal expression levels of MMP-19 were low in primary keratinocytes and MMP-19 was not expressed by transformed epithelial cells (HaCaT, A5) in culture, suggesting that it is upregulated in the epithelium already early during oncogenesis in a host-response type manner to reconstitute normal cell adhesion. TNF- α induced MMP-19 mRNA expression in primary keratinocytes.

This study indicates that the epithelial expression of MMPs-7, -12, and -13, but not that of MMP-1, -3, -8, -9, -10, in a chronic wound sample provides a possible diagnostic clue for distinguishing SCCs from non-malignant chronic wounds. We also studied keratoacanthomas, which are benign rapidly growing tumors with keratinocyte proliferation and inflammation, and histologically often indistinguishable from SCCs. Epithelial expression of MMPs-7, -8, -9 and - 12 was generally absent from wounds and KAs, while MMP-3, -10, -13 and -19 were present. The loss of immunohistochemical staining for MMP-19 as well as the cell cycle inhibitor p16 could aid in making the differential diagnosis between well-differentiated SCC and non-malignant chronic wound or KA.

My results showed that the invasiveness of oral cancers may also be dependent on their MMP expression profile. Typically VCs are devoid of epithelial MMP-7, -9 and -12 expression compared to oral SCCs. This phenomenon may thus serve as a prognostic marker in oral SCC. In vitro, $\alpha v\beta 6$ is associated with fibronectin-dependent upregulation of MMP-9. We did not detect co-localization of av mRNA with MMP-9 protein in vivo. However, in high grade SCCs there was partial colocalization of $\alpha\nu\beta6$ and MMP-3 mRNAs. MMP-13 was expressed in VCs, although the number of MMP-13 positive cells was much higher in SCCs. MMP-13 expression in VCs is most likely associated with inflammation, but as inflammation and MMP overexpression may cause malignant transformation, and because MMP-13 upregulation is detected in many types of tumors, it might have a role in oral tumorigenesis, expecially when the duration of its expression is prolonged. This study was the first to show MMP-26 expression in oral keratinocytes in vivo. MMP-26 is expressed by basal keratinocytes of hyperproliferative epithelium in VC, but also at the invasive front of well-differentiated oral SCCs. Therefore it does not seem to be a specific marker for invasion in oral SCCs. Eventhough laminin-5 $\gamma 2$ is thought to be useful as a prognostic marker for oral cancer and malignant cells, in our samples it was detected already in VH and VC, indicating that Ln-5

cannot solely explain the different behavior of VC versus SCCs, nor can it be considered as a marker for invasiveness. In conclusion, we suggest that MMP-7, -9, -12, and -13 as well as $\alpha\nu\beta6$ integrin may be good targets for intervention therapy at the early stages of oral cancer.

I conclude that several MMPs are needed in wound re-epithelialization, and that aberrations in their expression pattern may contribute to chronic wound phenotype as well as malignant transformation. In order to produce drugs and MMP inhibitors for chronic wounds, we need more *in vivo* studies and migration assays where different MMPs, cytokines and other factors involved in the process, are tested together. In skin and oral cancers, MMPs might be useful as prognostic markes in diagnosing pre-malignant tumours from more aggressive ones. However, as tumors at their onset have been more sensitive to MMP inhibition than the advanced ones, early diagnosis is essential and therefore results that aid in diagnosis as well as prognosis are important. Several MMPs are produced by the inflammatory cells and have a dual role in cancer; in addition to tissue infiltration and destruction, they stimulate protective and adaptive immune functions and inhibition of some MMPs may end up causing harmful effects on the patient. Both *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies are needed in an attempt to understand the mechanisms of tumor cell invasion through the ECM in order to produce therapeutic invasion blocking anticancer treatments.

7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out at the Department of Dermatology, Helsinki University Central Hospital and Biomedicum Helsinki during the years 2000-2004. I wish to express my gratitude to all those who helped me with this study and especially to professor Anna-Mari Ranki for providing good research facilities and atmosphere in the Department.

Especially I want to thank professor Ulpu Saarialho-Kere, my supervisor, for her inspiring and motivating guidance throughout my work.

Professor Ilkka Harvima and Docent Kalus Elenius are gratefully acknowledged for their constructive and supportive critisism on my thesis.

I wish to thank all the co-authors for their contribution. Especially I warmly thank professor Veli-Jukka Uitto from the Institute of Dentistry, Helsinki University for his friendly support and guidance. Doctors Ursula Mirastschijski and Magnus Ågren, from the University of Lund are acknowledged for their rewarding collaboration. I thank docent Veli-Matti Kähäri and Mervi Toriseva from the Turku Centre for Biotechnology for their valuable contribution. Professor Jarkko Hietanen and Leila Jeskanen are acknowledged for their expertise in pathology. I also thank all the other co-authors for their participation: Reidar Grenman, Lari Häkkinen, Keichi Isaka, Tiina Jahkola, Morten Karlsdal, Tonny Karlsmark, Hannu Larjava, Laura Ravanti, Stiina Syrjänen, and Lewei Zhang.

My warmest thanks are due to the members of our research group: Alli, Erja, Mikko, Katja, Sari, Ville and Tiina. Especially I want to thank Alli for her technical assistance and friendship as well as her hospitality at her home. Katja, Erja and Sari are acknowledged for their support, companionship and for the "carrying my tubes"- attitude in and outside the laboratory. I gladly remember the hilarious times in San Francisco with Katja as well as those summer days, evenings and weekends, which we spent together with Sari taking care of our millions of children (the clones of Pasi, Hemmo, Varpu, Jalo....), sometimes with our children. In addition, I want to thank the "people in the office and around the coffee table", namely Veli-Matti, Samuli, Harri, Sakari, Marja, Laura and Susanna. I hope that our traditional lunch sessions together will recur in future years!
I thank the great ladies Annamari, Birgitta, Kaija and both Liisas in the Histopathology and DNA laboratory, Department of Dermatology for letting me use their lab and being so nice and friendly. I thank all my friends, colleques and other personel in the Department of Dermatology and in Biomedicum Helsinki, especially Outi Elomaa, Hannes Lohi, Piia Vehviläinen and Nina Kaminen.

I am most grateful to Petri and Lotta for their love and support in our everyday-life at home. My thank my whole family: my mother and father, my brother Timo, Heta, Henriikka and Ilmari, for their encouragement and love. Thanks to my godparents Arja and Pertti for their encouragement and support as well as providing a possibility to relax in Kivitasku.

I also wish to thank all my "sivil" friends, especially Mervi and Jouni, Julia and Tõnis, Anna and Heikki, Elina and Jarkko, Helena and Antti, as well as Piia and Liina and their families for offering me a rich life outside the work.

This study was supported by grants from Helsinki University Central Hospital Research Funds (EVO), the Academy of Finland, Finska Läkaresällskapet and Sigrid Jusélius Foundation. I wish to thank the Cancer Foundation of Finland, The Finnish Cultural Foudation, Vuorisalo Foundation, Research and Science Foundation of Farmos and Biomedicum Helsinki Foundation for supporting my thesis with personal grants as well as the Helsinki University's Chancellor Fund for travelling grants.

8. REFERENCES

- Abe M, Kawamoto K, Okamoto H, Horiuchi N. Induction of collagenase-2 (matrix metalloproteinase-8) gene expression by interleukin-1 beta in human gingival fibroblasts. J Periodontal Res 2001; 36: 153-9
- Adair HM. Epidermal repair in chronic venous ulcers. Br J Surg 1977; 64:800-804
- Ahokas K, Lohi J, Lohi H, Elomaa O, Karjalainen-Lindsberg ML, Kere J, Saarialho-Kere U. Matrix metalloproteinase-21, the human orthologue for XMMP, is expressed during fetal development and in cancer. Gene 2002; 301: 31-41
- Ahokas K, Lohi J, Illman SA, Llano E, Elomaa O, Impola U, Karjalainen-Lindsberg ML, Saarialho-Kere U. Matrix metalloproteinase-21 is expressed epithelially during development and in cancer and is up-regulated by transforming growthfactor-beta1 in keratinocytes. Lab Invest 2003; 83: 1887-99
- Airola K, Johansson N, Kariniemi AL, Kahari VM, Saarialho-Kere UK. Human collagenase-3 is expressed in malignant squamous epithelium of the skin. J Invest Dermatol 1997;109:225-31
- Airola K, Karonen T, Vaalamo M, Lehti K, Lohi J, Kariniemi AL, Keski-Oja J, Saarialho-Kere UK. Expression of collagenases-1 and -3 and their inhibitors TIMP-1 and -3 correlates with the level of invasion in malignant melanomas. Br J Cancer 1999; 80: 733-43
- Ala-Aho R, Grenman R, Seth P, Kähäri VM. Adenoviral delivery of p53 gene suppresses expression of collagenase-3 (MMP-13) in squamous carcinoma cells. Oncogene 2002; 21:1187-95
- Alberts B, Bray D, Lewis J, Raff M, Roberts K, Watson JD: The extracellular matrix of animals. In: Molecular biology of the cell. Garland Publishing, New York, USA, 1994, pp. 971-995
- Ahonen M, Baker AH, Kähäri VM. Adenovirus-mediated gene delivery of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-3 inhibits invasion and induces apoptosis in melanoma cells. Cancer Res 1998: 58: 2310-2315
- Ahonen M, Ala-aho R, Baker AH, George SJ, Grénman R, Saarialho-Kere, Kähäri V-M. Antitumor activity and by-stander effect of adenovirally delivered tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-3. Mol Ther 2002; 5:705-715
- Ando Y, Jensen PJ: Protein kinase C mediates up-regulation of urokinase and its receptor in the migrating keratinocytes of wounded cultures, but urokinase is not required for movement across a substratum in vitro. J Cell Physiol 1996;167:500-511
- Andriessen MP, van Bergen BH, Spruijt KI, Go IH, Schalkwijk J, van de Kerkhof PC. Epidermal proliferation is not impaired in chronic venous ulcers. Acta Derm Venereol 1995; 75: 459-62
- Armstrong BK, Kricker A. Skin cancer. Dermatol Clin 1995: 13:583-594.
- Armstrong PB, Armstrong MT. Intercellular invasion and the organizational stability of tissues: a role for fibronectin. Biochim Biophys Acta 2000; 1470: O9-20. Review
- D'Armiento J, DiColandrea T, Dalal SS et al. Collagenase expression in transgenic mouse skin causes hyperkeratosis and acanthosis and increases susceptibility to tumorigenesis. Mol Cell Biol 1995: 15: 5732-5739
- Ashcroft GS, Horan MA, Herrick SE, Tarnuzzer RW, Schultz GS, and Frguson MW. Age-related differences in the temporal and spatial regulation of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) in normal skin and acute cutaneous wounds of healthy humans. Cell Tissue Res 1997; 290:581-591
- Ashworth JL, Murphy G, Rock MJ, Sherratt MJ, Shapiro SD, Shuttleworth CA, Kielty CM. Fibrillin degradation by matrix metalloproteinases: implications for connective tissue remodelling. Biochem J 1999; 34: 171-81
- Aumailley M, Gayraud B. Structure and biological activity of the extracellular matrix. J Mol Med 1998; 76: 253-65. Review
- Balbin M, Fueyo A, Tester AM, Pendas AM, Pitiot AS, Astudillo A, Overall CM, Shapiro SD, Lopez-Otin C. Loss of collagenase-2 confers increased skin tumor susceptibility to male mice. Nat Genet 2003; 35:252-7
- Baldursson B, Sigurgeirsson B, Lindelof B. Leg ulcers and squamous cell carcinoma. An epidemiological study and a review of the literature. Acta Derm Venereol 1993; 73:171-4. Review
- Baldursson B, Sigurgeirsson B, Lindelof B. Venous leg ulcers and squamous cell carcinoma: a large-scale epidemiological study. Br J Dermatol 1995; 133:571-4
- Baldursson BT, Hedblad MA, Beitner H, Lindelof B. Squamous cell carcinoma complicating chronic venous leg ulceration: a study of the histopathology, course and survival in 25 patients. Br J Dermatol 1999; 140:1148-52
- Baldursson BT, Beitner H, Syrjänen S. Human papillomavirus in venous ulcers with and without squamous cell carcinoma. Arch Dermatol Res 2000a; 292:275-8
- Baldursson B, Syrjanen S, Beitner H. Expression of p21WAF1/CIP1, p53, bcl-2 and Ki-67 in venous leg ulcers with and without squamous cell carcinoma. Acta Derm Venereol 2000b;80:251-5
- Barker JNWN, Mitra RS, Griffiths GEM, Dixit VM, Nickoloff BJ: Keratinocytes as initiators of inflammation. Lancet 1991; 337:211-214
- Basset P, Bellocq JP, Wolf C, Stoll I, Hutin P, Limacher JM, Podhajcer OL, Chenard MP, Rio MC, Chambon P.

A novel metalloproteinase gene specifically expressed in stromal cells of breast carcinomas. Nature 1990; 348: 699-704

- Basset P, Wolf C, Chambon P. Expression of the stromelysin-3 gene in fibroblastic cells of invasive carcinomas of the breast and other human tissues: a review. Breast Cancer Res Treat 1993; 24:185-93 Review
- Basset P, Bellocq JP, Anglard P, Chenard MP, Lefebvre O, Noel A, Okada A, Rouyer N, Santavicca M, Stoll I, Wolf C, RioMC. Stromelysin-3 and other stromelysins in breast cancer: importance of epithelial-stromal interactions during tumor progression. Cancer Treat Res 1996; 83: 353-67. Review
- Belkin AM, Akimov SS, Zaritskaya LS, Ratnikov BI, Deryugina EI, Strongin AY. Matrix-dependent proteolysis of surface transglutaminase by membrane-type metalloproteinase regulates cancer cell adhesion and locomotion. J Biol Chem 2001; 276: 18415-22
- Bergers G, Coussens LM. Extrinsic regulators of epithelial tumor progression: metalloproteinases. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2000; 10: 120-7. Review
- Bernstein S, Lim KK, Brodland DG. The many faces of squamous cell carcinoma. Dermatol Surg 1996: 22: 243-254
- Birchmeier C, Birchmeier W, Brand-Saberi B. Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in cancer progression. Acta Anat (Basel) 1996; 156: 217-26. Review
- Birkedal-Hansen H, Moore WG, Bodden MK, Windsor LJ, Birkedal-Hansen B, DeCarlo A, Engler JA. Matrix metalloproteinases: a review. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med 1993; 4: 197-250. Review
- Borradori L, Sonnenberg A. Structure and function of hemidesmosomes: more than simple adhesion complexes. J Invest Dermatol 1999; 112: 411-8. Review
- Bos JD, Kapsenberg ML. The skin immune system: progress in cutaneous biology. Immunol Tod 1993;14: 75-8
- Boukamp P, Petrussevska RT, Breitkreutz D, Hornung J, Markham A, Fusenig NE. Normal keratinization in a spontaneously immortalized aneuploid human keratinocyte cell line. J Cell Biol 1988;106:761-71
- Boukamp P, Stanbridge EJ, Foo DY, Cerutti PA, Fusenig NE. c-Ha-ras oncogene expression in immortalized human keratinocytes (HaCaT) alters growth potential in vivo but lacks correlation with malignancy. Cancer Res 1990;50: 2840-2847
- Breuss JM, Gallo J, DeLisser HM, Klimanskaya IV, Folkesson HG, Pittet JF, Nishimura SL, Aldape K, Landers DV, Carpenter W, et al.Expression of the beta 6 integrin subunit in development, neoplasia and tissue repair suggests a role in epithelial remodeling. J Cell Sci 1995;108: 2241-2251
- Brew K, Dinakarpandian D, Nagase H. Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: evolution, structure and function. Biochim Biopys Acta 2000:1477: 267-283
- Buisson-Legendre N, Emonard H, Bernard P, Hornebeck W: Relationship between cell-associated matrix metalloproteinase 9 and psoriatic keratinocyte growth. J Invest Dermatol 2000; 115: 213-218
- Bullard KM, Lund L, Mudgett JS, Mellin TN, Hunt TK, Murphy B, Ronan J, Werb Z, Banda MJ.Impaired wound contraction in stromelysin-1-deficient mice. Ann Surg 1999; 230: 260-5
- Bullen EC, Longaker MT, Updike DL, Benton R, Ladin D, Hou Z, and Howard E. Inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 is decreased and activated gelatinases are increased in chronic wounds. J Invest Dermatol 1995; 104: 236-240
- Burgeson RE, Christiano AM. The dermal-epidermal junction. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1997; 9: 651-8. Review
- Carmeliet P, Moons L, Lijnen R, et al: Urokinase-generated plasmin activates matrix metalloproteinases during aneurysm formation. Nature Genetics 1997;17: 439-44
- Carter WG, Ryan MC, Gahr PJ. Epiligrin, a new cell adhesion ligand for integrin alpha 3 beta 1 in epithelial basement membranes. Cell 1991; 65: 599-610
- Cazorla M, Hernandez L, Nadal A, et al. Collagenase-3 expression is associated with advanced local invasion in human squamous cell carcinomas of the larynx. J Pathol 1998; 186:144-50
- Chandler S, Cossins J, Lury J, Wells G. Macrophage metalloelastase degrades matrix and myelin proteins and processes a tumour necrosis factor-alpha fusion protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1996; 228: 421-9
- Chung JH, Seo JY, Lee MK, Eun HC, Lee JH, Kang S, Fisher GJ, Voorhees JJ. Ultraviolet modulation of human macrophage metalloelastase in human skin in vivo. J Invest Dermatol 2002; 119: 507-12
- Clark GM. Prognostic and Predictive Factors for Breast Cancer. Breast Cancer 1995; 2: 79-8
- Clausen OP, Beigi M, Bolund L, et al. Keratoacanthomas frequently show chromosomal aberrations as assessed by comparative genomic hybridization. J Invest Dermatol 2002; 119:1367-72
- de Coignac AB, Elson G, Delneste Y, Magistrelli G, Jeannin P, Aubry JP, Berthier O, Schmitt D, Bonnefoy JY, Gauchat JF. Cloning of MMP-26. A novel matrilysin-like proteinase. Eur J Biochem 2000; 267: 3323-9
- Cole AA, Chubinskaya S, Schumacher B, Huch K, Szabo G, Yao J, Mikecz K, Hasty KA, Kuettner KE. Chondrocyte matrix metalloproteinase-8. Human articular chondrocytes express neutrophil collagenase. J Biol Chem 1996; 271: 11023-6
- Cornelius L, Nehring LC, Harding E et al. Matrix metalloproteinases generate angiostatin: effects on neovascularization. J Immunol 1998: 161: 6845-6852

- Coussens L, Raymond WW, Bergers G et al. Inflammatory mast cells up-regulate angiogenesis during squamous epithelial carcinogenesis. Genes Dev 1999: 13: 1382-1397
- Coussens L, Tinkle CL, Hanahan D, Werb Z. MMP-9 supplied by bone marrow-derived cells contributes to skin carcinogenesis. Cell 2000: 103: 481-490
- Coussens L, Werb Z. Inflammatory cells and cancer: think different! J Exp Med 2001: 193: 23-26
- Coussens LM, Werb Z. Inflammation and cancer. Nature 2002 ; 420: 860-7. Review
- Creemers LB, Jansen IDC, Docherty AJP, Reynolds JJ, Beertsen W, Everts V: Gelatinase A (MMP-2) and cystein proteinases are essential for the degradation of collagen in soft connective tissue. Matrix Biology 1998; 17:35-46
- Daniels JT, Geerling G, Alexander RA, Murphy G, Khaw PT, Saarialho-Kere U. Temporal and spatial expression of matrix metalloproteinases during wound healing of human corneal tissue. Exp Eye Res 2003; 77: 653-64
- Davis GE, Pintar Allen KA, Salazar R, Maxwell SA: Matrix metalloproteinase-1 and -9 activation by plasmin regulates a novel endothelial cell-mediated mechanism of collagen gel contraction and capillary tube regression in three-dimensional collagen matrices. J Cell Sci 2001; 114:917-930
- De Angelis T, Noe A, Chatterjee M, Mulholland J. Stromelysin-1 activation correlates with invasiveness in squamous cell carcinoma. J Invest Dermatol 2002; 118:759-66
- Decline F, Rousselle P. Keratinocyte migration requires alpha2beta1 integrin-mediated interaction with the laminin 5 gamma2 chain. J Cell Sci 2001; 114 : 811-23
- Djonov V, Hogger K, Sedlacek R, Laissue J, Draeger A. MMP-19: cellular localization of a novel metalloproteinase within normal breast tissue and mammary gland tumours. J Pathol 2001: 195: 147-155
- Dong Z, Kumar R, Yang X, Fidler IJ. Macrophage-derived metalloelastase is responsible for the generation of angiostatin in Lewis lung carcinoma. Cell 1997; 88: 801-10
- Dunsmore S, Saarialho-Kere UK, Roby JD et al. Matrilysin expression and function in airway epithelium. J Clin Invest 1998: 102: 1321-1331
- Dziadek M. Role of laminin-nidogen complexes in basement membrane formation during embryonic development. Experientia 1995; 51: 901-13. Review
- Eckert R. Structure, function and differentiation of the keratinocyte. Physiol Rev 1989; 69:1316-1346
- Edwards D, Beaudry PP, Laing TD et al. The roles of tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases in tissue remodelling and cell growth. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 1996: 3:S9-1
- Eeckhout Y, Delaisse JM, Vaes G: Direct extraction and assay of bone tissue collagenase and its relation to parathyroid-hormone-induced bone resorption. Biochem J 1986; 239:793-796
- Egeblad M, Werb Z. New functions for the matrix metalloproteinases in cancer progression. Nat Rev Cancer 2002 ;2: 161-74. Review
- Ellis L, Fidler IJ. Angiogenesis and metastasis. Eur J Cancer 1996: 32A: 2451-2460
- English WR, Puente XS, Freije JM, Knäuper V, Amour A, Merryweather A, López-Otín C, Murphy G. Membrane type 4 matrix metalloproteinase (MMP17) has tumor necrosis factor- convertase activity but does not activate pro-MMP2. J Biol Chem 2000; 275: 14046–14055
- Engvall E. Structure and function of basement membranes. Int J Dev Biol 1995; 39: 781-7. Review
- Falanga V, Grinnell F, Gilchrest B, Maddox YT, and Moshell A. Workshop on the pathogenesis of chronic wounds. J Invest Dermatol 1994; 102:125-127
- Feiken E, Romer J, Eriksen J, Lund LR. Neutrophils express tumor necrosis factor-1 during mouse skin wound healing. J Invest Dermatol 1995; 105:120-123
- Feinberg MW, Jain MK, Werner F, Sibinga NE, Wiesel P, Wang H, Topper JN, Perrella MA, Lee ME. Transforming growth factor-beta 1 inhibits cytokine-mediated induction of human metalloelastase in macrophages. J Biol Chem 2000; 275: 25766-73
- Ferguson MWJ and Leigh IM. Wound healing. In. Textbook of dermatology. Eds. Champion RH, Burton JL, Burns PA, Breathnach SM. Blackwell Scienceltd, United Kingdom, 1998, pp. 335-356.
- Fini ME, Parks WC, Rinehart WB, Girard MT, Matsubara M, Cook JR, West-Mays JA, Sadow PM, Burgeson RE, Jeffrey JJ, Raizman MB, Krueger RR, Zieske JD. Role of matrix metalloproteinases in failure to reepithelialize after corneal injury. Am J Pathol 1996;149:1287-302
- Fini ME, Cook JR, Mohan R. Proteolytic mechanisms in corneal ulceration and repair. Arch Dermatol Res 1998; 290: S12-23. Review.
- Foda H, Zucker S. Matrix metalloproteinases in cancer invasion, metastasis and angiogenesis. Drug Discov Tod 2001: 6: 478-482
- Fosang AJ, Last K, Maciewicz RA. Aggrecan is degraded by matrix metalloproteinases in human arthritis. Evidence that matrix metalloproteinase and aggrecanase activities can be independent. J Clin Invest 1996; 98: 2292-9

- Freije JM, Diez-Itza I, Balbin M, Sanchez LM, Blasco R, Tolivia J, Lopez-Otin C. Molecular cloning and expression of collagenase-3, a novel human matrix metalloproteinase produced by breast carcinomas. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:16766-73
- Friedl P, Brocker EB. T cell migration in three-dimensional extracellular matrix: guidance by polarity and sensations.Dev Immunol 2000; 7: 249-66. Review
- Fritz H, Wunderer G: Biochemistry and applications of aprotinin, the kallikrein inhibitor from bovine organs. Arzneimittelforschung 1983; 33:479-494
- Gailit J, Clark RA. Wound repair in the context of extracellular matrix. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1994; 6: 717-25. Review
- Gak E, Taylor WG, Chan AM, Rubin JS: Processing of hepatocyte growth factor to the heterodimeric form is required for biological activity. FEBS Lett 1992; 311:17-21
- Gallea-Robache S, Morand V, Millet S, Bruneau JM, Bhatnagar N, Chouaib S, Roman-Roman S: A metalloproteinase inhibitor blocks the shedding of soluble cytokine receptors and processing of transmembrane cytokine precursors in human monocytic cells. Cytokine 1997;9: 340-346
- Giannelli G, Falk-Marzillier J, Schiraldi O, Stetler-Stevenson WG, Quaranta V. Induction of cell migration by matrix metalloproteinase-2 cleavage of laminin-5. Science 1997;11:225-8
- Giannelli G, Antonaci S. Biological and clinical relevance of laminin-5 in cancer. Clin Exp Metast 2001;18:439-443
- Giudice GJ, Emery DJ, Diaz LA. Cloning and primary structural analysis of the bullous pemphigoid autoantigen BP180.J Invest Dermatol 1992; 99: 243-50
- Goldberg GI, Wilhelm SM, Kronberger A, Bauer EA, Grant GA, Eisen AZ. Human fibroblast collagenase. Complete primary structure and homology to an oncogene transformation-induced rat protein. J Biol Chem 1986; 261:6600-5
- Gomez D, Alonso DF, Yoshiji H, Thorgeirsson UP. Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: structure, regulation and biological function. Eur J Cell Biol 1997; 74: 111-122
- Grinnell F, Ho CH, Wysocki A. Degradation of fibronectin and vitronectin in chronic wound fluid: analysis by cell blotting, immunoblotting, and cell adhesion assays. J Invest Dermatol 1992; 98: 410-6
- Gronski TJ Jr, Martin RL, Kobayashi DK, Walsh BC, Holman MC, Huber M, Van Wart HE, Shapiro SD. Hydrolysis of a broad spectrum of extracellular matrix proteins by human macrophage elastase. J Biol Chem 1997; 272: 12189-94
- Gross J, Lapiere CM. Collagenolytic activity in amphibian tissues: a tissue culture assay. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1962 ; 48: 1014-22
- Haapasalmi K, Makela M, Oksala O, Heino J, Yamada KM, Uitto VJ, Larjava H. Expression of epithelial adhesion proteins and integrins in chronic inflammation. Am J Pathol 1995;147:193-206
- Hamidi S, Sato T, Kainulainen T, Epstein J, Lerner K and Larjava H. Expression of v6 integrin in oral leukoplakia. Br J Cancer 2000; 82:1433-1440
- Han YP, Nien YD, Garner WL. Tumor necrosis factor alpha induced proteolytic activation of pro-matrix metalloproteinase -9 by human skin is controlled by down-regulating tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 and mediated by tissue-associates chymotrypsin-like proteinase J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 27319-27
- Hanahan D, Folkman J. Patterns and emerging mechanisms of the angiogenic switch during tumorigenesis. Cell 1996: 86: 353-364.
- Hanemaaijer R, Sorsa T, Konttinen YT, Ding Y, Sutinen M, Visser H, van Hinsbergh VW, Helaakoski T, Kainulainen T, Ronka H, Tschesche H, Salo T. Matrix metalloproteinase-8 is expressed in rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts and endothelial cells. Regulation by tumor necrosis factor-alpha and doxycycline. J Biol Chem 1997; 272: 31504-9
- Hansen LS, Olson JA, Silverman S Jr. Proliferative verrucous leukoplakia. A long-term study of thirty patients. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 1985; 60: 285-98
- Harvima IT, Schehter NM, Harvima RJ, Fräki JE. Human skin tryptase: purification, partial characterization and comparison with human lung tryptase. Biochem Biophys Acta 1988; 957:71-80
- Hasty KA, Hibbs MS, Kang AH, Mainardi CL. Secreted forms of human neutrophil collagenase. J Biol Chem 1986; 261: 5645-50

Hasty KA, Jeffrey JJ, Hibbs MS, Welgus HG. The collagen substrate specificity of human neutrophil collagenase.

- J Biol Chem 1987; 262: 10048-52
- Hasty KA, Pourmotabbed TF, Goldberg GI, Thompson JP, Spinella DG, Stevens RM, Mainardi CL. Human neutrophil collagenase. A distinct gene product with homology to other matrix metalloproteinases. J Biol Chem 1990; 265: 11421-4
- Heino J. Biology of tumor cell invasion: interplay of cell adhesion and matrix degradation. Int J Cancer 1996;65:717-22
- Helliwell TR. Molecular markers of metastasis in squamous carcinomas. J Pathol 2001: 194: 289-293

- Herrick SE, Sloan P, McGurk M, Freak L, McCollum CN, Ferguson MW. Sequential changes in histologic pattern and extracellular matrix deposition during the healing of chronic venous ulcers. Am J Pathol 1992; 141: 1085-95
- Hibbs MS, Hoidal JR, Kang AH. Expression of a metalloproteinase that degrades native type V collagen and denatured collagens by cultured human alveolar macrophages. J Clin Invest 1987; 80: 1644-50
- Hidalgo M, Eckhardt SG. Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors: how can we optimize their development? Ann Oncol 2001: 12: 285-28
- Hidalgo M, Eckhardt SG. Development of matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors in cancer therapy. J Natl Cancer Inst 2001; 93: 178-93. Review
- Hieta N, Impola U, Lopez-Otin C, Saarialho-Kere U, Kahari VMMatrix metalloproteinase-19 expression in dermal wounds and by fibroblasts in culture. J Invest Dermatol 2003; 121: 997-1004
- Higley HR, Ksander GA, Gerhardt CO, Falanga V. Extravasation of macromolecules and possible trapping of transforming growth factor-beta in venous ulceration. Br J Dermatol 1995; 132: 79-85
- Hiller O, Lichte A, Oberpichler A, Kocourek A, Tschesche H. Matrix metalloproteinases collagenase-2, macrophage elastase, collagenase-3, and membrane type 1-matrix metalloproteinase impair clotting by degradation of fibrinogen and factor XII. J Biol Chem 2000; 275: 33008-13
- Hojilla CV, Mohammed FF, Khokha R. Matrix metalloproteinases and their tissue inhibitors direct cell fate during cancer development. Br J Cancer 2003; 89: 1817-21. Review
- Huber O. Structure and function of desmosomal proteins and their role in development and disease. Cell Mol Life Sci 2003 ; 60: 1872-90. Review
- Huttunen M, Aalto ML, Harvima RJ, Horsmanheimo M, Harvima IT. Alterations in mast cells showing tryptase and chymase activity in epithelializating and chronic wounds. Exp Dermatol 2000; 9: 258-65
- Häkkinen L, Uitto VJ, and Larjava H. Cell biology of gingival wound healing. Periodontol 2000; 24:127-152
- Häkkinen L, Koivisto L, Gardner H, Saarialho-Kere U, Carroll JM, Lakso M, Rauvala H, Laato M, Heino J, Larjava H. Increased expression of beta6-integrin in skin leads to spontaneous development of chronic wounds.Am J Pathol. 2004 ; 164: 229-42
- Imai K, Ohta S, Matsumoto T, Fujimoto N, Sato H, Seiki M, Okada Y. Expression of membrane-type 1 matrix metalloproteinase and activation of progelatinase A in human osteoarthritic cartilage. Am J Pathol 1997; 151: 245-56
- Iozzo R. Tumor stroma as a regulator of neoplastic behavior. Agonistic and antagonistic elements embedded in the same connective tissue. Lab Invest 1995: 73: 157-160
- Isaka K, Nishi H, Nakai H, Nakada T, Feng Li Y, Ebihara Y, Takayama M. Matrix metalloproteinase-26 is expressed in human endometrium but not in endometrial carcinoma. Cancer 2003; 97: 79-89
- Ishizuya-Oka A, Li Q, Amano T, Damjanovski S, Ueda S, Shi YB. Requirement for matrix metalloproteinase stromelysin-3 in cell migration and apoptosis during tissue remodeling in Xenopus laevis. J Cell Biol 2000; 150: 1177-88
- Ito A, Mukaiyama A, Itoh Y, et al: Degradation of interleukin 1β by matrix metalloproteinases. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:14657-14660
- Itoh T, Tanioka M, Yoshida H, Yoshioka T, Nishimoto H, Itohara S. Reduced angiogenesis and tumor progression in gelatinase A-deficient mice. Cancer Res 1998: 58: 1048-1051
- Ivaska J, Heino J. Adhesion receptors and cell invasion: mechanisms of integrin-guided degradation of extracellular matrix. Cell Mol Life Sci 2000;57:16-24. Review
- Jacinto A, Martinez-Arias A, Martin P. Mechanisms of epithelial fusion and repair. Nat Cell Biol 2001; 3: E117-23. Review
- Jansson K, Kratz G, Haegerstrand A. Characterization of a new in vitro model for studies of reepithelialization in human partial thickness wounds. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 1996;32:534-40
- Johansson N, Westermarck J, Leppä S, Häkkinen L, Koivisto L, Lopez-Otin C, Peltonen J, Heino J, Kähäri VM. Collagenase-13 (MMP-13) gene expression by HaCat keratinocytes is enhanced by tumor necrosis factorα and transforming growth factor-β. Cell Growth Differ 1997;8:243-250
- Johnson T, Rowe DE, Nelson BR. Squamous cell carcinoma of the skin (excluding lip and oral mucosa). J Am Acad Dermatol 1992: 26: 467-484
- Kainulainen T, Autio-Harmainen H, Oikarinen A, Salo S, Tryggvason K, Salo T. Altered distribution and synthesis of laminin-5 (kalinin) in oral lichen planus, epithelial dysplasias and squamous cell carcinomas. Br J Dermatol 1997;136:331-6
- Kainulainen T, Hakkinen L, Hamidi S, Larjava K, Kallioinen M, Peltonen J, Salo T, Larjava H, Oikarinen A. Laminin-5 expression is independent of the injury and the microenvironment during reepithelialization of wounds. J Histochem Cytochem. 1998; 46: 353-60
- Karelina TV, Goldberg GI, Eisen AZ. Matrilysin (PUMP) correlates with dermal invasion during appendageal development and cutaneous neoplasia. J Invest Dermatol 1994; 103: 482-7
- Karin M, Liu ZG, Zandi E. AP-1 function and regulation. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1997: 9: 240-246

- Kawamata H, Uchida D, Hamano H al. Active-MMP2 in cancer cell nests of oral cancer patients: correlation with lymph node metastasis. Int J Oncol 1998: 13: 699-704
- Kerkelä E, Ala-Aho R, Jeskanen L, Rechardt O, Grenman R, Shapiro SD, Kähäri VM, Saarialho-Kere U. Expression of human macrophage metalloelastase (MMP-12) by tumor cells in skin cancer. J Invest Dermatol 2000;114: 1113-1119
- Kerkelä E, Ala-aho R, Lohi J, Grénman R, Kähäri VM, Saarialho-Kere U. Differential patterns of stromelysin-2 (MMP-10) and MT1-MMP (MMP-14) expression in epithelial skin cancers. Br J Cancer 2001: 84: 659-669
- Kerkela E, Ala-Aho R, Klemi P, Grenman S, Shapiro SD, Kahari VM, Saarialho-Kere U. Metalloelastase (MMP-12) expression by tumour cells in squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva correlates with invasiveness, while that by macrophages predicts better outcome. J Pathol 2002;198: 258-69
- Kerkelä E, Saarialho-Kere U. Matrix metalloproteinases in tumor progression: focus on basal and squamous cell skin cancer. Exp Dermatol 2003;1: 109-25
- Kerr LD, Miller DB, Matrisian LM. TGF-beta 1 inhibition of transin/stromelysin gene expression is mediated through a Fos binding sequence.Cell 1990; 61: 267-78
- Kiistala U. Suction blister device for separation of viable epidermis from dermis.J Invest Dermatol 1968; 50: 129-37
- Kinoshita T, Sato H, Okada A, Ohuchi E, Imai K, Okada Y, Seiki M. TIMP-2 promotes activation of progelatinase A by membrane-type 1 matrix metalloproteinase immobilized on agarose beads. J Biol Chem 1998; 273: 16098 -103
- Kivinen PK, Kaminska R, Nukkarinen A, Harvima RJ, Horsmanheimo M, Harvima IT. Release of soluble tryptase but only minor amounts of chymase activity from cutaneous mast cells. Exp Dermatol 2001; 10: 246-255
- Kivinen PK, Nillson G, Naukkarainen A, Harvima IT, Nilsson G. Mast cell survival and apoptosis in organ cultured human skin. Exp Dermatol 2003; 12:53-60
- Kleiner DE, and Stetler-Stevenson WG Quantitative zymography: detection of picogram quantities of gelatinases. Anal Biochem 1994;218:325-329
- Knäuper V, Lopez-Otin C, Smith B, Knight G, Murphy G. Biochemical characterization of human collagenase-3. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:1544-50
- Knäuper V, Cowell S, Smith B, Lopez-Otin C, O'Shea M, Morris H, Zardi L, Murphy G. The role of the Cterminal domain of human collagenase-3 (MMP-13) in the activation of procollagenase-3, substrate specificity, and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase interaction .J Biol Chem 1997; 272: 7608-16
- Kolb C, Mauch S, Krawinkel U, Sedlacek R. Matrix metalloproteinase-19 in capillary endothelial cells: expression in acutely, but not in chronically, inflamed synovium. Exp Cell Res 1999; 250: 122-30
- Konttinen YT, Ainola M, Valleala H, Ma J, Ida H, Mandelin J, Kinne RW, Santavirta S, Sorsa T, Lopez-Otin C, Takagi M. Analysis of 16 different matrix metalloproteinases (MMP-1 to MMP-20) in the synovial membrane: different profiles in trauma and rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 1999; 58: 691-7
- Koshikawa N, Giannelli G, Cirulli V, Miyazaki K, Quaranta V: Role of cell surface metalloproteinase MT1-MMP in epithelial cell migration over laminin-5. J Cell Biol 2000; 148:615-625
- Kratz G, Lake M, Gidlund M: Insulin like growth factor-1 and -2 and their role in the re-epithelialization of wounds; interactions with insulin like growth factor binding protein type 1. Scand J Plast Reconstr Hand Surg 1994; 28:107-112
- Kricker A, Armstrong BK, English DR. Sun exposure and non-melanocytic skin cancer. Cancer Causes Control 1994: 5: 367-392
- Kupferman ME, Fini ME, Muller WJ, et al. Matrix metalloproteinase 9 promoter activity is induced coincident with invasion during tumor progression. Am J Pathol 2000; 157:1777-83
- Kusukawa J, Sasaguri Y, Morimatsu M, Kameyama T. Expression of matrix metalloproteinase-3 in stage I and II squamous cell carcinoma of the oral cavity. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1995;53:530-4
- Larjava H, Lyons JG, Salo T, Makela M, Koivisto L, Birkedal-Hansen H, Akiyama SK, Yamada KM, Heino J. Anti-integrin antibodies induce type IV collagenase expression in keratinocytes. J Cell Physiol 1993 ;157: 190-200
- LeBoit PE. Can we understand keratoacanthoma? Am J Dermatopathol 2002;24:166-8. Review
- Leco KJ, Khokha R, Pavloff N, Hawkes SP, Edwards DR. Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-3 (TIMP-3) is an extracellular matrix-associated protein with a distinctive pattern of expression in mouse cells and tissues. J Biol Chem 1994 ; 269: 9352-60
- Leeman MF, McKay JA, Murray GI. Matrix metalloproteinase 13 activity is associated with poor prognosis in colorectal cancer. J Clin Pathol 2002; 55: 758-62
- Legrand C, Gilles C, Zahm JM, et al: Airway epithelial cell migration dynamics: MMP-9 role in cell-extracellular matrix remodeling. J Cell Biol 1999; 146:517-529
- Lijnen HR. Plasmin and matrix metalloproteinases in vascular remodeling. Thromb Haemost. 2001; 86: 324-333

- Liotta L, Tryggvason K, Garbisa S, Hart I, Foltz CM, Shafie S. Metastatic potential correlates with enzymatic degradation of basement membrane collagen. Nature 1980: 284: 67-68
- Llano E, Pendas AM, Knäuper V et al. Identification and structural and functional characterization of human enamelysin (MMP-20). Biochemistry 1997: 36: 15101-15108
- Llano E, Pendas AM, Freije JP et al. Identification and characterization of human MT5-MMP, a new membranebound activator of progelatinase a overexpressed in brain tumors. Cancer Res 1999: 59: 2570-2576
- Lohi J, Harvima I, Keski-Oja J. Pericellular substrates of human mast cell tryptase: 72,000 dal gelatinase and fibronectin. J Cell Biochem 1992; 50: 337-349
- Lohi J. Laminin-5 in the progression of carcinomas. Int J Cancer 2001a; 94:763-7 Review
- Lohi J, Wilson CL, Roby JD, Parks WC. Epilysin, a novel human matrix metalloproteinase (MMP-28) expressed in testis and keratinocytes and in response to injury. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:10134-44
- Loots MA, Lamme EN, Zeegelaar J, Mekkes JR, Bos JD, Middelkoop E. Differences in cellular infiltrate and extracellular matrix of chronic diabetic and venous ulcers versus acute wounds. J Invest Dermatol 1998; 111: 850-7
- Lund LR, Rømer J, Bugge TH, et al: Functional overlap between two classes of matrix degrading proteinases in wound healing. EMBO J 1999; 18:4645-4656
- Madlener M, Parks WC, and Werner S. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and their physiological inhibitors (TIMPs) are differentially expressed during excisional skin wound repair. Exp Cell Res 1998; 242:201-210
- Madlener M, Mauch C, Conca W, Brauchle M, Parks WC, Werner S. Regulation of the expression of stromelysin-2 by growth factors in keratinocytes: implications for normal and impaired wound healing. Biochem J 1996; 320: 659 -64
- Malanin G, Asko-Seljavaara S, Jansen C: Säärihaavojen tutkimus- ja hoito-ohjelma. Suom Lääkäril 1990; 7: 633 634
- Marchenko GN, Ratnikov BI, Rozanov DV, Godzik A, Deryugina EI, Strongin AY. Characterization of matrix metalloproteinase-26, a novel metalloproteinase widely expressed in cancer cells of epithelial origin. Biochem J 2001;356:705-18
- Marchenko GN, Strongin AY. MMP-28, a new human matrix metalloproteinase with an unusual cysteine-switch sequence is widely expressed in tumors. Gene 2001;265: 87-93
- Marchenko GN, Marchenko ND, Strongin AY. The structure and regulation of the human and mouse matrix metalloproteinase-21 gene and protein. Biochem J 2003; 372: 503-15
- Martin P. Wound healing--aiming for perfect skin regeneration. Science 1997; 276: 75-81. Review
- Masson R, Lefebvre O, Noel A, Fahime ME, Chenard MP, Wendling C, Kebers F, LeMeur M, Dierich A, Foidart JM, Basset P, Rio MC. In vivo evidence that the stromelysin-3 metalloproteinase contributes in a paracrine manner to epithelial cell malignancy. J Cell Biol 1998; 140: 1535-41
- Matrisian LM, Sledge GW Jr, Mohla S. Extracellular proteolysis and cancer: meeting summary and future directions.Cancer Res 2003;63:6105-9
- Mauch C and Krieg T. Collagens: Their structure and metabolism. In: Lapiére C, Krieg T (Eds.) Connective tissue diseases of the skin. Marcel Decker Inc., New York. 1993, pp. 1-16
- Mauch S, Kolb C, Kolb B, Sadowski T, Sedlacek R. Matrix metalloproteinase-19 is expressed in myeloid cells in an adhesion-dependent manner and associates with the cell surface. J Immunol 2002;168:1244-125
- Mauch C. Matrix metalloproteinase-19: what role does this enzyme play in wound healing? J Invest Dermatol 2003;121
- Mauviel A, Chung KY, Agarwal A, Tamai K, Uitto J. Cell-specific induction of distinct oncogenes of the Jun family is responsible for differential regulation of collagenase gene expression by transforming growth factor-beta in fibroblasts and keratinocytes. J Biol Chem 1996; 271: 10917-23
- McCawley LJ, O'Brien P, Hudson LG. Epidermal growth factor (EGF)- and scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor (SF/HGF)- mediated keratinocyte migration is coincident with induction of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-9.J Cell Physiol 1998;176:255-65
- McCawley L, Matrisian LM. Matrix metalloproteinases: multifunctional contributors to tumor progression. Mol Med Tod 2000: 6:149-156
- McDonnell S, Navre M, Coffey RJ Jr, Matrisian LM. Expression and localization of the matrix metalloproteinase pump-1 (MMP-7) in human gastric and colon carcinomas.
- Mol Carcinog 1991; 4: 527-33
- McGowan KA, Bauer EA, Smith LT. Localization of type I human skin collagenase in developing embryonic and fetal skin. J Invest Dermatol 1994; 102: 951-7
- McLean WH, Pulkkinen L, Smith FJ, Rugg EL, Lane EB, Bullrich F, Burgeson RE, Amano S, Hudson DL, Owaribe K, McGrath JA, McMillan JR, Eady RA, Leigh IM, Christiano AM, Uitto J. Loss of plectin causes epidermolysis bullosa with muscular dystrophy: cDNA cloning and genomic organization. Genes Dev 1996; 10: 1724-35

- Mekkes JR, Loots MA, Van Der Wal AC, Bos JD: Causes, investigation and treatment of leg ulceration. Br J Dermatol 2003; 148:388-401. Review
- Melendez ND, Smoller BR, Morgan M. VCAM (CD-106) and ICAM (CD-54) Adhesion Molecules Distinguish Keratoacanthomas from Cutaneous Squamous Cell Carcinomas. Mod Pathol 2003;16:8-13
- Mitchell PG, Magna HA, Reeves LM, Lopresti-Morrow LL, Yocum SA, Rosner PJ, Geoghegan KF, Hambor JE. Cloning, expression, and type II collagenolytic activity of matrix metalloproteinase-13 from human osteoarthritic cartilage. J Clin Invest 1996; 97: 761-8
- Mohan R, Chintala SK, Jung JC, Villar WV, McCabe F, Russo LA, Lee Y, McCarthy BE, Wollenberg KR, Jester JV, Wang M, Welgus HG, Shipley JM, Senior RM, Fini ME.Matrix metalloproteinase gelatinase B (MMP-9) coordinates and effects epithelial regeneration. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 2065-72
- Moilanen M, Sorsa T, Stenman M, Nyberg P, Lindy O, Vesterinen J, Paju A, Konttinen YT, Stenman UH, Salo T. Tumor-associated trypsinogen-2 (trypsinogen-2) activates procollagenases (MMP-1, -8, -13) and stromelysin-1 (MMP-3) and degrades type I collagen. Biochemistry 2003 ; 42: 5414-20
- Morioka S, Lazarus GS, Baird JL, Jensen PJ. Migrating keratinocytes express urokinase-type plasminogen activator. J Invest Dermatol 1987;88: 418-23
- Morrison CJ, Butler GS, Bigg HF, Roberts CR, Soloway PD, Overall CM. Cellular activation of MMP-2 (gelatinase A) by MT2-MMP occurs via a TIMP-2-independent pathway. J Biol Chem 2001; 276: 47402–47410
- Moss-Salentijn L, Klyvert MH. Epithelially induced denticles in the pulps of recently erupted, noncarious human premolars. J Endod 1983; 9: 554-60
- Mueller MS, Mauch S, Sedlacek R. Structure of the human MMP-19 gene. Gene 2000;252: 27-37
- Mueller MM, Fusenig NE. Tumor-stroma interactions directing phenotype and progression of epithelial skin tumor cells. Differentiation 2002; 70:486-97. Review
- Mukunyadzi P, Sanderson RD, Fan CY, Smoller BR. The level of syndecan-1 expression is a distinguishing feature in behavior between keratoacanthoma and invasive cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma. Mod Pathol 2002;15:45-9
- Muller D, Breathnach R, Engelmann A, Millon R, Bronner G, Flesch H, Dumont P, Eber M, Abecassis J. Expression of collagenase-related metalloproteinase genes in human lung or head and neck tumours. Int J Cancer 1991;48:550-6
- Murphy G, Stanton H, Cowell S, Butler G, Knauper V, Atkinson S, Gavrilovic J. Mechanisms for pro matrix metalloproteinase activation. APMIS 1999; 107:38-44. Review
- Mäkelä M, Salo T, Larjava H: MMP-9 from TNFα-stimulated keratinocytes binds to cell membranes and type I collagen: a cause for extended matrix degradation in inflammation? Biochem Biophys Res Com 1998; 253:325-335
- Mäkelä M, Larjava H, Pirila E, Maisi P, Salo T, Sorsa T, and Uitto VJ. Matrix metalloproteinase 2 (gelatinase A) is related to migration of keratinocytes. Exp Cell Res 1999; 251:67-78
- Nagase H. Activation mechanisms of matrix metalloproteinases. Biol Chem 1997; 378: 151-160
- Nagase H. Stromelysins 1 and 2. In : Parks WC, Mecham RP (eds.) Matrix Metalloproteinases. San Diego: Academic Press, 1998, pp 43-84
- Nagase H, and Woesner JF. Matrix metalloproteinases. J Biol Chem 1999; 274: 21491-21494
- Nakamura H, Fujii Y, Ohuchi E, YamamotoE, Okada Y: Activation of the precursor of human stromelysin 2 and its interaction with other matrix metalloproteinases. Eur J Biochem 1998; 253:67-75
- Natarajan E, Saeb M, Crum CP, et al. Co-expression of p16(INK4A) and laminin 5 gamma2 by microinvasive and superficial squamous cell carcinomas in vivo and by migrating wound and senescent keratinocytes in culture. Am J Pathol 2003; 163:477-491
- Nelson A, Fingleton B, Rothenberg ML, Matrisian LM. Matrix metalloproteinases: biologic activity and clinical implications. J Clin Oncol 2000;18: 1135-1149
- Nelzen O, Bergqvist D, Lindhagen A. The prevalence of chronic lower-limb ulceration has been underestimated: results of a validated population questionnaire. Br J Surg 1996; 83: 255-8
- Neville BW, Day TA. Oral cancer and precancerous lesions. A review. CA Cancer J Clin 2002;52:195-215
- Newby CS, Barr RM, Greaves MW, Mallet AI: Cytokine release and cytotoxicity in human keratinocytes and fibroblasts induced by phenols and sodium dodecyl sulfate. J Invest Dermatol 2000; 115:292-298
- Newell KJ, Witty JP, Rodgers WH, Matrisian LM.Expression and localization of matrix-degrading metalloproteinases during colorectal tumorigenesis. Mol Carcinog 1994; 10: 199-206
- Noda M, Oh J, Takahashi R, Kondo S, Kitayama H, Takahashi C. RECK: a novel suppressor of malignancy linking oncogenic signaling to extracellular matrix remodeling. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2003;22:167-75. Review
- Noë V, Fingleton B, Jacobs K et al. Release of an invasion promoter E-cadherin fragment by matrilysin and stromelysin-1. J Cell Sci 2001; 114: 111-118

- Nordemar S, Kronenwett U, Auer G, Hogmo A, Lindholm J, Edstrom S, Tryggvasson K, Linder S, Munck-Wikland E. Laminin-5 as a predictor of invasiveness in cancer in situ lesions of the larynx. Anticancer Res 2001;21:509-12
- Nwomeh BC, Liang HX, Cohen IK, and Yager DR. MMP-8 is the predominant collagenase in healing wounds and nonhealing ulcers. J Surg Res 1999; 81:189-195
- O-Charoenrat P, Rhys-Evans PH, Eccles SA. Expression of matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors correlates with invasion and metastasis in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2001;127:813-20
- Oikarinen A, Kylmaniemi M, Autio-Harmainen H, Autio P, and Salo T Demonstration of 72-kDa and 92-kDa forms of type IV collagenase in human skin: variable expression in various blistering diseases, induction during re-epithelialization, and decrease by topical glucocorticoids. J Invest Dermatol 1993;101:205-210
- Okada A, Tomasetto C, Lutz Y, Bellocq JP, Rio MC, and Basset P. Expression of matrix metalloproteinases during rat skin wound healing: evidence that membrane type-1 matrix metalloproteinase is a stromal activator of pro-gelatinase A. J Cell Biol 1997; 137:67-77
- d'Ortho MP, Will H, Atkinson S, Butler G, Messent A, Gavrilovic J, Smith B, Timpl R, Zardi L, Murphy G. Membrane-type matrix metalloproteinases 1 and 2 exhibit broad-spectrum proteolytic capacities comparable to many matrix metalloproteinases. Eur J Biochem 1997;250:751-7
- Overall CM, Lopez-Otin C. Strategies for MMP inhibition in cancer: innovations for the post-trial era. Nat Rev Cancer 2002 ; 2: 657-72. Review.
- Papadavid E, Pignatelli M, Zakynthinos S, Krausz T, Chu AC. The potential role of abnormal E-cadherin and alpha-, beta- and gamma-catenin immunoreactivity in the determination of the biological behaviour of keratoacanthoma. Br J Dermatol 2001;145:582-9
- Park HI, Ni J, Gerkema FE, Liu D, Belozerov VE, Sang QX. Identification and characterization of human endometase (Matrix metalloproteinase-26) from endometrial tumor. J Biol Chem 2000;275:20540-4
- Parks WC. Matrix metalloproteinases in repair. Wound Repair Regen 1999;7: 423-32
- Parks WC, Lopez-Boado YS, Wilson CL. Matrilysin in epithelial repair and defense. Chest 2001; 120: 36S-41S
- Parsa R, Yang A, McKeon F, Green H. Association of p63 with proliferative potential in normal and neoplastic human keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 1999;113:1099-105
- Patterson B, Sang QA. Angiostatin-converting enzyme activities of human matrilysin (MMP-7) and gelatinase B/type IV collagenase (MMP-9). J Biol Chem 1997: 272: 28823-28825.
- Pei D, Majmudar G, Weiss SJ. Hydrolytic inactivation of a breast carcinoma cell-derived serpin by human stromelysin-3. J Biol Chem 1994 ; 269: 25849-55
- Pei D, Weiss SJ. Furin-dependent intracellular activation of the human stromelysin-3 zymogen. Nature 1995;375:244-7
- Pei D. Identification and characterization of the fifth membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase MT5-MMP. J Biol Chem 1999: 274: 8925-8932
- Pei D. Leukolysin/MMP25/MT6-MMP: a novel matrix metalloproteinase specifically expressed in the leukocyte lineage. Cell Res 1999: 9: 291-303
- Pei D, Kang T, Qi H. Cysteine array matrix metalloproteinase (CA-MMP)/MMP-23 is a type II transmembrane matrix metalloproteinase regulated by a single cleavage for both secretion and activation. J Biol Chem 2000; 275: 33988-97
- Pendas AM, Knauper V, Puente XS, Llano E, Mattei MG, Apte S, Murphy G, Lopez-Otin C. Identification and characterization of a novel human matrix metalloproteinase with unique structural characteristics, chromosomal location, and tissue distribution. J Biol Chem 1997; 272: 4281-6
- Pendas A, Uria JA, Jimenez MG, Balbin M, Freije JP, Lopez-Otin C. An overview of collagenase-3 expression in malignant tumors and analysis of its potential value as a target in antitumor therapies. Clin Chim Acta 2000: 291: 137-155
- Pender SLF, Salmela MT, Montelone G, Scnapp D, McKenzie C, Spencer J, Fong S, Saarialho-Kere U, and MacDonald T. Ligation of a4b1 integrin on human intestinal mucosal mesenchymal cells selectively upregulates membrane type-1 matrix metalloproteinase and confers a migratory phenotype. Am J Pathol 2000; 157:1955-1962.
- Pihlajaniemi T, Rehn M. Two new collagen subgroups: membrane-associated collagens and types XV and XVII. Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol 1995; 50: 225-62. Review
- Pilcher, BK, Dumin, JA, Sudbeck, BD, Krane, SM, Welgus, HG, & Parks, WC: The activity of collagenase-1 is required for keratinocyte migration on a type I collagen matrix. J Cell Biol 1997, 137:14451457
- Pilcher BK, Wang M, Qin X, Parks WC, Senior RM, Welgus HG: Role of matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibition in cutaneous wound healing and allergic contact hypersensitivity. Ann NY Acad Sci 1999; 878:12-24
- Pillai S, Bikle DD, Eessalu TE, Aggarwal BB, Elias PM. Binding and biological effects of tumor necrosis factor alpha on cultured human neonatal foreskin keratinocytes. J Clin Invest 1989; 83: 816-21

- Pins GD, Collins-Pavao ME, Van De Water L, Yarmush ML, Morgan JR: Plasmin triggers rapid contraction and degradation of fibroblast-populated collagen lattices. J Invest Dermatol 2000; 114:647-653
- Pirila E, Ramamurthy N, Maisi P, McClain S, Kucine A, Wahlgren J, Golub L, Salo T, Sorsa T. Wound healing in ovariectomized rats: effects of chemically modified tetracycline (CMT-8) and estrogen on matrix metalloproteinases -8, -13 and type I collagen expression. Curr Med Chem 2001;8:281-94
- Pozzi A, Moberg PE, Miles LA, Wagner S, Soloway P, Gardner HA. Elevated matrix metalloproteinase and angiostatin levels in integrin alpha 1 knockout mice cause reduced tumor vascularization. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000; 97:2202-7
- Prikk K, Maisi P, Pirila E, Sepper R, Salo T, Wahlgren J, Sorsa T. In vivo collagenase-2 (MMP-8) expression by human bronchial epithelial cells and monocytes/macrophages in bronchiectasis. J Pathol 2001; 194: 232-8
- Prockop DJ, Kivirikko KI. Collagens: molecular biology, diseases, and potentials for therapy. Annu Rev Biochem 1995; 64: 403-34. Review
- Prosser IW, Stenmark KR, Suthar M, Crouch EC, Mecham RP, and Parks WC. Regional heterogeneity of elastin and collagen gene expression in intralobar arteries in response to hypoxic pulmonary hypertension as demonstrated by in situ hybridization. Am J Pathol 1989; 135:1073-1088
- Puente X, Pendas AM, Llano E, Velasco G, Lopez-Otin C. Molecular cloning of a novel membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase from a human breast carcinoma. Cancer Res 1996: 56: 944-949
- Pyke C, Ralfkiaer E, Huhtala P, Hurskainen T, Dano K, Tryggvason K. Localization of messenger RNA for Mr 72,000 and 92,000 type IV collagenases in human skin cancers by in situ hybridization. Cancer Res 1992; 52: 1336-41
- Pyke C, Romer J, Kallunki P, Lund LR, Ralfkiaer E, DanoK, and Tryggvason K. The γ2-chain of kalinin/laminin-5 is preferentially expressed in invading malignant cells in human cancers. Am J Pathol 1994; 145:782-791
- Ramos DM, But M, Regezi J, Schmidt BL, Atakilit A, Dang D, Ellis D, Jordan R, Li X. Expression of integrin beta6 enhances invasive behavior in oral squamous cell carcinoma. Matrix Biol 2002; 21:297-307
- Ramsey M. Basal Cell Carcinoma. In: Taylor R., Wells MJ, Chan EF, Quirk C, Elston DM, Eds. eMedicine Journal, Dermatology, Malignant Neoplasms. © Copyright 2001, eMedicine.com, Inc.
- Rasmussen HS, McCann PP. Matrix metalloproteinase inhibition as a novel anticancer strategy: a review with special focus on batimastat and marimastat. Pharmacol Ther 1997; 75: 69-75. Review
- Ravanti L, Heino J, Lopez-Otin C, Kahari VM. Induction of collagenase-3 (MMP-13) expression in human skin fibroblasts by three-dimensional collagen is mediated by p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase. J Biol Chem 1999; 274: 2446-55
- Ravanti L, Kahari VM. Matrix metalloproteinases in wound repair. Int J Mol Med 2000; 6: 391-407. Review
- Rechardt O, Elomaa O, Vaalamo M, Paakkonen K, Jahkola T, Hook-Nikanne J, Hembry RM, Hakkinen L, Kere J, Saarialho-Kere U. Stromelysin-2 is upregulated during normal wound repair and is induced by cytokines. J Invest Dermatol 2000; 115:778-87
- Rheinwald JG, Hahn WC, Ramsey MR, et al. A two-stage, p16 (INK4A)- and p53-dependent keratinocyte senescence mechanism that limits replicative potential independent of telomere status. Mol Cell Biol 2002; 22:5157-72
- Rodgers WH, Matrisian LM, Giudice LC, Dsupin B, Cannon P, Svitek C, Gorstein F, Osteen KG.
- Patterns of matrix metalloproteinase expression in cycling endometrium imply differential functions and regulation by steroid hormones. J Clin Invest 1994 ; 94: 946-53
- Rømer J, Bugge TH, Pyke C, Lund LR, Flick MJ, Degen JL, Danø K: Impaired wound healing in mice with a disrupted plasminogen gene. Nature Med 1996;2:287-292
- Rousselle P, Lunstrum GP, Keene DR, Burgeson RE. Kalinin: an epithelium-specific basement membrane adhesion molecule that is a component of anchoring filaments. J Cell Biol 1991; 114: 567-76
- Rousselle P, Keene DR, Ruggiero F, Champliaud MF, Rest M, Burgeson RE. Laminin 5 binds the NC-1 domain of type VII collagen. J Cell Biol 1997; 138: 719-28
- Rudolph-Owen L, Chan R, Muller WJ, Matrisian LM. The matrix metalloproteinase matrilysin influences earlystage mammary tumorigenesis. Cancer Res 1998; 58: 5500-5506
- Ruoslahti E. Fibronectin and its integrin receptors in cancer. Adv Cancer Res 1999; 76: 1-20. Review
- Saarialho-Kere UK, Chang ES, Welgus HG, and Parks WC. Distinct localization of collagenase and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases expression in wound healing associated with ulcerative pyogenic granuloma. J Clin Invest 1992; 90:1952-1957
- Saarialho-Kere, UK, Kovacs, SO, Pentland, AP, Olerud, J, Welgus, HG, & Parks, WC: Cell-matrix interactions modulate interstitial collagenase expression by human keratinocytes actively involved in wound healing. J Clin Invest 1993; 92:2858-2866
- Saarialho-Kere U, Crouch EC, Parks WC. Matrix metalloproteinase matrilysin is constitutively expressed in adult human exocrine epithelium. J Invest Dermatol 1995: 105: 190-196

- Saarialho-Kere U, Vaalamo M, Puolakkainen P, Airola K, Parks WC, Karjalainen-Lindsberg, ML. Enhanced expression of matrilysin, collagenase, and stromelysin-1 in gastrointestinal ulcers. Am J Pathol 1996: 148: 519-526
- Saarialho-Kere UK. Patterns of matrix metalloproteinase and TIMP expression in chronic ulcers. Arch Dermatol Res 1998 ; 290: S47-54. Review
- Saarialho-Kere U, Kerkela E, Jahkola T, Suomela S, Keski-Oja J, Lohi J. Epilysin (MMP-28) expression is associated with cell proliferation during epithelial repair. J Invest Dermatol 2002; 119: 14-21
- Sadowski T, Dietrich S, Muller M, Havlickova B, Schunck M, Proksch E, Muller MS, Sedlacek R. Matrix metalloproteinase-19 expression in normal and diseased skin: dysregulation by epidermal proliferation. J Invest Dermatol. 2003a; 121: 989-96
- Sadowski S, Dietrich S, Koschinsky F, and Sedlacek R. Matris metalloproteinase 19 regulates IGF-mesiated proliferation, migration, and adhesion in human keratinocytes through proteolysis of insulin-like growth factor binding protein-3, 2003b;14:4569-80
- Salmela MT, Karjalainen-Lindsberg ML, Puolakkainen P, Saarialho-Kere U. Upregulation and differential expression of matrilysin (MMP-7) and metalloelastase (MMP-12) and their inhibitors TIMP-1 and TIMP-3 in Barrett's oesophageal adenocarcinoma. Br J Cancer 2001: 85: 383-392
- Salo T, Makela M, Kylmaniemi M, Autio-Harmainen H, and Larjava H. Expression of matrix metalloproteinase-2 and -9 during early human wound healing. Lab Invest 1994; 70:176-182.
- Salonurmi T, Parikka M, Kontusaari S, Pirila E, Munaut C, Salo T, Tryggvason K. Overexpression of TIMP-1 under the MMP-9 promoter interferes with wound healing in transgenic mice. Cell Tissue Res 2004; 315: 27-37
- Sato H, Takino T, Okada Y et al. A matrix metalloproteinase expressed on the surface of invasive tumour cells. Nature 1994: 370: 61-65
- Sato C, Tsuboi R, Shi CM, Rubin JS, Ogawa H. Comparative study of hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor and keratinocyte growth factor effects on human keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 1995;104:958-63
- Schwartz RA. Keratoacanthoma. J Am Acad Dermatol 1994; 30:1-19. Review
- Seandel M, Noack-Kunnman K, Zhu D, Aimes RT and Quicgley JP. Growth-factor induced angiogenesis in vivorequires specific cleavage of fibrillar type I collagen. Blood 2001; 97: 2323-2332
- Sedlacek R, Mauch S, Kolb B, Schatzlein C, Eibel H, Peter HH, Schmitt J, Krawinkel U. Matrix metalloproteinase MMP-19 (RASI-1) is expressed on the surface of activated peripheral blood mononuclear cells and is detected as an autoantigen in rheumatoid arthritis. Immunobiology 1998;198: 408-23
- Seiki M. Membrane-type matrix metalloproteinases. APMIS 1999; 107: 137-143
- Servomaa K, Kiuru A, Grénman R, Pekkola-Heino K, Pulkkinen JO, Rytömaa T. p53 mutations associated with increased sensitivity to ionizing radiation in human head and neck cancer cell lines. Cell Prolif 1996; 29: 219-230
- Shapiro S, Kobayashi D, Ley TJ. Cloning and characterization of a unique elastolytic metalloproteinase produced by human alveolar macrophages. J Biol Chem 1993: 268: 23824-23829
- Shapiro, SD: Matrix metalloproteinase degradation of extracellular matrix: biological consequences. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1998, 10:602-608
- Sheppard D, Rozzo C, Starr L, Quaranta V, Erle DJ, Pytela R. Complete amino acid sequence of a novel integrin beta subunit (beta 6) identified in epithelial cells using the polymerase chain reaction. J Biol Chem 1990; 265:11502-7
- Silverman S Jr. Epidemiology In Oral Cancer, (4th ed), B.C. Decker Inc Hamilton, Ontario, Canada 1998; 1-6
- Silverman GA, Bird PI, Carrell RW, Church FC, Coughlin PB, Gettins PG, Irving JA, Lomas DA, Luke CJ, Moyer RW, Pemberton PA, Remold-O'Donnell E, Salvesen GS, Travis J, Whisstock JC. The serpins are an expanding superfamily of structurally similar but functionally diverse proteins. Evolution, mechanism of inhibition, novel functions, and a revised nomenclature. J Biol Chem. 2001; 276:33293-6. Review
- Sonnenberg A, Gehlsen KR, Aumailley M, Timpl R. Isolation of alpha 6 beta 1 integrins from platelets and adherent cells by affinity chromatography on mouse laminin fragment E8 and human laminin pepsin fragment. Exp Cell Res 1991; 197: 234-44
- Stepp MA, Spurr-Michaud S, Tisdale A, Elwell J, Gipson IK. Alpha 6 beta 4 integrin heterodimer is a component of hemidesmosomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1990; 87: 8970-4
- Sternlicht M, Lochter A, Sympson CJ et al. The stromal proteinase MMP3/stromelysin-1 promotes mammary carcinogenesis. Cell 1999: 98: 137-146
- Sternlicht MD, Werb Z. How matrix metalloproteinases regulate cell behavior. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 2001;17: 463–516
- Stetler-Stevenson WG, Aznavoorian S, Liotta LA. Tumor cell interactions with the extracellular matrix during invasion and metastasis. Annu Rev Cell Biol. 1993; 9: 541-73. Review
- Stetler-Stevenson WG. Matrix metalloproteinases in angiogenesis: a moving target for therapeutic intervention. J Clin Invest 1999; 103: 1237-41. Review

- Stetler-Stevenson WG. The role of matrix metallopoteinases in tumor invasion, metastasis, and angiogenesis. Surg Oncol Clin N Am 2001; 10: 383-92. Review
- Stetler-Stevenson W, Yu AE. Proteinases in invasion: matrix metalloproteinases. Semin Cancer Biol 2001: 11: 143-153
- Stracke JO, Fosang AJ, Last K, Mercuri FA, Pendas AM, Llano E, Perris R, Di Cesare PE, Murphy G, Knauper V. Matrix metalloproteinases 19 and 20 cleave aggrecan and cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP). FEBS Lett 2000 a; 478: 52-6
- Stracke JO, Hutton M, Stewart M et al. Biochemical characterization of the catalytic domain of human matrix metalloproteinase 19. Evidence for a role as a potent basement membrane degrading enzyme. J Biol Chem 2000b; 275: 14809-14816
- Stricklin GP, Bauer EA, Jeffrey JJ, Eisen AZ. Human skin collagenase: isolation of precursor and active forms from both fibroblast and organ cultures. Biochemistry 1977;16:1607-15
- Stricklin GP, Li L, Jancic V, Wenczak BA, Nanney LB. Localization of mRNAs representing collagenase and TIMP in sections of healing human burn wounds. Am J Pathol 1993; 143: 1657-66
- Strieth S, Hartschuh W, Pilz L, Fusenig NE. Carcinoma-like vascular density in atypic keratoacanthoma suggests malignant progression. Br J Cancer 2002; 87:1301-7
- Strongin AY, Collier I, Bannikov G, Marmer BL, Grant GA, Goldberg GI. Mechanism of cell surface activation of 72-kDa type IV collagenase: isolation of the activated form of the membrane metalloproteinase. J Biol Chem 1995; 270: 5331–5338
- Stöcker W, Bode W. Structural features of a superfamily of zinc-endopeptidases: the metzincins. Curr Opin Struct Biol 1995; 5: 383-90. Review
- Sutinen M, Kainulainen T, Hurskainen T, Vesterlund E, Alexander JP, Overall CM, Sorsa T, Salo T. Expression of matrix metalloproteinases (MMP-1 and -2) and their inhibitors (TIMP-1, -2 and -3) in oral lichen planus, dysplasia, squamous cell carcinoma and lymph node metastasis. Br J Cancer 1998; 77:2239-45
- Suzuki K, Enghild JJ, Morodomi T, Salvesen G, Nagase H. Mechanisms of activation of tissue procollagenase by matrix metalloproteinase 3 (stromelysin). Biochemistry 1990; 29:10261-70
- Symington FW. Lymphotoxin, tumor necrosis factor, and gamma interferon are cytostatic for normal human keratinocytes J Invest Dermatol 1989: 92: 798-805
- Takino T, Sato H, Shinagawa A, Seiki M. Identification of the second membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase (MT-MMP-2) gene from a human placenta cDNA library. MT-MMPs form a unique membrane-type subclass in the MMP family. J Biol Chem 1995; 270: 23013-20
- Tarlton JF, Vickery CJ, Leaper DJ, and Bailey AJ. Postsurgical wound progression monitored by temporal changes in the expression of matrix metalloproteinase-9. Br J Dermatol 1997;137:506-516
- Thewes M, Worret WI, Engst R, Ring J. Stromelysin-3 (ST-3): immunohistochemical characterization of the matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-11 in benign and malignant skin tumours and other skin disorders. Clin Exp Dermatol 1999 24: 122-6
- Thomas GJ, Speight PM. Cell adhesion molecules and oral cancer. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med 2001a;12:479-98
- Thomas GJ, Lewis MP, Hart IR, Marshall JF, Speight PM. AlphaVbeta6 integrin promotes invasion of squamous carcinoma cells through up-regulation of matrix metalloproteinase-9. Int J Cancer 2001b; 92: 641-50
- Thomas GJ, Hart IR, Speight PM, Marshall JF. Binding of TGF-beta1 latency-associated peptide (LAP) to alpha(v)beta6 integrin modulates behaviour of squamous carcinoma cells. Br J Cancer 2002; 87:859-67
- Timpl R. Macromolecular organization of basement membranes. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1996; 8: 618-24. Review
- Tomic-Canic M, Komine M, Freedberg IM, Blumenberg M. Epidermal signal transduction and transcription factor activation in activated keratinocytes. J Dermatol Sci 1998;17:167-181
- Trengove NJ, Stacey MC, MacAuley S, Bennett N, Gibson J, Burslem F, Murphy G, and Schultz G. Analysis of the acute and chronic wound environments: the role of proteinases and their inhibitors. Wound Repair Regen 1999; 7:442-452
- Trengove NJ, Bielefeldt-Ohmann H, Stacey MC. Mitogenic activity and cytokine levels in non-healing and healing chronic leg ulcers. Wound Repair Regen 2000; 8: 13-25
- Turksen K, Kupper T, Degenstein L, Williams I, Fuchs E. Interleukin 6: Insights to its function in skin by overexpression in transgenic mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1992; 89:5068-5072
- Uchi H, Terao H, Koga T, Furue M. Cytokines and chemokines in the epidermis. J Dermatol Sci 2000; 1:29-38
- Uitto VJ, Airola K, Vaalamo M, Johansson N, Putnins EE, Firth JD, Salonen J, Lopez-Otin C, Saarialho-Kere U, Kahari VM. Collagenase-3 (matrix metalloproteinase-13) expression is induced in oral mucosal epithelium during chronic inflammation. Am J Pathol 1998; 152: 1489-99
- Uria JA, Stahle-Backdahl M, Seiki M, Fueyo A, Lopez-Otin C. Regulation of collagenase-3 expression in human breast carcinomas is mediated by stromal-epithelial cell interactions. Cancer Res 1997; 57: 4882-8
- Uria JA, Werb Z. Matrix metalloproteinases and their expression in mammary gland. Cell Res 1998; 8: 187-94. Review

- Uria JA, Lopez-Otin C. Matrilysin-2, a new matrix metalloproteinase expressed in human tumors and showing the minimal domain organization required for secretion, latency, and activity. Cancer Res 2000;60:4745-4751
- Vaalamo M, Weckroth M, Puolakkainen P, Kere J, Saarinen P, Lauharanta J, Saarialho-Kere UK. Patterns of matrix metalloproteinase and TIMP-1 expression in chronic and normally healing human cutaneous wounds. Br J Dermatol 1996; 135: 52-9
- Vaalamo M, Mattila L, Johansson N, Kariniemi AL, Karjalainen-Lindsberg ML, Kahari VM, Saarialho-Kere U.Distinct populations of stromal cells express collagenase-3 (MMP-13) and collagenase-1 (MMP-1) in chronic ulcers but not in normally healing wounds. J Invest Dermatol 1997; 109:96-101
- Vaalamo M, Karjalainen-Lindsberg ML, Puolakkainen P, Kere J, Saarialho-Kere U. Distinct expression profiles of stromelysin-2 (MMP-10), collagenase-3 (MMP-13), macrophage metalloelastase (MMP-12), and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-3 (TIMP-3) in intestinal ulcerations. Am J Pathol 1998: 152: 1005-1114
- Vaalamo M, Leivo T, Saarialho-Kere U: Differential expression of tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMP-1, -2, -3, and -4) in normal and aberrant wound healing. Hum Pathol 1999; 30:795 -802
- Van Kempen LC, Rhee JS, Dehne K, et al. Epithelial carcinogenesis: dynamic interplay between neoplastic cells and their microenvironment Differentiation 2002; 70:610-23. Review
- Velasco G, Pendas AM, Fueyo A, Knäuper V, Murphy G, Lopez-Otin C. Cloning and characterization of human MMP-23, a new matrix metalloproteinase predominantly expressed in reproductive tissues and lacking conserved domains in other family members. J Biol Chem 1999: 274: 4570-4576
- Viera KB, Goldstein DJ, Villa LL. Tumor necrosis factor alpha interferes with the cell cycle of normal and papillomavirus immortalized human keratinocytes. Cancer Res 1996; 56: 2452-7
- Vihinen P, Kahari VM. Matrix metalloproteinases in cancer: prognostic markers and therapeutic targets. Int J Cancer 2002; 99: 157-66. Review
- Visse R, Nagase H. Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: structure, function, and biochemistry. Circ Res 2003; 92: 827-39. Review
- Vu T, Shipley JM, Bergers G et al. MMP-9/gelatinase B is a key regulator of growth plate angiogenesis and apoptosis of hypertrophic chondrocytes. Cell 1998: 93: 411-422
- Väänänen A, Srinivas R, Parikka M, Palosaari H, Bartlett JD, Iwata K, Grenman R, Stenman UH, Sorsa T, Salo T. Expression and regulation of MMP-20 in human tongue carcinoma cells. J Dent Ress 2001; 80:1884-9
- Wakita H, Furukawa F, Takigawa M: Thrombin and trypsin induce granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor and interleukin-6 gene expression in cultured normal human keratinocytes. Proc Assoc Am Physicians 1997; 109:190-207
- Weaver VM. Membrane-associated MMP regulators: novel cell adhesion tumor suppressor proteins? Dev Cell 2002;2:6-7. Review
- Weidner N. Intratumor microvessel density as a prognostic factor in cancer. Am J Pathol 1995: 147: 9-19
- Weinacker A, Chen A, Agrez M, Cone RI, Nishimura S, Wayner E, Pytela R, Sheppard D. Role of the integrin alpha v beta 6 in cell attachment to fibronectin. Heterologous expression of intact and secreted forms of the receptor. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:6940-8
- Welgus HG, Jeffrey JJ, Eisen AZ. The collagen substrate specificity of human skin fibroblast collagenase.J Biol Chem 1981; 256: 9511-5
- Werner JA, Rathcke IO, Mandic R. The role of matrix metalloproteinases in squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck. Clin Exp Metastasis 2002; 19:275-82. Review
- Werner S, Grose R. Regulation of wound healing by growth factors and cytokines. Physiol Rev 2003; 83: 835-70. Review
- Wernert N. The multiple roles of tumor stroma. Virchows Arch 1997: 430: 433-443
- Whittaker M, Floyd CD, Brown P, Gearing AJ. Design and therapeutic application of matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors. Chem Rev 1999; 99: 2735-76
- Will H, Hinzmann B. cDNA sequence and mRNA tissue distribution of a novel human matrix metalloproteinase with a potential transmembrane segment. Eur J Biochem 1995: 231: 602-608
- Wilson C, Heppner KJ, Labosky PA, Hogan BL, Matrisian LM. Intestinal tumorigenesis is suppressed in mice lacking the metalloproteinase matrilysin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997: 94: 1402-1407
- Wilson C, Matrisian LM. Matrilysin. In: Parks W, Mecham RP (Eds.) Matrix metalloproteinasesAcademic Press, San Diego, USA 1998, pp.149-184.
- Windsor LJ, Grenett H, Birkedal-Hansen B, Bodden MK, Engler JA, Birkedal-Hansen H. Cell type-specific regulation of SL-1 and SL-2 genes. Induction of the SL-2 gene but not the SL-1 gene by human keratinocytes in response to cytokines and phorbolesters. J Biol Chem 1993; 268: 17341-7
- Witte MB, Thornton FJ, Kiyama T, Efron DT, Schulz GS, Moldawer LL, Barbul A.Metalloproteinase inhibitors and wound healing: a novel enhancer of wound strength. Surgery 1998; 124: 464-70
- Woessner, JF, Jr: The matrix metalloproteinase family. In Matrix Metalloproteinases. Edited by Parks WC, Mecham RP. New York: Academic Press, Inc., 1998:114

- Woessner JF Jr. Matrix metalloproteinase inhibition. From the Jurassic to the third millennium. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1999; 878: 388-403. Review
- Woessner JF, Nagase H. Matrix Metalloproteinases and TIMPs. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2000
- Wolf C, Chenard MP, de Grossouvre D, Bellocq JP, Chambon P, Basset P. Breast cancer associated stromelysin-3 gene is expressed in basal cell carcinoma and during cutaneous wound healing. J Invest Dermatol 1992; 99: 870-872
- Wysocki AB, Staiano-Coico L, and Grinell F. Wound fluid from chronic leg ulcers contains elevated levels of metalloproteinases MMP-2 and MMP-9. J Invest Dermatol 1993; 101:64-68
- Zagris N. Extracellular matrix in development of the early embryo. Micron 2001; 32: 427-38. Review
- Zeigler ME, Krause S, Karmiol S, Varani J. Growth factor-induced epidermal invasion of the dermis in human skin organ culture: dermal invasion correlated with epithelial cell motility. Invasion Metastasis 1996;16:3-10.
- Yager DR, Zhang LY, Liang HX, Diegelmann RF, and Cohen IK (1996). Wound fluids from human pressure ulcers contain elevated matrix metalloproteinase levels and activity compared to surgical wound fluids. J Invest Dermatol 107:743-748
- Yamada KM. Fibronectin and other cell interactive glycoproteins. In cell biology of extracellular matrix. Ed. Elisbhet D Hay. Plenum Press, New York 1991, pp. 111-146
- Yamaguchi Y, Yoshikawa K. Cutaneous wound healing: an update. J Dermatol 2001; 28: 521-34. Review
- Yang M, Kurkinen M. Cloning and characterization of a novel matrix metalloproteinase (MMP), CMMP, from chicken embryo fibroblasts: CMMP, Xenopus XMMP, and human MMP19 have a conserved unique cysteine in the catalytic domain. J Biol Chem 1998; 273:13527-13533
- Yi JY, Yoon YH, Park HS, Kim CH, Kim CH, Kang HJ, Lee E, Kim YY, Jin YJ, Kim TH, Son YS. Reconstruction of basement membrane in skin equivalent; role of laminin-1. Arch Dermatol Res 2001; 293: 356-62
- Yu Q, Stamenkovic I. Cell surface-localized matrix metalloproteinase-9 proteolytically activates TGF-beta and promotes tumor invasion and angiogenesis. Genes Dev 2000: 14: 163-176
- Yurchenco PD, Schittny JC. Molecular architecture of basement membranes. FASEB J 1990; 4: 1577-90. Review
- Ågren MS, Jorgensen LN, Andersen M, Viljanto J, Gottrup F. Matrix metalloproteinase 9 level predicts optimal collagen deposition during early wound repair in humans. Br J Surg 1998; 85: 68-71
- Ågren MS. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are required for re-epithelialization of cutaneous wounds. Arch Dermatol Res 1999; 29:583-90
- Ågren MS, Eaglstein WH, Ferguson MWJ, Harding KG, Moore K, Saarialho-Kere U, and Schultz GS. Causes and effects of the chronic inflammation in venous leg ulcers. Acta Derm Venereol (Stockh) Suppl 2000; 210:3-17
- Ågren MS, Mirastschijski U, Karlsmark T, Saarialho-Kere UK. Topical synthetic inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinases delays epidermal regeneration of human wounds. Exp Dermatol. 2001; 10: 337-48

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS